# Identification of novel regulatory mechanisms for Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein CdGAP/ARHGAP31, a protein involved in development and cancer

Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda

Department of Anatomy & Cell Biology McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada

Submitted October, 2016 A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

© Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda, 2016

### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest thanks and appreciation to my supervisor, Dr Nathalie Lamarche-Vane, who has opened the door of her laboratory and gave me the opportunity to pursue an excellent research training. Without her kindness, support, guidance and persistent help this thesis would not have been possible.

I would like to thank my mentor Dr. Carlos Morales, who has supported, encouraged and guided me with valuable advice from the beginning. I would like also to thank my advisory committee members, Dr. Isabelle Rouiller and Dr. Peter Siegel for their encouragement and precious scientific inputs and feedbacks.

I would like to acknowledge the Fonds de Recherche du Québec-Santé (FRSQ) which awarded me a Doctoral Training Scholarship and the McGill Faculty of Medicine/Department of Anatomy & Cell Biology which granted me a Doctoral Internal Scholarship, GREAT Travel and Merit Awards.

In addition, a thank you to my colleagues in the Department of Anatomy & Cell Biology, RI-MUHC, IRCM and IRIC for their help and collaboration, either with reagents or scientific discussion and troubleshooting. Special thanks to Martin, Yi and Vilayphone for their precious help and support during my early days in the lab, and to Philippe, Sadig, Fereshteh, Hidetaka, Tristan, Jonathan and Judith for their help, kindness and availability.

A special word of thanks goes to my mother Kaissa, and siblings Moussa, Djamila, Ouiza, Zohra, Saida, Djilali, Naima, Hassina and Massinissa for their indefectible support and encouragement. Without their love, patience and sacrifice, I could not have completed this work. I would specifically like to thank my late father Tayeb who assisted and encouraged me throughout my life, and I am sorry that he had not lived to see me complete my Ph.D.

Finally, but most importantly, I wish to thank my wife Biba and children Ales and Aya for their love, support, assistance and faith in me.

#### Abstract

The small Rho GTPase proteins act as molecular switches that regulate diverse cellular processes linked mostly to the actin-cytoskeleton remodeling making them essential regulators of cell adhesion, migration and invasion. Dysregulation of their activities can result in different abnormal phenotypes particularly, tumor progression and metastasis. Hence, regulators of Rho GTPases such as Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) and Rho GTPase-activating proteins (RhoGAPs), are critical for normal cellular responses and are targets for subversion during oncogenic transformation.

CdGAP (Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein) is a member of a well-conserved subfamily of RhoGAP proteins and a negative regulator of the small Rho GTPases, Rac1 and Cdc42. Associated with a rare developmental disorder (AOS, Adams-Oliver Syndrome) and required for a normal angiogenesis, CdGAP plays important roles in the regulation of cell migration and proliferation during early development. In addition, recent findings characterize CdGAP as an essential synergistic component between TGF $\beta$  and HER2/Neu/ErbB-2 signaling pathways which play a positive role in cancer, particularly breast cancer. CdGAP is regulated by lipid binding, protein-protein interactions and phosphorylation, still these mechanisms are not well understood. In this work we first investigate the interaction between CdGAP and its negative regulator, the endocytic protein Intersectin. Using an *in vitro* approach, we identify a novel, atypical xKx(K/R) (SKSKK) motif in the basic rich (BR) region of CdGAP that directly interacts with the Intersectin-SH3D domain. Moreover, the well-conserved motif is required for the regulation of CdGAP activity following Intersectin binding. Next, we investigate CdGAP phosphorylation and identify two regulatory phospho-serines in the C-terminal (CT) tail, Ser-1093 and Ser-1163, that are phosphorylated by the AGC-kinase family member, RSK1. Finally, we show that 14-3-3 family members bind and regulate both the cellular localization and activity of CdGAP in a Ser-1093 and Ser-1163 phosphorylation-dependent manner. Overall, this work provides two novel CdGAPregulatory mechanisms that can be applied in therapeutic approaches targeting this RhoGAP, particularly in breast cancers.

#### Résumé

Les petites protéines G de la famille Rho sont des commutateurs moléculaires qui contrôlent divers procédés cellulaires associés notamment, à la régulation du cytosquelette et jouent par conséquent, un rôle clé dans la régulation de la motilité cellulaire. La dérégulation de leur activité peut entrainer des aberrations se manifestant en particulier, par une progression du cancer et des métastases. Ainsi, les protéines régulatrices comme les facteurs d'échange de nucléotide (RhoGEFs) et les protéines activatrices des Rho GTPases (RhoGAPs) sont essentielles pour une signalisation cellulaire normale et sont en général, affectées lors des transformations oncogéniques. CdGAP (Cdc42-GTPase activating protein) est un membre d'une sous-famille de protéines RhoGAPs bien conservée qui régule négativement les Rho GTPases Cdc42 et Rac1. Associé à un trouble du développement rare, le syndrome d'Adams-Oliver ou AOS et nécessaire pour une angiogenèse normale, CdGAP joue un rôle important dans la régulation de la migration et la prolifération cellulaires au cours du développement. Récemment, CdGAP est identifié comme une composante synergique essentielle entre les voies de signalisation de TGF<sup>β</sup> et HER2/Neu/ErbB-2 et qui joue un rôle protooncogénique, en particulier dans le cancer du sein. CdGAP est régulée par des mécanismes incluant les lipides, les interactions protéine-protéine et la phosphorylation, néanmoins, ces mécanismes ne sont pas bien élucidés. Dans cette étude, nous étudions en premier l'interaction entre CdGAP et son régulateur négatif, la protéine endocytique, Intersectin. En utilisant une approche in vitro, nous identifions un nouveau motif atypique, xKx (K/R) (SKSKK) dans la région riche en résidus basiques (BR) de CdGAP interagissant directement avec le domaine SH3D d'Intersectin. Le motif est en outre, bien conservé est requis pour la régulation de l'activité CdGAP par Intersectin. Par la suite, nous identifions deux sites de phosphorylation clés dans la région Cterminale de CdGAP, Ser-1093 et Ser-1163 qui sont phosphorylés par la protéine AGCkinase, RSK1. Nous démontrons finalement, que les protéines adaptatrices 14-3-3 lient et régulent la localisation cellulaire et l'activité de CdGAP d'une manière dépendante de la phosphorylation des résidus, Ser-1093 et Ser-1163. La présente étude identifie deux nouveaux mécanismes de régulation de CdGAP qui peuvent être exploités dans des approches thérapeutiques ciblant cette protéine, notamment dans les cancers du sein.

# **Table of Contents**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
RÉSUMÉ	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
ABBREVIATIONS	х
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS TO MANUSCRIPTS	xvi
ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO KNOWLEDGE	xviii
SUBMITTED MANUSCRIPTS	xix
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.0 General introduction	2
1.1 Overview of the small GTPases	2
1.1.1 Ras GTPase regulation	2
1.1.2 Roles of Ras GTPases	4
1 .2 The Rho GTPase subfamily	7
1.2.1 Rho GTPase regulation	7
1.2.1.1 Rho Guanine nucleotide Exchange Factors (RhoGEFs)	8
1.2.1.2 Rho Guanine nucleotide Dissociation Inhibitors (RhoGDIs)	9
1.2.1.3 Posttranslational regulation	9
1.2.2 Role of Rho GTPases in cancer	9
1.3 Rho GTPase-Activating Proteins (RhoGAPs)	11
1.3.1 RhoGAP regulation by phosphorylation	11
1.3.2 RhoGAP membrane localization	11
1.3.3 RhoGAP role in cancer	12
1.4 RhoGAP protein subfamilies	13
1.4.1 PH-domain containing RhoGAPs	18
1.4.2 BAR/FCH-domain containing RhoGAPs	24
1.4.3 C1-domain containing RhoGAPs	26
1.4.4 SEC14-domain containing RhoGAPs	30

1.4.5 START-domain containing RhoGAPs	31
1.4.6 Multiple LBD-containing RhoGAPs	33
1.4.7 PBR-containing RhoGAPs	36
1.5 CdGAP regulation and function	47
1.5.1 Domain organization	47
1.5.2 CdGAP regulation	48
1.5.2.1 Protein-protein interactions	48
1.5.2.2 Phosphorylation	48
1.5.2.3 Lipid binding	49
1.5.3 Cellular functions of CdGAP	50
1.5.3.1 Regulation of actin-cytoskeleton dynamics and cell motility	50
1.5.3.2 Role in Adams-Oliver Syndrome (AOS)	50
1.5.3.3 Role in angiogenesis	51
1.5.3.4 Role in cancer	51
1.6 14-3-3 adaptor proteins	55
1.6.1 Regulation and substrate binding	55
1.6.2 14-3-3 binding motifs	56
1.6.3 Role in cancer	57
1.7 Rationale and objectives	58
Preface to Chapter 2	59
CHAPTER 2: CDC42 GTPASE-ACTIVATING PROTEIN (CdGAP) INTER	RACTS WITH
THE SH3D DOMAIN OF INTERSECTIN THROUGH A NOVEL	BASIC-RICH
MOTIF	60
Abstract	61
Introduction	62
Materials and Methods	64
Results	66
Discussion	68
Acknowledgments	69
Preface to Chapter 3	80

CHAPTER 3: CdGAP/ARHGAP31 IS REGULATED BY RSK PHC	SPHORYLATION
AND BINDING TO 14-3-3β ADAPTOR PROTEIN	81
Abstract	82
Introduction	83
Results	85
Discussion	91
Experimental procedures	95
Acknowledgments	
CHAPTER 4: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	117
REFERENCES	132

# List of Tables

Table 1.1 – Examples of PBRs involved in membrane localization	5
Table 1.2 – PBRs from lipid binding domain-containing RhoGAPs	19
Table 1.3 – PBRs from RhoGAPs	38
Table 3.1 – Potential RSK phosphorylation sites identified in the CdGAP protein	
sequence	116
-	
Table 4.1 – Predicted CdGAP phosphorylation targets of RSK family members	124
Table 4.1 – Predicted CdGAP phosphorylation targets of RSK family membersTable 4.2 – 14-3-3-predicted binding sites of CdGAP	124 126

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1–Domain organization of RhoGAP proteins	14
Figure 1.2 –Summary of CdGAP functions and cellular partners	53
Figure 2.1 – An intact BR domain of CdGAP is required to bind to	
Intersectin-SH3D	70
Figure 2.2 – Peptide overlay assay with GST-SH3D	72
Figure 2.3 –Intersectin-SH3D interacts with the CdGAP-related protein	
ARHGAP30	74
Figure 2.4 – The basic residues in the first SKSK motif are required for the	
interaction between CdGAP and Intersectin-SH3D	76
Figure 2.5 – The SKSKK motif is critical for the GAP activity of CdGAP in vitro	78
Figure 3.1 – CdGAP is phosphorylated by the AGC family kinases in response to	)
growth factors and mitogens	100
Figure 3.2 – S1093 and S1163 are RSK-dependent phosphorylation sites	102
Figure 3.3 – 14-3-3 adaptor proteins isoforms $\beta$ and $\sigma$ interact with CdGAP	104
Figure 3.4 – The RSK-dependent phosphorylation residues S1093 and S1163	
are required for the interaction between CdGAP and 14-3-3 $\beta$	106
Figure 3.5 – 14-3-3 $\beta$ regulates CdGAP subcellular localization and inhibits	
CdGAP-mediated cell rounding	108
Figure 3.6 – 14-3-3 $\beta$ negatively regulate the GAP activity of CdGAP towards	
Rac1	110
Figure 3.7 – Reduced interaction and modulation of AOS-related CdGAP	
mutant proteins by 14-3-3β	112
Figure 3.8 – Model of CdGAP regulation by 14-3-3 adaptor proteins	114
Figure 4.1 – CdGAP deletion mutant phosphorylation	122

# Abbreviations

3BP-1	SH3-binding protein 1
Abr	Active Bcr-related
AKT	Ak thymoma
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AOS	Adams-Oliver syndrome
AP-2	Adaptor proteins complex 2
ARAP	ArfGAP and RhoGAP with ankyrin repeat and PH domains
ARHGAP	Rho GTPase-activating protein
ARNO	ARF nucleotide-binding site opener
Arp2/3	Actin-related protein 2 and 3 complexes
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B-A	Bcr-Abl oncoprotein oligomerisation domain
BAR	Bin/amphiphysin/Rvs
BCH	BNIP-2 and Cdc42GAP homology
Bcr	Breakpoint cluster region
BPGAP1	BCH-domain-containing, proline-rich and Cdc42 GAP-like protein 1
BR	Basic region
C1	Cysteine-rich phorbol ester binding
C2	Calcium-dependent lipid binding
CC	Coiled-coil
CAMGAP1	CIN85-associated multi-domain-containing Rho1
Cdc42	Cell division cycle 42
CdGAP	Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein
CeGAP	Caenorhabditis elegans GAP
CIN85	Cbl-interacting protein of 85 kDa
CIP4	Cdc42-interacting protein 4
СТ	C-terminus
CLIC	Clathrin-Independent Carrier

cDNA	complementary DNA
CRIB	Cdc42 and Rac1 interactive binding
DAPI	4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DCC	Deleted in colorectal cancer
DH	Dbl homology domain
DLC	Deleted in liver cancer
DHR	Dock homology region
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
Dock	Dedicator of cytokinesis
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E-cadherin	Epithelial cadherin
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
Ect2	Epithelial cell transforming 2
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
F-BAR	FCH/BAR
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FCH	Fes/CIP4 homology
FF	Domain with two conserved phenylalanine residues
FilGAP	Filamin A-associated RhoGAP
Fyn	Fyn proto-oncogene
FYVE	Fab 1, YOTB, Vac 1 and EEA1
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GDI	Guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor
GDP	Guanosine diphosphate
GEF	Guanine nucleotide-exchange factor

GMIP	Gem-interacting protein				
GPCRs	G protein-coupled receptors				
GRAF1	GTPase regulator associated with focal adhesion kinase-1				
Grit	GTPase regulator interacting with TrkA				
GST	Glutathione S-transferase				
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate				
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma				
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid				
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor				
hLgl	H Lethal giant larvae				
HMHA-1	Histocompatibility Minor HA-1				
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase Ig immunoglobulin				
In-SH2-D	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase regulatory subunit p85 inter-SH2 domain				
INPP5B	Inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase B				
IPPc	Inositol polyphosphate phosphatase, catalytic domain homologues				
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside				
IQ	Calmodulin-binding motif				
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase kDa kilodalton				
LTCCs	L-type voltage-gated Ca(2+) channels				
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase				
mDia	mammalian diaphanous formins				
MEKK	MAPK/ERK kinase kinase				
MgcRacGAP	Male germ cell RacGAP				
MLS	Microphthalmia with linear skin defect				
MLC	Myosin light chain				
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid				
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin				
MYSc	Myosin complex, large ATPase				
MyTH4	Myosin tail homology 4				
Nadrin	Neuron-associated developmentally regulated protein				
NGF	Nerve growth factor				

N-WASP	Neural Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein				
Nck	Non-catalytic region of tyrosine kinase adaptor protein				
NF-Kb	Nuclear factor-kappa B				
Nox5	NADPH oxidase 5				
OPHN1	Oligophrenin-1				
OCRL	Oculocerebrorenal syndrome of Lowe				
PAK1	p21 protein (Cdc42/Rac)-activated kinase 1				
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis				
PAR	Partitioning-defective protein				
PARG1	PTPL1-associated RhoGAP1				
PBR	Polybasic region				
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline				
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction				
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor				
PDZ	Post synaptic density protein, Drosophila disc large tumor suppressor and				
	Zonula occludens-1 protein domain				
PEI	Polyethylenimine				
PH	Pleckstrin homology				
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase				
PKA	cAMP-dependent protein kinase A				
PKC	Protein kinase C				
PKG	cGMP-dependent protein kinase G				
PLC	Phospholipase C				
PLD	Phospholipase D				
PRC1	Protein regulating cytokinesis 1				
PRD	Proline-rich domain				
PSGAP	PH- and SH3-domain-containing RhoGAP				
PtdIns3P	Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate				
PtdIns4P	Phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate				
PtdIns5P	Phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate				
PtdIns(4,5)P2	2, Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate				

PtdIns(3,5)P2, Phosphatidylinositol 3,5-bisphosphate					
PtdIns(3,4,5) P3, Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate					
PTEN	EN Phosphatase and tensin homolog				
PTPL1	Protein-tyrosine-phosphatase- like protein-1				
PX	Phox homology				
RA	Ras association				
RA-RhoGAP	Ras-associating-RhoGAP				
Rab	Ras in brain				
Rac	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate				
RalBP1	Ral-binding protein 1				
Ras	Rat sarcoma				
RBD	Ral binding domain				
Rho	Ras homologous				
RhoGAP	GTPase-activating protein				
RICH	RhoGAP interacting with CIP4 homologues				
RICS	RhoGAP involved in catenin—N-cadherin and NMDA receptor signalling				
RIP1	Ral-interacting protein 1				
RLIP76	Ral-interacting protein 76 kDa				
RNAi	RNA interference				
Rnd	Resistance-nodulation-cell division				
RnRacGAP	Rotund RacGAP				
ROCK	Rho-associated kinase				
ROBO	Homolog of drosophila roundabout				
RSK	p90 ribosomal S6 kinase				
SAM	Sterile α-motif				
Sec14	Exocyst complex subunit 14				
SH3BP1	SH3 Domain Binding Protein 1				
SH2	Src homology 2				
SH3	Src homology 3				
siRNA	small interfering RNA				
Smurf	SMAD ubiquitin regulatory factor				

SNARE	SNAP receptor
SNAP	synaptosomal-associated protein
srGAP1	Slit-Robo GTPase-activating protein 1
START	StAR (steroidogenic acute regulatory)-related lipid transfer
SYD-1	Synapse-defective-1
TAGAP	T-Cell Activation RhoGTPase Activating Protein
TCGAP	TC10/Cdc42 GAP
TGN	Trans-Golgi network
tGAP1	testicular GAP1
Tiam1	T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1
Trio	Triple functional domain protein
U2OS	Human osteosarcoma cells
VAMP	Vesicle-associated membrane protein
VASP	Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGF-R2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2
WASP	Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome Protein
WAVE	WASP-family verprolin-homologous proteins
Wrch	Wnt-responsive Cdc42 homolog
WW domain	Domain with two conserved tryptophan residues
XrGAP	Xenopus RhoGAP
ZEB2	Zinc Finger E-Box Binding Homeobox 2

### **Contribution of Authors to Manuscripts**

#### Chapter 2:

My contribution to the manuscript entitled "Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP) interacts with the SH3D domain of Intersectin through a novel basic-rich motif" included the designing and performing all the experiments in Figure 2.5, which is the critical figure of the whole paper since it validates the role of the identified SKSKK motif, and helping with Figure 2.4.

My contribution in Figure 2.5 included:

- Generating the pEGFPC1- CdGAP(1-820)(SaSaa) plasmid containing the mutations;
- Preparing the DNA constructs expressing pRK5-mycCdGAP (1-515), pRK5-mycCdGAP(1-515)(SaSaa), pEGFPC1, pEGFPC1-CdGAP(1-820) and pEGFPC1-CdGAP(1-820)(SaSaa);
- Preparing the GST-SH3D proteins;
- Adapting, setting up and performing the GAP assays for the different conditions;
- Performing the quantitative and statistical analysis.
  My contribution in Figure 2.4, which I performed in collaboration with M.P. included:
- Repeating the experiments in panel B and adding the Ponceau S blots as control;
- Helping with data quantification and analysis presented in panel C.

In addition, I reformatted the whole paper material including the Figures and the text after revision before resubmitting to FEBS Letters.

M.P. performed the remaining manuscript experiments. M.P., N.L.V. and I each wrote and prepared this manuscript.

Overall, my contribution to the work presented in this published article represents 40% of total work.

The manuscript in its final and published form is included only in the present thesis.

#### Chapter 3:

My contribution to the manuscript entitled "CdGAP/ARHGAP31 is regulated by RSK phosphorylation and binding to 14-3-3 $\beta$  adaptor protein" included designing and performing all experiments, except for figure 3.3 which were performed by V.C.. Y.H. helped with figure 3.1 G-J. H.I. helped with figure 3.6. P.P.R., R.C., and J.P.G. assisted with the identification of CdGAP phosphosites indicated in Table 3.1. N.L.V. and I each wrote this manuscript.

### Original contributions to knowledge

The work presented in this thesis contributed to research knowledge by deciphering two novel molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of activity and subcellular localization of CdGAP. Notably, the original contributions consist of:

- Identification of a novel motif, SKSKK in the basic-rich region of CdGAP, and validation of its regulatory role of CdGAP activity;
- Identification and characterization of two regulatory phospho-serines residues in the C-terminal region of CdGAP;
- Identification of a new regulatory mechanism of CdGAP activity and subcellular localization involving phosphorylation and 14-3-3 protein recruitment and binding.

Given the role of CdGAP in development and cancer, the contributions presented here will allow a better understanding of CdGAP role in small GTPase and cell motility regulation. Moreover, the mechanisms identified will impact particularly the drug discovery field by permitting novel therapeutic approaches to inhibit CdGAP in cancer.

### **Submitted Manuscripts**

#### Chapter 3:

CdGAP/ARHGAP31 is regulated by RSK phosphorylation and binding to 14-3-3β adaptor protein (2016). Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda, Viviane Calabrese, Yi He, Hidetaka Ishii, Rony Chidiac, Jean-Philippe Gratton, Philippe P. Roux and Nathalie Lamarche-Vane. Submitted to Molecular Biology of the Cell.

**Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review** 

# **1.0 General introduction**

The emergence of life on earth and the evolvement of complex cellular systems and enzymes allowing the use of ATP to generate energy, permitted cell movement for both prokaryotes and eukaryotes. In multicellular organisms, cell migration is a central and critical process during embryonic development and organogenesis, immune responses and wound healing, which are events required to ensure the development of the organism and to maintain its integrity. Likewise, aberrations affecting cell motility can lead to serious consequences and are at the origin of many pathological conditions such vascular diseases, mental disabilities and tumor progression and metastasis. It is therefore critical to investigate and understand the mechanisms regulating cell motility in the hope of developing better therapeutic strategies for the treatment of specific disorders.

# **1.1 Overview of the small GTPases**

The discovery of the Ras oncogenes more than three decades ago paved the way to the discovery of dozens of similar proteins grouped under the superfamily of Ras G proteins. The Ras superfamily members are monomeric G protein enzymes of about 21kDa, which regulate many cellular processes including, cytoskeleton remodeling, cellular trafficking and cell proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation, migration and adhesion. More than 150 members have been so far characterized and can be divided into five subfamilies: Ras, Rho, Rab, Ran and Arf. They all share the guanosine triphosphate (GTP) ase function, an enzymatic activity consisting of the hydrolysis of  $\gamma$ -phosphate of GTP to generate guanosine diphosphate (GDP) and inorganic phosphate. These small GTPases cycle between an active GTP-bound and inactive GDP-bound forms following conformational changes at their switch 1 and 2 of their GTP-binding regions (1-4).

#### 1.1.1 Ras GTPase regulation

Owing to their involvement in many key cellular events, the function and activity of Ras GTPases are tightly and spatiotemporally controlled by different mechanisms such as protein-protein interactions and posttranslational modifications. The GTPase cycle is regulated by three group of proteins: the guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), which initiate the GDP to GTP exchange; the GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) that enhance the intrinsic GTP-hydrolysis activity of the GTPase; and the guanine dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) which form soluble and stable complexes with the GTPase in the cytoplasm masking its lipid moiety for plasma membrane (PM) localization (5,6).

The subcellular localization is also a contributing factor to the regulation of Ras GTPase activity and many members including Arf, Rab, Ras and Rho, are often found bound to the PM where they recruit their effectors and control thereby, their downstream signaling pathways (7,8). Most of these small GTPases, like the Rho family members, undergo posttranslational-lipid modifications (e.g. geranylgeranylation, palmitoylation and N-myristoylation) allowing the binding to negatively-charged PM phospholipids, where they translocate to carry-out their downstream activational effects (8). Typically, the addition of lipid groups is mediated via covalent bindings to a CAAX box at the C-terminal of the GTPase proteins (8,9).

However, the PM targeting requires often additional polybasic regions (PBRs) on the GTPase to be achieved (10). In fact, a significant study conducted to decipher the motifs and posttranslational modifications involved in targeting small GTPses to the PM, reported that the presence of PBRs is a requirement in 37 out of 48 studied proteins (11). The PBRs bind to specific phospholipids in the inner leaflet of the PM conferring a precise localization site for the GTPase and hence, a site-specific conduction of the GTPase function (9). The PBRs of Ras, Rab, Arf, and Rho GTPases bind either PtdIns(4,5)P (phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate) or PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 (phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate) and the dissociation of the small GTPase from the PM occurs only when both these phospholipids are depleted from the PM simultaneously (11). Moreover, the presence of a PBR increases the specificity and the catalytic activity of prenylation enzymes and thus, enhances the PM localization of the small GTPase (12). The prominent role of PBRs in the PM localization makes them critical regulators of small GTPase activities as the following examples will further illustrate (Table 1.1). For instance, the C-terminal di-arginine motif (Arg-186 and Arg-

187) of Cdc42 is essential for its PM targeting and activity. The PBR binds directly to PtdIns(4,5)P2-containing membranes allowing Cdc42 to initiate oncogenic transformation of fibroblasts, whereas the mutation of this site abolished the GTPase transforming abilities (13). Similarly, the PBRs are essential for the cellular functions of several Ras family members. Indeed, many K-Ras proteins contain hypervariable Cterminal domains intended to provide various and specific PM-localization signals, whilst their PM localization usually requires both a CAAX motif and a palmitoylation site within the hypervariable region. However, in some situations such as in the absence of the CAAX box or lipid modification, the presence of a PBR is imperative for the PM localization and the GTPase activity. The PBR can achieve this role alone or in combination with lipid-modified sites or the CAAX box. As such, myristoylated K-Ras (p21K-ras) proteins require PBRs to be translocated to the PM (14). By contrast, the p21K-RasB isoform which is not palmitoylated, requires a PBR in combination with the CAAX motif for its PM localization (11,15). Interestingly, similar conserved mechanisms are found in yeast wherein PBRs mediate the lipid modification and PM targeting of the small GTPases. Actually, in an experiment looking at the Ras-dependant growth in yeast, it has been shown that the presence of a PBR at the C-terminal region of Ras2 is sufficient to drive normal growth and Ras palmitoylation (i.e., PM localization and function) despite the absence of the CAAX box, necessary for Ras2 prenylation and function (16).

#### 1.1.2 Roles of Ras GTPases

Even though the Ras subfamilies affect many cellular events and their roles sometimes overlap in several signaling pathways, specific functions can be assigned to each subfamily according to the processes they tend to regulate the most. For instance, the Rho subfamily with its prominent members, Rac, Cdc42 and Rho is involved in gene expression regulation, actin cytoskeletal regulation and organization, as well as cell migration, adhesion and invasion (17,18). Ras subfamily proteins including the three main branches, Ras (i.e., isoforms H-Ras, N-Ras and K-Ras), Ral and Rap are central regulators of gene expression, cell survival, growth and proliferation (19-21).

Protein	Entry <sup>a</sup>	Cell function/ pathway	PBR	Role in membrane localization	Ref.
hLgl	Q15334	Cell polarity Tumorigenesis	652- SRVKSLKKSLRQS FRRIRKSRVSSRK R <sup>b</sup>	PBR phosphorylation neutralizes the positive charges and reduces PM localization.	(22)
LLTCCs	Q13936	Muscle contraction, hormone secretion, gene expression, and neuronal excitability	536-RRWNFCRRK	PBR required for PM- phosphoinositide binding and stability.	(23)
Nox5	Q96PH1	ROS production	186- APAP <b>R</b> P <b>R</b> P <b>RR</b> P <b>R</b> QLT	PBR mediates N-ter. binding to PtdIns(4,5)P2 and translocation from internal membranes to PM.	(24)
PTEN	P60484	Tumor suppressor Insulin signaling pathway	4-IIKEIVSRNKRR	PBR is an N-ter. PtdIns(4,5)P2 - binding site responsible of membrane targeting.	(25)
G protein subunit alpha (q)	P29992	GPCRs signaling	19- RRINDEIERQLRR DKRDARR	PBR required for PM localization and protein function.	(26)
G protein subunit alpha (s)	Q5JWF2	GPCRs signaling	19- Rean <b>kk</b> iekqlqk D <b>k</b> qvy <b>r</b> a	PBR required for PM localization and protein function.	(27)
G protein subunit alpha14	O95837	GPCRs signaling	19- Q <b>R</b> ISAEIERQL <b>RR</b> D <b>KK</b> DA <b>RR</b>	PBR required for PM localization and protein function.	(28)
G protein subunit alpha16	P30679	GPCRs signaling	19- A <b>R</b> VDQEIN <b>R</b> ILLEQ <b>KK</b> QD <b>R</b> G	PBR required for PM localization and protein function.	(28)
Ras2	P01120	Ras2 dependant growth	KLIKRK	PBR allows palmitoylation and function of Ras2 in the absence of a CAAX box.	(16)
K-Ras	P01116	Ras GTPase activity	Hypervariable C- ter. region (165-185)- <b>KKKKK</b>	PBR required for PM localization and protein function.	

# Table1.1 – Examples of PBRs involved in membrane localization

K-Ras	P01116	Ras GTPase activity	175- <b>KKKKK</b>	p21-Krasb is not palmitoylated but requires both the CAAX box and the PBR for its function and PM localization.	(15)
DOCK1	Q14185	RacGEF	1610- <b>K</b> QYGV <b>R</b> TMPSGL DD <b>RR</b> GS <b>R</b> P <b>R</b>	PBR required for DOCK1 translocation to the dorsal ruffles through association with phosphatidic acid.	(29)
DOCK2	Q92608	RacGEF Neutrophil chemotaxis	1619- REMPDFEDRRVG RPRSM—1695- RSKKRT	PBR required for DOCK2 translocation to the leading edge via association to phosphatidic acid.	(30)
Ect2	Q9H8V3	RhoGEF Cell division	792- ANTIC <b>K</b> ADAENLIY TADPESFEVNT <b>K</b> D MDSTLS <b>R</b> AS <b>R</b> AI <b>K</b> <b>K</b> T	PBR required for targeting Ect2 to the equatorial membrane during cytokenesis.	
Protein ARNO	Q99418	ArfGEF In vitro system	384- <b>RKKR</b> ISV <b>KKK</b>	PBR and PH domain cooperation for membrane lipid binding	(32)
Cytohesin- 1	Q15438	T cell adhesion ArfGEF	128- <b>RKKK</b> VSST <b>KR</b> H	PBR and PH domain cooperation for PM localization and function of Cytohesin-1.	(33)
Cdc42	P60953	Oncogenic transformation	183- <b>KKSRR</b>	PBR required for Cdc42 binding at enriched-PtdIns(4,5)P2 membranes.	(13)
DLC1	Q96QB1	Tumor suppressor RhoGAP	1051- KHGFSWAVPKFM KRIKVPDYKDR	PBR required for PM recruitment and binding to PtdIns(4,5)P2. Regulation of GAP activity.	(34)
p190 RhoGAP- A	Q9NRY4	RhoGAP	1214- RRRNILRSLRRNT KKPKPKPRPSITK	PBR required for PM recruitment. Regulation of GAP activity.	(35)
CdGAP	Q2M1Z3	RhoGAP	2- KNKGAKQKLKRK	PBR required for PM recruitment and. Regulation of GAP activity.	(36)

<sup>a</sup>NCBI protein entry number. <sup>b</sup>Basic amino acids that make up the PBR motif are bolted.

Ran GTPases are key players in the nucleocytoplasmic protein transport (37), and finally, the Arf and Rab subfamilies are involved in vesicular transport and trafficking pathways (38-40).

Ever since Ras superfamily members are involved in many cellular events, mutations in their genes or expression dysregulation in their proteins often lead to tumor transformation. Indeed, mutations in the Ras genes occur in 30% of human tumors, mostly mutations in K-Ras and N-Ras are found with high frequency in various cancers such as pancreatic and colorectal cancers (41-44). The mutations affect generally the GAP-protein binding sites and thus prevent the GTP-hydrolysis, leading to constitutively activated GTPase and tumorigenesis (45). On the other hand, the Rho GTPase role in cancer is usually associated to expression abnormalities of these proteins or their regulators but also to the mutations in their genes, leading to increased active GTPase and oncogenic transformation (46,47).

#### 1.2 The Rho GTPase subfamily

<u>Ras homologous</u> (Rho) GTPases are highly conserved members of the Ras superfamily of small G proteins. To date, twenty mammalian Rho GTPases have been characterized from which three groups, Rho, Rac and Cdc42, have been extensively studied for their role in actin-cytoskeleton remodeling. Namely, RhoA (isoforms A, B and C) controls the formation of stress fibers (assembly of actin-myosin filaments), Rac (isoforms 1, 2 and 3) and Cdc42 regulate the formation of actin-rich lamellipodia and filopodia protrusion respectively (6,48-51).

#### 1.2.1 Rho GTPase regulation

Similar to other Ras small GTPases, Rho proteins cycle between an active GTPbound and inactive GDP-bound state, a switch monitored by three classes of enzymes: RhoGEFs, RhoGAPs and RhoGDIs. These enzymes ensure a precise spatiotemporal modulation of Rho GTPases in different subcellular localizations and various cellular types and environments. Moreover, many Rho GTPases undergo numerous posttranslational modifications regulating their activity and subcellular localization. Overall, the Rho GTPase activity is tightly modulated and is subjected to a complex regulatory network for an optimal regulation outcome. In the following sections the major factors regulating Rho GTPases will be discussed with an emphasis put on RhoGAP regulation and subcellular localization (to be discussed in sections 1.3 and 1.4).

#### 1.2.1.1 Rho Guanine nucleotide Exchange Factors (RhoGEFs)

RhoGEF proteins are the main activators of Rho GTPases by mediating their GDP to GTP substitution. So far, around 85 RhoGEF members have been identified and can be divided into two major and distinct families: DOCK and DH/PH-containing RhoGEFs (52). DOCK proteins comprise a Dock Homology Region 1 (DHR1) which binds to phospholipids and thus mediates the PM targeting, and a catalytic exchange domain, DHR1 that is in charge of the GDP to GTP exchange. DOCK proteins present a GEF activity restricted only to Cdc42 and Rac GTPases (53,54). The DH/PH-containing RhoGEF family, which is the most represented family of RhoGEFs, contains a Dbl homology (DH) domain next to a pleckstrin-homology (PH) domain (55). The former conducts the GEF activity and the latter helps the PM anchoring of the RhoGEF by interacting with the membrane phospholipids (56).

RhoGEFs, alike other GEF proteins, require generally a PM translocalization in order to conduct the GEF activity towards their Rho GTPase effectors. To do so, many RhoGEFs are endowed with lipid binding domains (LBDs) and structural motifs ensuring their recruitment to the PM. Additionally, as in many GEFs, the presence of PBRs helps the protein targeting and stability at the PM by cooperating with the LBDs. For instance, the RhoGEF Ect2 requires both its PH and PBRs to achieve translocation to the cleavage membrane during cytokinesis (Table 1.1) (31). Likewise, during neutrophil chemotaxis, Rac1 which induces the extension of the membrane protrusions at the leading edge, requires the presence of DOCK2 at the PM for its activation. DOCK2 recruitment and accumulation is achieved by a dual lipid-binding mechanism involving PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 and phosphatidic acid. The binding to phosphatidic acid which is mediated by a C-terminal PBR, stabilizes the DOCK2-PM anchoring and results in Rac1 activation and actin polymerization (Table 1.1) (30).

Because RhoGEFs are the main activators of Rho GTPases, aberrations in their expression or activity result in an unusual high activity of their target GTPases, which is

associated with malignant transformation. Indeed, abnormal overexpression levels of RhoGEFs including Tiam1, Ect2, Vav isoforms 1, 2 and 3, DOCK180 and ELMO have been reported in various cancers in which they act as oncogenes (46,57,58). As an example, the Rac1 GEF Tiam1 is overexpressed in various tumors such as breast, liver, head and neck cancers, and this is associated with a high degree of disease progression, invasion and metastasis, as well as a poor patient prognosis (59-62). Accordingly, therapeutic approaches to antagonize and lower the expression and activity of this RhoGEF are in development for cancer treatment (63).

#### 1.2.1.2 Rho Guanine nucleotide Dissociation Inhibitors (RhoGDIs)

RhoGDI members bind the geranylgeranylated GDP-bound Rho GTPases and sequester them in the cytoplasm to prevent spontaneous activation (64). They also monitor the delivery and extraction of Rho GTPases from and to cellular membranes, where they exert their action, regulating both their cellular trafficking and activity (65,66). It appears therefore, that these proteins are important Rho GTPase regulators and dysregulation of their expression (i.e., overexpression or downregulation) is usually associated to numerous human cancers (67-69).

#### 1.2.1.3 Posttranslational regulation

Posttranslational modifications such as ubiquitination, phosphorylation and a wide range of other modifications have been suggested to regulate many Rho GTPases, although it is unclear whether these modifications are imperative for the GTPase activity (70-74). Still, several examples display the implication of some of these modifications in human cancers. For instance, impaired ubiquitination and degradation of some Rho GTPases result in their accumulation in specific intracellular compartments and increased activity levels, which in turn promote cell migration and invasion (75,76). Likewise, the transforming capacities of Cdc42 are augmented following the phosphorylation of its Tyr-64 residue by Src-tyrosine kinase, which enhances the association with its RhoGDI, a prerequisite for the tumorigenic activity (77).

#### 1.2.2 Role of Rho GTPases in cancer

Rho GTPases hold critical roles in many signaling pathways with prominent functions in cell cycle progression, cell adhesion, migration, survival and proliferation.

Beyond their direct effects on the regulation of cytoskeletal dynamics, Rho GTPases are involved in several essential physiological processes including neurogenesis and early embryogenesis. Their action results mainly from their ability to bind and regulate an extensive range of effectors involved particularly in actin cytoskeleton and gene transcription regulation (6,48,51).

Dysregulations occurring at the level of Rho GTPase-affected pathways are generally associated with oncogenic transformation and several reports increasingly highlight the crucial role of Rho GTPases in cancer onset, progression and metastasis (46,47,78). In contrast to cancers initiated by point mutations in Ras GTPases, the majority of tumors promoted by Rho members seems to be a consequence of altered expression (i.e., overexpression) and increased GTPase activity of these proteins (47,79-81). For instance, high expression levels of Rac1 and Cdc42 are found in several tumors such as breast and testicular cancers (82,83). Also, Rac1 is overexpressed in colon and lung carcinomas, whereas Cdc42 is overexpressed in various other cancers including melanoma and colorectal adenocarcinoma (84,85). RhoA is overexpressed in a wide range of tumors including breast, liver, lung and colon cancers and, in some cases, the expression positively correlated with increased RhoA activity and cancer progression (82,83,86,87). Sustained Rho GTPase activity in cancer is often a consequence of abnormalities in the Rho GTPase regulators with frequently higher RhoGEF and reduced RhoGAP activity and/or expression (47,88). In addition to aberrant expression and GTPase activity misregulation, recent findings reported mutations in Rho GTPases associated to cancer such as the one discovered in Rac1, Rac (Pro29Ser), which is associated with high prevalence in melanomas, making Rac1 the most commonly mutated Rho GTPase (89,90). Conversely, some Rho GTPases can stimulate tumor-suppressing activities as for example in the case of Rac1dependent regulation of apoptosis and the anti-tumorigenic function of RhoB in lung cancer (91,92).

# **1.3 Rho GTPase-Activating Proteins (RhoGAPs)**

Given that the intrinsic GTPase activity of Rho GTPases is very slow and inefficient, the hydrolysis of GTP to GDP is enhanced by the RhoGAP class of enzymes leading to the deactivation of the Rho GTPase (93,94). To date more than 70 genes have been identified to encode a RhoGAP-domain containing protein, and nearly all these proteins share a hallmark GAP domain containing the "arginine finger" motif characterized by a conserved arginine residue, critical for the catalytic activity (95-97). Indeed, the positively charged residue enhances the intrinsic-GTP hydrolysis by neutralizing the negative charges of the  $\gamma$ -phosphate of GTP during the transition state, and by stabilizing and positioning different residues such as the catalytic glutamine residue of the GTPase protein involved in the enzymatic reaction (98,99).

#### 1.3.1 RhoGAP regulation by phosphorylation

RhoGAP proteins are regulated by different mechanisms including proteinprotein and lipid-protein interactions, and posttranslational modifications such as phosphorylation. Indeed, most RhoGAPs are phosphoproteins and the regulation by phosphorylation could either stimulate or inhibit the RhoGAP activity. For example, phosphorylation of FilGAP (filamin A-associated RhoGAP) downstream of Rho/ROCK pathway triggers its PM translocation and increases its activity towards Rac (100,101). Similarly, phosphorylation of ArhGAP22 by Akt/PKB generates 14-3-3 protein-binding sites, and the subsequent recruitment of these proteins stimulates its RhoGAP activity for Rac (102). Equally, a Src kinase-mediated phosphorylation of Nadrin (neuronassociated developmentally regulated protein) stimulates its GAP activity (103-106). Conversely, phosphorylation of ArhGAP33 at Tyr-406 residue by the protein-tyrosine kinase Fyn inhibits its GAP activity (107). Finally, a negative regulation of CdGAP (Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein) activity is noticed following phosphorylation of Thr-776 residue by both Erk1/2 and GSK3 kinases (108,109).

#### 1.3.2 RhoGAP membrane localization

Membrane binding is a common characteristic of many proteins, which exert their function at the level of cellular membranes. The targeting to PM is achieved by different mechanisms including direct binding through LBDs (e.g., PH, C1, C2, BAR, FYVE,

FERM and ENTH) and indirect recruitment through interaction with protein partners. Positively charged PBRs found in many membrane-associated proteins, which are very well conserved throughout evolution, have been documented to directly interact with the negatively charged membrane phospholipids, ensuring therefore the protein targeting to the membrane (110-112).

The primary function of RhoGAPs is the stimulation of the intrinsic GTPase activity of their target Rho GTPases. Since most of these small GTPases in their active, GTP-bound form localize to cellular membranes, the RhoGAPs need to be targeted to the membranes in order to interact with them (113,114). Accordingly, several membrane targeting mechanisms evolved throughout evolution to regulate the subcellular localization of RhoGAPs. Among these mechanisms, some involve targeting through protein-protein interactions, whereas the majority involves protein-lipid regulation. Thus, to permit the interaction with the negatively-charged membrane phospholipids, many RhoGAPs harbor LBDs, such as PH, C1, PX (phox homology) and BAR (Bin-Amphiphysin-Rvs) domains. These domains, which are abundant in various types of proteins, are usually enriched in basic positively-charged amino acids including arginines and lysines (115,116). However, besides few examples in which LBDs target efficiently the protein to the membrane, generally additional mechanisms are required for an efficient, precise and stable RhoGAP recruitment to the membranes. Recently, many studies report membrane-targeting roles, RhoGAP-activity and substratespecificity regulation by PBRs from numerous RhoGAPs including DLC1, CdGAP and p190RhoGAPs (Table 1.1) (34-36,112,117). These PBRs are present in most RhoGAPs, both N-terminal and/or C-terminal to the RhoGAP domain. Moreover, they are well conserved within members of the same RhoGAP subfamily, suggesting conserved regulatory mechanisms (Table 1.2).

#### 1.3.3 RhoGAP role in cancer

In addition to the termination of Rho GTPase signalings, several RhoGAPs are involved in other cellular functions and in a variety of intermolecular interactions leading to the regulation of a wide spectrum of cellular events (95). Accordingly, abnormalities in their activity and/or protein expression lead frequently to dysregulation of Rho GTPase activities and diseases, such as tumorigenesis. For a long time, owing to their negative regulation of Rho GTPases, many RhoGAPs have been classified in the category of tumor suppressors. Notably, DLC (deleted in liver cancer) family members have been well characterized for their tumor-suppressing roles and they are found typically depleted in various cancers (118-120). Also, decreased expression of ArhGAP18 is seen as a hallmark of many human tumors such as breast and lung cancers (44,121,122). On the other hand, recent reports assign to some RhoGAPs protooncogenic roles in various cancers and show that they can promote tumorigenesis. As such, p190RhoGAP-B exerts a pro-tumorigenic role during tumor progression and metastasis in breast cancer (123). Similarly, RacGAP1, which is overexpressed in cancer cell lines, displays a positive role in many cancers like in human hepatocellular carcinoma where it cooperates with the RhoGEF Ect2 to promote tumor growth and metastasis, while its depletion blocks the tumorigenic process (124-126). Furthermore, CdGAP exhibits elevated expression levels in various cancer cell lines and in cancer patients, and this is associated with poor survival prognosis, particularly in breast cancer (127,128). Notably, CdGAP has been shown to mediate the TGBβ-induced tumorigenic effects (i.e., cell migration and invasion) in a mammary breast cancer cell line by transcriptionally repressing the expression of E-cadherin and thereby, triggering epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)(127,128).

# **1.4 RhoGAP protein subfamilies**

In the following sections, recent findings regarding the regulation and the function of individual RhoGAP proteins will be addressed. In addition, the molecular mechanisms directing their membrane recruitment will be discussed with an emphasis placed on the role of LBDs and PBRs. According to their LBD and general domain structure and function, RhoGAPs were classified into seven groups: PH-, BAR/FCH (Bin-Amphiphysin-Rvs/ Fes/CIP4 Homology)-, C1-, SEC14-, START (<u>StArR</u>-related lipid transfer)-domain containing RhoGAPs, multiple LBDs- and PBR (LBD-lacking-RhoGAPs)- containing RhoGAPs (Figure 1.1).

# Α



В



# С



Figure 1.1- Domain organization of RhoGAP proteins. Many RhoGAPs are mutlidomain proteins and are involved through their functional domains in several cellular processes. They exert their role at different subcellular locations notably at the plasma membrane which requires for that a membrane anchoring mechanism. As such, the presence of polybasic regions (PBRs) is thought to contribute to the membrane targeting and hence, to the regulation of RhoGAPs. Amino acid sequences of H.Sapiens (human) RhoGAPs were analyzed for domain prediction using the following online software: SMART (http://smart.embl.de/)(129), Pfam 30.0 (http://pfam.xfam.org/)(130) and InterPro (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/interpro/)(131). In addition, domain annotations were verified according to the literature for each individual RhoGAP protein. (A) PH and FCH/BAR lipid binding domain (LBD)-containing RhoGAPs. (B) Other LBD-containing RhoGAPs. (C) PBR (LBD-lacking-RhoGAPs)containing RhoGAPs. Abbreviations for domains are as follows: B-A, Bcr-Abl oncoprotein oligomerisation domain; BAR, Bin/amphiphysin/Rvs; BR, basic region; C1, cysteine-rich phorbol ester binding; C2, calcium-dependent lipid binding; CC, coiled-coil; F-BAR, FCH/BAR; FF, domain with two conserved phenylalanine residues; FCH, Fes/CIP4 homology; In-SH2-D, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase regulatory subunit p85 inter-SH2 domain; IQ, calmodulin-binding motif; IPPc, Inositol polyphosphate phosphatase, catalytic domain homologues; MYSc, myosin complex, large ATPase; MyTH4, myosin tail homology 4; PDZ, Post synaptic density protein, Drosophila disc large tumor suppressor and Zonula occludens-1 protein domain; PH, pleckstrin homology; PRD, proline-rich domain; PX, Phox homology; RA, Ras association domain; RBD, Ral binding domain; Ras, Small GTPase binding domain; SAM, sterile  $\alpha$ -motif; Sec14, Sec14-like; START, StAR (steroidogenic acute regulatory)-related lipid transfer; WW, domain with two conserved tryptophan residues. Yellow band, PBR; green band, transmembrane motif; beige band, coiled coil (CC) domain.
#### 1.4.1 PH-domain containing RhoGAPs

PH domains are abundant LBDs and important motifs helping to direct their host protein to cellular membranes by binding to the negatively-charged membrane phospholipids. Yet, less than 10% of PH domains display, at the same time, high binding affinity and specificity to membrane-enriched phosphoinositides including PtdIns3P- (phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate), PtdIns5P- (phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate) and PtdIns(3,5)P2-enriched membranes, whereas more than 90% show weak interaction with these phospholipids. As a result, the majority of PH domains are inefficient for a stable targeting of the protein to the cellular membranes and additional LBD motifs, such as PBRs are required for a stable and specific recruitment (132).

### FilGAP (ArhGAP24), ArhGAP22 and ArhGAP25

FilGAP subfamily proteins are important regulators of the actin cytoskeleton and key coordinators of the Rho and Rac GTPase signaling crosstalk (101). They contain in their N-terminus a PH domain next to a central RhoGAP domain, and a coiled coil (CC) domain in the C-terminal region rich in basic residues (Figure 1.1A). All three proteins and their splice variants display a RhoGAP activity towards Rac, which seems to be regulated by their subcellular localization and PM targeting. FilGAP is sequestrated and inactivated in the F-actin rich structures such as focal adhesions, lamellae or membrane ruffles as a result of its binding to filamin A, a cytoskeleton protein through the CC domain. A Rho/ROCK-mediated phosphorylation of FilGAP likely releases it from the filamin A and induces its translocation to the PM, where it suppresses Rac activity (100,101). The PM recruitment is achieved through a synergic cooperation between the FilGAP's PH domain, which binds both PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 and activated Arf6, and the CC domain which harbors a PBR (133).

ArhGAP22, which does not bind to filamin A, localizes to endosomes from where it translocates to membranes ruffles to inhibit Rac activity, lamellipodia formation and cell spreading (134). Its RacGAP activity is promoted by an Akt/PI3K (phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase)-dependent phosphorylation and a subsequent 14-3-3 protein recruitment, in a process requiring the PH domain (102). Moreover, the CC domain seems to regulate the RacGAP activity since its absence

RhoGAP	Target	Organism	PBR at the N-terminus of the GAP domain	Lipid binding domain	Entry <sup>a</sup>
ArhGAP22	Rac (134)	H. sapiens M. musculus	12-A <b>R</b> SKSLVMGEQSRSPGRMPCPHR 17-TRSKSLVMGEQSRSPGRPLVPHK⁵	РН	Q7Z5H3 Q8BL80
ARhGAP25	Rac (135)	H. sapiens M. musculus	4-KLPRNWDFNLKVEAAKIARSR 4-KLPRNWDFNLKAEASKIARSR	РН	P42331 Q8BYW1
ArhGAP09	Rac1 and Cdc42 (136)	H. sapiens M. musculus	497-RRSSIRGPEGTEQNRVRNKLKRLIAKR 394-RRTSSRCAEGTDQKNRVRNKLKRLIAKR	PH	Q9BRR9 Q1HDU4
ArhGAP12	Rac1 (137)	H. sapiens M. musculus	624- <b>KKTKK</b> NLKKFLTRR 616-KKTKKNLKKFLTRR	PH	Q8IWW6 Q8C0D4
ArhGAP15	Rac1 (138)	H. sapiens M. musculus	248-KNRVKSRLKKFITRRPSLKTLQEKGLIK 254-KNRVKSRLKKFISRRPSLKTLQEKGLIK	PH	Q53QZ3 Q811M1
CAMGAP1	Rac1 and Cdc42 (139)	H. sapiens M. musculus	666-KVRHKLRKFLQRR 646-RVRHKLRKFLQRR	РН	Q6ZUM4 A2AB59
RA-RhoGAP	RhoA (140,141)	H. sapiens M. musculus	326- <b>K</b> TF <b>KRRR</b> SIINWAFW <b>R</b> 326- <b>K</b> TF <b>KRRR</b> SIINWAFW <b>R</b>	PH	Q9P2F6 Q6IFT4
srGAP1	Cdc42 and RhoA (142)	H. sapiens M. musculus	211-RRSSVKKIEKMKEKRQAKYSENKLKSIKAR 211-RRSSVKKIEKMKEKRQAKYSENKLKSIKAR	BAR/FCH	Q7Z6B7 Q91Z69
srGAP2	Rac1 (143)	H. sapiens M. musculus	226-KKIEKMKEKRQAKYTENKLKAIKAR 226-KKIEKMKEKRQAKYTENKLKAIKAR	BAR/FCH	O75044 Q91Z67
srGAP3	Rac1 (144)	H. sapiens M. musculus	211-RRSSVKKIEKMKEKRQAKYSENKLKCTKAR 211-RRSSVKKIEKMKEKRQAKYSENKLKCTKAR	BAR/FCH	O43295 Q812A2
α-Chimaerin	Rac1 (145- 147)	H. sapiens M. musculus	182- <b>KR</b> LTSLV <b>RR</b> ATL <b>K</b> ENEQIP <b>K</b> YE <b>K</b> 182-KRLTSLVRRATLKENEQIPKYEK	C1	P15882 Q91V57
β-Chimaerin	Rac1 (145- 147)	H. sapiens M. musculus	163-REKVSRRLSRSKNEPRK -	C1	P52757 -
RacGAP1	Rac1, Cdc42 and RhoA (126,148,149)	H. sapiens M. musculus	173-KTFKLKKREKRRSTSR 174-KNFKMKKREKRRSNSR	C1	Q9H0H5 Q9WVM1
Myosin IXa	RhoA (150)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1819- <b>RK</b> EF <b>K</b> ENKEPSPKAKRKR 1822- <b>RK</b> EFKENKEPSPKAKRKR	C1	B2RTY4 Q8C170
Myosin IXb	RhoA (151)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1480- <b>KGKKNR</b> NV <b>K</b> IG <b>K</b> ITVSE <b>KWR</b> 1438- <b>KGKKNRNRK</b> VGQITVSE <b>KWR</b>	C1	Q13459 Q9QY06
DCL1	RhoA, RhoB and RhoC (117)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1051- <b>K</b> HGFSWAVP <b>K</b> FM <b>KRIK</b> VPDY <b>KDR</b> 615- <b>K</b> HGFSWAVP <b>K</b> FM <b>KRIK</b> VPDY <b>KDR</b>	START	Q96QB1 Q9R0Z9
DLC2	RhoA, RhoB and RhoC (117)	H. sapiens M. musculus	636- <b>K</b> HGWTWSVP <b>K</b> FM <b>KRMK</b> VPDY <b>KDK</b> 636- <b>K</b> HGWTWSVP <b>K</b> FM <b>KRIK</b> APDY <b>RDK</b>	START	Q9Y3M8 Q923Q2
DLC3	RhoA, RhoB and RhoC	H. sapiens M. musculus	545- <b>K</b> QGWVWSMP <b>K</b> FM <b>RRNK</b> TPDY <b>R</b> GQ 541- <b>K</b> QAWVWSMP <b>K</b> FM <b>KRNK</b> TPDY <b>R</b> GH	START	Q92502 Q8K031

# Table1.2 – PBRs from lipid binding domain-containing RhoGAPs

19 | Page

ArhGAP32	Cdc42, Rac1 and RhoA (152,153)	H. sapiens M. musculus	333-KPVSKKHGKLITFLRTFMKSRPTKQKLKQR 333-KPVSKKHGKLITFLRTFMKSRPTKQKLKQR	РХ	A7KAX9 Q811P8
ArhGAP33	TC10 and Cdc42 (154)	H. sapiens M. musculus	280-RPRGKLAGLLRTFMRSRPSRQRLRQR 304-RPRGKLAGLLRTFMRSRPSRQRLRQR	PX	O14559 Q80YF9
GRAF1	Cdc42 and RhoA (155- 158)	H. sapiens M. musculus	251- <b>KK</b> MKENPLEHK 251-KKMKENPLEHK	BAR/PH	Q9UNA1 Q6ZQ82
GRAF2	RhoA and Cdc2 (159)	H. sapiens M. musculus	251- <b>KIR</b> QNP <b>K</b> DH <b>KR</b> 251- <b>KIR</b> QNP <b>K</b> DQ <b>KR</b>	BAR/PH	A1A4S6 Q6Y5D8
OPHN1	Rho (160,161)	H. sapiens M. musculus	250- <b>KKR</b> MKEAPQTC <b>K-</b> 261 250- <b>KKR</b> MKEAPQTC <b>K-</b> 261	BAR/PH	O60890 Q99J31
Abr	Cdc2 and Rac (162,163)	H. sapiens M. musculus	619- <b>K</b> VEFSM <b>K</b> FTS <b>R</b> DMSL <b>KR</b> TPS <b>KK</b> 619- <b>K</b> VEFSM <b>K</b> FTS <b>R</b> DMSL <b>KR</b> TPS <b>KK</b>	C2/PH	Q12979 Q5SSL4
Bcr	Cdc2 and Rac (162,163)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1041- <b>KR</b> MPS <b>RK</b> QTGVFGV <b>K</b> IAVVT <b>KR</b> 1040- <b>KR</b> MPS <b>RK</b> QTGVFGV <b>K</b> IAVVT <b>KR</b>	C2/PH	P11274 Q6PAJ1
ArhGAP21	Cdc42 (164,165)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1105- <b>RK</b> LLS <b>K</b> DDTSPPKDKGTWRKGIPSIMRK 1099-RKLLSKDDTSPPKDKGTWRRGIPSIVRK	PDZ/PH	Q5T5U3 Q6DFV3
ArhGAP23	-	H. sapiens M. musculus	893- <b>KKNKK</b> AAP <b>R</b> AFGV <b>R</b> 889- <b>KKNKK</b> AAP <b>R</b> AFGI <b>R</b>	PDZ/PH	Q9P227 Q69ZH9
SYD-1	-	H. sapiens M. musculus	7-RKTFSRLRGREKLPRKKSDAKER 7-RKTFSRLRGREKLPRKKSEAKDR	PDZ/C2	Q6ZW31 Q9DBZ9

<sup>a</sup>NCBI protein entry number.

<sup>b</sup>Basic amino acids that make up the PBR are bolted.

impairs the PM localization and the ArhGAP22-induced cell spreading suppression in human melanoma A7 cells (134).

ArhGAP25 is a newly discovered RacGAP involved in cell trafficking and a negative regulator of phagocytosis with expression restricted to hematopoietic cells such as leukocytes, where it is found both in the cytosol and the PM (135). The domain structure of this RhoGAP is very similar to that of FilGAP and ArhGAP22, and comprises PBRs in both its N- and C-termini (within the CC domain), suggesting a conserved and shared mechanism within this subfamily governing the PM recruitment and the GAP activity.

# ArhGAP09, ArhGAP12, ArhGAP15 and CAMGAP1 (CIN85-associated multidomain-containing Rho1, ArhGAP27)

Members of this group share a domain structure consisting of a C-terminal RhoGAP, a central PH domain and, except for ArhGAP15, an N-terminal SH3 domain, as well as several repeated tryptophan residue (WW) motifs in the central region (Figure 1.1A).

ArhGAP09 displays a RhoGAP activity towards Cdc42 and Rac1 and to a lesser extent RhoA. It is expressed predominantly in peripheral blood leukocytes, spleen, and thymus and belongs to a family of PH domains characterized by binding to the phosphoinositides in a non-canonical fashion (136). Also, ArhGAP09 mediates the crosstalk between the Rho GTPase and MAP kinase signaling by preventing Erk1/2 and p38 activation through binding to and sequestrating them (166).

ArhGAP12, which is a RhoGAP for Rac1, is ubiquitously expressed with regulatory roles notably in the developing brain wherein it regulates the excitatory synaptic structure and function (167). In NK2R-HEK cells, this RhoGAP suppresses the Rac1 activity at the blebbing membranes where it translocates, though the translocation mechanism is unknown (137). The inhibition of Rac1 activity accounts for the tumor-suppressing activity of ArhGAP12 which is frequently targeted for transcriptional repression downstream of growth factors promoting tumorigenesis such as the hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (168).

ArhGAP15 was first characterized for its specific Rac1 activity *in vitro*, whereas its overexpression induced cell rounding and actin stress fiber formation, and increased cell contraction (138). The events are achieved at the cell periphery and are mediated by a PH domain-dependent translocation of ArhGAP15. As such, partial deletion of the PH domain disturbed the PM localization of ArhGAP15 and abolished its effects (138). Additionally, the PH domain is required for the binding between ArhGAP15 and Rac effectors, Pak1 and 2 kinases, which results in a mutual inhibition of both GAP and kinase activities (169).

Finally, CAMGAP1 is a ubiquitously expressed RhoGAP displaying an *in vitro* GAP activity towards both Rac1 and Cdc42 (139). It binds and regulates the endocytic and adaptor protein CIN85 suggesting its involvement in endocytosis, although the underlying mechanism is unknown (139).

# OCRL (<u>Oc</u>ulocerebro<u>r</u>enal syndrome of <u>L</u>owe) and INPP5B (<u>in</u>ositol <u>polyp</u>hosphate <u>5</u>-phosphatase <u>B</u>)

OCRL (also known as INPP5F, inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase F, and OCRL1) and its homologous INPP5B (OCRL2) are members of the inositol 5-phosphatase family of enzymes characterized by dephosphorylating selectively the PtdIns(4,5)P2 and/or PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 at the position 5 of the inositol ring (170). As distinct members, OCRL and INPP5B contain in addition to the IPPc (Inositol polyphosphate phosphatase catalytic) domain characteristic of the 5-phosphatases, additional N-terminal PH, C-terminal ASH (ASPM–SPD2– Hydin), and RhoGAP domains. Mutations in OCRL are associated with Lowe syndrome (X-linked human disease) and Dent's disease which are developmental disorders affecting eyes, kidney and brain (170). The mutations generally impairs the phosphatase activity leading to the accumulation of PtdIns(4,5)P2 in different cell compartments affecting thereby many cellular processes (171).

OCRL is positioned primarily to the Golgi/TGN, but it is also found in most cellular membranes where it oversees the protein recruitment (172). The membrane localization of OCRL is achieved through the module ASH/RhoGAP domain, as the PH domains of both OCRL and INPP5B lack the basic clusters necessary for

phosphoinositide binding (173). The mechanism involves a formation and a cooperation of two complexes: the first is formed between the ASH domain and the adaptor protein APPL1 and Rab5; the second between the catalytically inactive RhoGAP domain and Rac1 and Cdc42 in a GTP-dependent manner, together the complexes coordinate the PM recruitment of OCRL (174). On the other hand, INPP5B contains in addition to the PM anchoring domains found in OCRL, a C-terminal CAAX motif that may help with its PM recruitment (173).

#### **RA-RhoGAP** (Ras-associating-RhoGAP)

RA-RhoGAP (ArhGAP20) was initially characterized for its role in the Rap1dependent neurite outgrowth and for mediating the Rho and Rap crosstalk. This RhoGAP contains in addition to its N-terminal PH domain, a RhoGAP domain which selectively represses RhoA activity, and an RA domain mediating the binding to Rap1 (140,141). The RhoGAP activity is modulated and enhanced by Rap1 binding which lead as a result, to RhoA inhibition and neurite extension (141). The PM recruitment of RA-RhoGAP is conducted via the PH domain which interacts with phosphatidic acid (PA) for stability. Indeed, an RA-RhoGAP mutant harboring a PH-domain lacking the PA-binding ability is still able to localize to the PM but in a much lower proportion than the wild-type protein, stressing the need for a PH/PA association to ensure a strong and stable PM binding (175).

# ARAP (<u>ArfGAP</u> with <u>RhoGAP</u> domain, <u>Ankyrin</u> repeat and <u>PH</u> domain) 1, ARAP2 and ARAP3

Members of this subfamily regulate both Arf and Rho GTPases through their ArfGAP and RhoGAP domains respectively, making them the convergence point of these small GTPase signaling pathways. Their multidomain structure comprises in addition to five PH domains, a SAM and an RA domain in the N- and C-termini, respectively. Through their complex structure, they are involved in a wide range of cellular functions including the regulation of cell shape and motility, which is carried out mainly through the modulation of Arf6, Rac1, Cdc42 and RhoA GTPase activities (176,177). As well, the presence of several functional domains implies a tight spatiotemporal control of their activities and effector selection, and also involves intramolecular interactions and coordination between their different domains. For instance, ARAP1 targeted to the Golgi, has its Arf- and RhoGAP activities collaborate to induce cell rounding and inhibit cell spreading (177). Also, ARAP1 activated by Rap1 binding to the RA domain, modulates Rac1 and RhoA activities and contributes thereby to the PDGF-induced structure formation at the leading edge of migrating NIH3T3 cells (178). Similarly, ARAP2 participates in cell migration and adhesion by regulating Arf6 activity, integrin  $\beta$ 1 trafficking and focal adhesion formation (179). Likewise, ARAP3 by inhibiting RhoA and mediating the cycling of Arf6, stimulates the growth factor-induced lamellipodia expansion, while ARAP3-deficient cells display round-cell shape, fine stress fibers and reduced lamellipodia (180).

The membrane phospholipid composition and concentration are the critical parameters weighing on ARAPs activity and substrate selection. ARAPs bind preferentially to the PtdIns(3,4,5)P3-enriched cellular membranes principally through their N-terminal PH-domain tandem (Figure 1.1A) (181). However, basic residue clusters from other PH domains and/or regions elsewhere in the protein are necessary for a strong binding and activity stimulation, since deletion of any PH domain (i.e., in ARAP3) prevented the interaction with PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 (181). Still, the recruitment to the PM is not always mediated by the PH domain/PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 binding. Indeed, ARAP1, in mediating EGFR-regulated endocytic trafficking, is recruited to the PM independently of the PH domain/PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 association, suggesting additional/alternative mechanisms to conduct the PM recruitment (182). Yet, the PH domain/PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 binding is still required for a full GAP activity and improved endocytic function (182).

# 1.4.2 BAR/FCH-domain containing RhoGAPs

BAR domains are highly-conserved motifs of amphiphysins which sense and bind to the negatively-charged membranes. They are also able to induce morphological changes such as membrane deformation/curvature and tubulation, making them essential domains for protein-membrane interactions (183,184). FCH/F-BAR domains are a subclass of BAR domains and are also centerpieces of membrane-deforming proteins, mediating the crosstalk between the actin cytoskeleton and the PM in various processes such as lamellipodia and filopodia formation during endocytosis, chemotaxis or polarity (184-186). Furthermore, these domains engage in keys regulatory roles notably for Rho GTPases, by controlling the cellular localization and the GAP activity of many RhoGAPs [reviewed in (187)].

# SH3BP1 (SH3 Domain Binding Protein 1), Nadrin (RhoGAP interacting with CIP4 homologues, RICH1) and RICH2

The three RhoGAPs of this subfamily share a domain structure consisting of an N-terminal BAR domain, a central RhoGAP domain and a C-terminal proline-rich region. SH3BP1 (also known as 3BP1) displays a GAP activity toward Rac1 and Cdc42 and modulates the Rho GTPase/actin cytoskeleton-related functions such as cell migration, epithelial cell-cell adhesion and morphogenesis (188,189).

Nadrin (also called, RICH1 and ArhGAP17) is well characterized for its actin cytoskeleton regulation, specifically in the nervous system, and for its roles in exocytosis, platelet adhesion and aggregation, as well as epithelial-cell polarity. Nadrin and its five isoforms display a RhoGAP activity towards RhoA, Cdc42 and Rac1 in an isoform-specific fashion (103,190). The GAP activity is regulated at least by Src-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation and by BAR domain-mediated subcellular localization (103-106). Indeed, the BAR domain is actively involved in the membrane-curvature sensing /formation and in the recruitment to the PM, guiding and positioning therefore the RhoGAP activity of Nadrin next to its Rho GTPase targets (191,192).

Rich2 (also known as, Nadrin1 and ArhGAP44) regulates Rac1 and Cdc42 GTPase activities and cytoskeletal dynamics mostly in epithelial-cell polarity and in the central nervous system during spine morphogenesis (193-195). For instance, in dendritic spines of cultured hippocampal neurons, Rich2 is involved in synaptic plasticity and in synaptic long-term potentiation (LTP) regulation. The mechanism involves association of the RhoGAP to postsynaptic scaffolding protein, Shank3 and its translocalization to Rab11-positive recycling endosomes wherein it controls the exocytosis and the recycling of the GluA1 AMPA-receptor subunit (193). The events are mediated by the BAR domain, which directs Rich2 to the endosomal recycling compartment and ensures its implication in the AMPA receptor/Rich2-dependent recycling (193).

#### srGAP1 (Slit-Robo GTPase-activating protein 1), srGAP2, srGAP3 and ArhGAP4

The RhoGAPs of this subfamily are key molecular integrators of the externalguidance cues in the Slit-Robo repulsive system of axon guidance and neuronal development (142,196). Disruptions of these well-conserved srGAP-regulated functions are often associated with brain developmental disorders such as mental retardation, learning and memory deficiencies (144,196-198). srGAP and ArhGAP4 consist of an Nterminal FCH/F-BAR domain, a central RhoGAP domain, and a C-terminal SH3 domain mediating the binding to the intracellular domain of the receptor Robo (142,197). While srGAP2 and srGAP3 downregulate preferentially Rac1 activity, srGAP1 in a Slit dosedependent manner, targets both Cdc42 and RhoA, and ArhGAP4 is active towards Cdc42 and Rac1 (142,143,199,200).

The biological functions of srGAP1, 2 and 3 are frequently mediated by their FCH/F-BAR domains (hereby designed as, F-BAR1, F-BAR2 and F-BAR3 respectively), which can interact with each other to form functional heterodimers. The domains display also differential binding affinities to the PM-negatively charged phospholipids, with F-BAR2 showing the highest binding affinity (201). These features allow complementary and/or opposite regulatory effects of these RhoGAPs in given cellular processes such as, cell-morphogenesis which they regulate synergically by their differential modulation of the membrane deformations. For instance, srGAP2 (F-BAR2) and srGAP3 (F-BAR3) stimulate filopodia formation, whereas srGAP1 (F-BAR1) prevents it in both cortical neurons and non-neuronal cells (198,201). The targeting of srGAP2 to the contactprotrusions by its F-BAR2 domain, permits the spatiotemporal inhibition of Rac1 and protrusion extension, leading to contact inhibition of locomotion (CIL) of migrating fibroblasts (143). Finally, the F-BAR3 domain-mediated srGAP3 translocation to the PM at the leading edge leads to the inhibition of lamellipodin, a key protein in actin dynamics and cell protrusion formation, and subsequently to the suppression of the Rac-WAVE signaling and lamellipodia formation (202).

#### 1.4.3 C1-domain containing RhoGAPs

C1 and C2 LBDs have been first characterized as cysteine-rich conserved regions among protein kinase C (PKC) isoforms (203,204). Later, structural studies

provided more information about the lipids they bind and the mechanisms of recognition (204,205). C1 domains are motifs with approximatively 50 amino acids, with a zinc finger cysteine-rich and compact structures well characterized for binding to lipid second messenger n-1,2-diacylglycerol (DAG) and phorbol esters (204,206,207). Yet, not all C1 domains bind DAG and those which do not are classified as atypical C1 domains. The C1-DAG/phorbol ester binding mediates the regulation of subcellular localization of numerous proteins and allows their recruitment to the cellular membranes (206,207)

#### $\alpha$ and $\beta$ -chimaerins

Chimaerin subfamily members better known for their RhoGAP activity towards Rac1, are involved in numerous cellular events, including neuritogenesis and development, and in diseases such as cancer progression and Alzheimer's (145-147,208-211). This subfamily is composed of five proteins namely,  $\alpha$ 1-,  $\alpha$ 2-,  $\beta$ 1-,  $\beta$ 2- and  $\beta$ 3- chimaerins, all originated from alternative splicing of two genes: CHN1 (ARHGAP2, CHN) and CHN2 (ARHGAP3, BCH)(212). They all harbor a C-terminal RhoGAP domain and an N-terminal SH2 domain mediating the binding to receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), as well as a central C1 domain which binds with high affinity to DAG and phorbol esters.

The RhoGAP activity and subcellular localization are regulated basically by phorbol esters and DAG through binding to the C1 domain (212). For instance, activation of growth factor receptors such as EGFR, which induces DAG production by phospholipase C (PLC), stimulates both activity and PM relocalization of chimaerins (212). Interestingly, both  $\alpha$ 2- and  $\beta$ 2-chimaerins present an auto-inhibitory mechanism involving intramolecular contacts, which mask and prevent the C1 and the RhoGAP domains from interacting with membrane lipids and GTP-Rac1 respectively (213). Eventually, the binding of phorbol esters/DAG disturbs the inhibitory contacts and induces conformation changes allowing the exposure of both the C1 and RhoGAP domains leading subsequently, to PM translocation of the chimaerin and stimulation of its GAP activity (214).

Moreover, PM localization implicates other motifs on the RhoGAP which bind various partners in a DAG-dependent fashion. As an example, the PM translocation of

 $\beta$ 2-chimaerin and the inhibition of Rac1 activity induced by PMA (phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate) stimulation requires a simultaneous coordination between the DAG/C1 binding and the association to protein adaptor Nck1, which is achieved through an N-terminal, atypical proline-rich motif within the RhoGAP domain (215). Furthermore, the C1 domain can mediate the subcellular compartmentalization of chimaerins through protein-protein interactions. As such, the perinuclear translocation of  $\beta$ 2- chimaerin is mediated by an interaction with an endoplasmic reticulum/Golgi protein, p23/Tmp21 which serves as a C1-docking site (216).

#### RacGAP1

RacGAP1 [also referred to as <u>Male germ cell Rac GAP (MgcRacGAP)/CYK-4)</u>] consists of a C-terminal RhoGAP domain flanked N-terminally by a C1 domain, and a long N-terminal region with a PBR. It is active towards Rac1, Cdc42 and RhoA and is an important regulator of cell cycle and mitosis, although whether the GAP activity is relevant to this regulation is still unclear (126,148,149). During mitosis, RacGAP1 localizes to the mitotic spindle where it forms complexes with key cytokinesis regulators, such as the kinesin-like protein, ZEN-4/CeMKLP1, Ect2, MKLP1, Aurora B and PRC1 (148,217). The protein complexes are crucial for a precise spatiotemporal localization of the different binding partners, emphasizing the significance of the RacGAP1 role for a normal completion of the cytokinetic process (125,149,217).

In addition to its physiological function in modulating cytokinesis, dysregulation of RacGAP1 has been associated to tumorigenesis in many cancers. For instance, it has been shown to collaborate with Ect2 to promote tumor recurrence, growth and metastasis in human hepatocellular carcinoma through regulation of the Rho/ERK signaling axis (124,125). Similarly, a tumor promoting role of this protein has been documented in breast cancer (126). Indeed, high RacGAP1 expression levels have been detected in many breast-cancer cell lines, whereas its depletion resulted in increased RhoA activity and cell spreading, and induced cell proliferation defects coupled to cell growth inhibition as a result of cytokinesis failure (126).

#### GMIP(GEM Interacting Protein) and ArhGAP29

GMIP and ArhGAP29 are ubiquitously expressed and share a central C1 domain and a RhoGAP domain, that directs a GAP activity towards RhoA (218,219). ArhGAP29 [also referred to as <u>PTPL1-Associated RhoGAP 1 (PARG1)</u>] has been characterized first as a RhoGAP interacting with the phosphatase PTPL1 by binding to its PDZ domain, and the complex was proposed to collaborate to inhibit RhoA activity (219). Although ArhGAP 29 contains a C1 domain, the translocation to the PM seems to be mediated by an unconventional C-terminal motif (PQFS) that binds to PDZ domains as the following example will illustrate (219,220).

Indeed, it has been shown recently that ArhGAP29 binds to the PDZ domain of Radil [ras-association (RA) and dilute domain-containing protein], an effector of the small GTPase Rap1, and to form a complex with target proteins at the PM to regulate junctional tightening and endothelial barrier functions. Upon its activation, Rap1 translocates to the PM Radil and its close relative, adaptor protein Rasip1 (ras-interacting protein 1) by binding their RA domains, while ArhGAP29 is translocated to the PM through binding to Radil. At the PM, the three proteins Radil, Rasip1 and ArhGAP29 form a regulatory-trimeric complex which cooperates to inhibit RhoA activity and stress fiber formation, leading to increased junctional tightening and improved endothelial barrier function (220,221).

GMIP has been identified in a yeast two-hybrid screen using Gem, a Ras-related protein (218). GMIP, which has been associated to major depressive disorder (MDD), is imperative in neurite growth, axonal guidance and neuronal migration, a function that it exerts by antagonizing the RhoA signaling pathway (222,223). GMIP is enriched at the PM where it inhibits RhoA activity but the mechanism of the translocation is unclear and may involve a recruitment via active Gem (218,224).

#### Myosin IXa and b

The single-headed actin motors proteins, Myosin IXa (Myr7) and Myosin IXb (Myr5) are a class out of twenty-four classes forming the superfamily of myosins, a diverse group of molecular motors implicated in cellular transport of different biological molecules such as vesicles and organelles (225). The multidomain proteins, which are

the largest characterized RhoGAPs, share a domain structure including an N-terminal RA domain next to a large motor domain (MYSc, the head), several calmodulin-binding motifs (IQ, the neck), an atypical C1 domain and a C-terminal RhoGAP domain (the tail) that displays a specific activity toward RhoA (151,225,226).

The subcellular localization of these RhoGAPs is determinant for their RhoGAP function. They are frequently localized to regions with active F-actin polymerization, wherein they can modulate RhoA activity and the RhoA-related actin-cytoskeletal remodeling (226,227). Likewise, Myosin IXb is targeted to extending ruffles, filopodia and lamellipodia, and its recruitment is achieved by the Myosin IXb-motor activity, through a conserved polylysine cluster (KKKK) within the ATPase domain (227). Finally, Myosin IXa has been shown to play key roles in the complex process of collective-cell migration by regulating Rho activity in cell-cell contacts at the PM (226).

#### 1.4.4 SEC14-domain containing RhoGAPs

The phosphatidylinositol-transfer protein (Sec14) from yeast, which mediates the exchange of phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylcholine at the cellular membranes, is an LBD involved in many cellular processes such as, cellular trafficking and vesicle budding from the Golgi complex (228). A Sec14-homology domain is found several mammal proteins including RhoGEF and RhoGAPs, and is involved in many signaling events by mediating interactions with the negatively-charged membrane phospholipids (229,230).

# p50RhoGAP and BPGAP1 [ (<u>B</u>NIP-2 and Cdc42GAP homology)-domaincontaining, <u>proline-rich and Cdc42 GAP-like protein 1</u>]

p50RhoGAP (also known as, ArhGAP1, Cdc42GAP and RhoGAP1), which is among the first RhoGAPs to be characterized, shares 54% sequence identity with its homologous BPGAP1 and are both ubiquitously expressed (147,230). They share a domain structure consisting of an N-terminal SEC14/BCH (BNIP-2 and Cdc42GAP homology) and a C-terminal RhoGAP domains. Through their functional GAP domain and GAP activity, they regulate a wide range of signaling pathways including the actincytoskeleton remodelling and cell motility (231-233). The RhoGAP activity of p50RhoGAP is directed toward RhoA, Cdc42 and Rac1. BPGAP1, on the other hand, although it interacts with all three Rho GTPases, its GAP activity is directed preferentially towards RhoA. Of note, many factors may affect their GAP activity including for instance, the prenylation of the small GTPase effector and the translocation to the PM (234,235). The SEC14/BCH domain of both RhoGAPs mediates significant regulatory functions such as, conduction of intra and intermolecular protein-protein interactions, interaction with the membrane phospholipids and regulation of the GAP activity (232,236-238).

Notably, the p50RohGAP activity towards non-prenylated Rac is auto-inhibited by intramolecular interactions between residues in the C-terminal GAP domain and amino acids (1-48 and 169-197) from the SEC14/BCH domain. However, this effect is prevented and the GAP activity towards Rac restored following expression of prenylated-Rac or p50RohGAP-deletion mutants lacking the indicated N-terminal residues (236).

Remarkably, recent findings unveiled an exclusive and interesting regulation mechanism of RhoA by p50RhoGAP involving the SEC14/BCH domain. Indeed, this domain has been shown to bind and sequester RhoA both in its GTP- or GDP-bound states, preventing thus its inactivation by the adjacent RhoGAP domain (232). Additionally, the SEC14/BCH domain is involved in targeting p50RhoGAP to the endosomal membrane, wherein it colocalizes with the small GTPases, Rab11 and Rab5, and where it might be involved in the endocytic process by mediating the crosstalk between Rap and Rho GTPases (237). Finally, BPGAP1 through a versatile SEC14/BCH domain, has been shown to mediate the crosstalk between Ras and Rho signaling in cell differentiation and morphogenesis (239).

#### 1.4.5 START-domain containing RhoGAPs

The START domain is an LBD found in several signaling proteins such as StAR and HD-ZIP and engages in a variety of protein/lipid interactions notably with membrane phospholipids (240). It is found also in large-multidomain proteins where it contributes often to the regulation of the adjacent domains on the same protein such as the RhoGAP domain and the homeodomain (240,241).

# DLC (Deleted in liver cancer) RhoGAPs

The RhoGAP subfamily of DLC proteins comprises three members: DLC1, DLC2 and DLC3, and several alternative splicing isoforms. They are ubiquitously expressed and composed of a C-terminal START domain, a RhoGAP domain, a functional PBR and finally, except for DLC3, a sterile alpha motif (SAM) domain. They all display a RhoGAP activity towards RhoA and by extent, RhoB and C (117,119,120). The DLC proteins are well characterized both in vitro and in vivo for their tumor-suppressing activity and as such, they are involved in the inhibition of cell growth, proliferation, migration and invasion, as well as tumor progression and metastasis (118-120). Many of the above functions are carried out through the control of the actin cytoskeleton by spatiotemporal inhibition of Rho signaling at the membranes. DLC1, a potent tumorsuppressor which is deleted in various cancers and the most studied member of this family, has been shown to be recruited to different cellular compartments, notably to focal adhesions and to the leading edge of migrating cells wherein it suppresses the PBR Rho (118, 119).Interestingly, novel signaling а (KHGFSWAVPKFMKRIKVPDYKDR) (Tables 1.1 and 1.2), adjacent to the RhoGAP domain has been reported to modulate DLC1 activity in vitro and in vivo, and to regulate its effects on Rho signaling in vivo (34). Moreover, the PBR is sufficient to carry out the DLC1 recruitment and binding to PtdIns(4,5)P2-enriched membranes in vitro (34). However, DLC1 recruitment to the membranes in vivo seems to require the cooperation of the PBR with other LBD domains such as, the SAM and START domains, and/or other DLC1 motifs mediating interactions with proteins at the translocation site similar to tensin in focal adhesions (34,242-244). This is likely due to the low binding affinity of PBRs for phospholipids making them inadequate to ensure alone the PM recruitment in *vivo* (7,8,11).

#### 1.4.6 Multiple LBD-containing RhoGAPs

# GRAF1 (<u>G</u>TPase <u>regulator</u> <u>a</u>ssociated with <u>f</u>ocal adhesion kinase-1), GRAF2, GRAF3 and OPHN1 (Oligophrenin-1)

The RhoGAPs of this group present a domain organization consisting of two LBDs, an N-terminal BAR and a central PH domains, a central RhoGAP domain, and except for OPHN1, a C-terminal-SH3 domain.

GRAF1, the founding member of this subfamily is found as a dimer with a RhoGAP activity for Cdc42 and RhoA. In addition, it is a key regulator of actin dynamics and is involved in a variety of cellular signalings such as endocytosis, cell migration and adhesion, and membrane fusion (155-158). Most of this functions are dependent of the GRAF1 binding to and induction of membrane curvatures mediated by the PH and BAR domains (245). To illustrate, the GRAP1 role in the small GTPase-controlled endocytic pathway, the clathrin-independent carrier (CLIC), is mediated by the PH and BAR domains which target the RhoGAP to these tubular, PtdIns(4,5)P2-enriched membrane carriers (158). Consequently, GRAF1 localization to and coating of the CLICs permits the endocytic-membrane turnover at the leading edge and at the cell/matrix contact sites. In addition, the RhoGAP activity towards Cdc42 at the leading edge of the migrating cells facilitates the control of cell migration, adhesion and spreading (155,157). Besides, GRAF1 is a key element in muscle differentiation, fusion and repair after injury, which are driven in a BAR domain-dependent manner. As such, it has been shown that during myogenesis GRAF1, which is transiently upregulated in myoblasts, is recruited to the PM via the BAR domain wherein it downregulates the RhoA activity and induces muscle differentiation (246). Similarly, GRAF1 and GRAF2 are required for myotube formation and myoblast fusion, which they regulate by promoting the translocation to PM of the fusogenic ferlin proteins, in a BAR domain-mediated manner (247). Furthermore, GRAF1 contributes to the fusion/repair of damaged muscle PM by targeting to the injury site, dysferlin, a protein involved in rapid membrane repair (248). GRAF2 inhibits both the RhoA and Cdc2 GTPase activities and is ubiquitously expressed with high expression levels detected in the skeletal muscle (159). GRAF3, a newly characterized RhoGAP with expression restrained to smooth muscle cells

(SMCs), downregulates both the RhoA activity and signaling in SMCs to ensure a normal blood pressure homeostasis (156). OPHN1 is expressed abundantly in the brain and is one of the proteins associated to XLID (X-linked intellectual disability) syndrome (249). OPHN1 regulates the clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) and localizes to endocytic sites where its RhoGAP activity suppresses the Rho signaling pathway and thereby, inhibits endocytosis (160,161). The BAR domain plays a major role in the OPHN1 regulation, likely by directing its localization to the cellular membranes. For instance, genetic aberrations such as deletions or insertions affecting this domain have been documented in patients suffering from OPHN1-related mental retardation or XLID syndrome (249,250).

# Bcr (Breakpoint cluster region) and Abr (Active Bcr-related)

BCR was first characterized as a part of the fused BCR-ABL gene which resulted from a translocation between the chromosome 9 and 22. The fusion product, the Bcr-Abl protein, is a functional oncogene that causes chronic myelogenous leukemia (251). The native Bcr and its homologous Abr are multidomain-protein RhoGAP regulators harboring a RhoGEF and a RhoGAP domains flanking a central PH and C2 LBDs, and only in Bcr, an extended N-terminal region with an RA domain. The RhoGAP domain of both proteins is active towards Cdc2 and Rac, whereas the RhoGEF domain stimulates the GTPase activity of Cdc42, RhoA and Rac (162,163,251). The presence of the RhoGEF RhoGAP and domains suggests simultaneous and/or а sequential/spatiotemporal regulation of several Rho GTPase activities, to ensure high precision in specific subcellular-exclusive GTPase activity zones, during processes such as cytokinesis and wound healing (252). Although, due to their domain structure similarity, Abr and Bcr may present similar regulatory mechanisms in some cellular events, in many other processes each protein has its unique mechanism of regulation which could be independent of Rho GTPase modulation. For instance, Abr coordinates the crosstalk between Rho and Cdc42-dependent cytoskeleton remodeling by activating RhoA in the Rho-activity zone by the GEF domain, and inhibiting Cdc42 through the GAP domain during single-cell wound repair (252). On the other hand, Bcr regulates the cell polarity of the migrating astrocytes at the leading edge by inhibiting PKC $\zeta$  and Rac1

activities. Indeed, Bcr, through its N-terminal region which is lacking in Abr, binds to members of the complex Par (Par3, Par6, and PKC $\zeta$ )-Tiam1, responsible of PKC $\zeta$  activation and Rac1 recruitment and activation at the leading edge, leading subsequently to the suppression of both Pac-Tiam1 and Rac1 activities (253).

#### ArhGAP21 and ARHGAP23 RhoGAPs

ArhGAP 21 (also referred to as ArhGAP10) and it homologous ArhGAP23 are large RhoGAP proteins with in their N-terminus, a PDZ domain, a central PH domain and a C-terminal RhoGAP domain (254,255). ArhGAP21 has been reported to localize to cell-cell junctions bound to α-catenin, wherein it suppresses the Cdc42 GTPase activity and regulates the Arp2/3 complex and F-actin-cytoskeletal remodeling (164,165). Recently, a new role of this RhoGAP in cancer as a tumor-suppressor has been described. Whereas overexpression of this protein in ovarian cancer-cell models inhibited cell adhesion, migration and proliferation through Cdc42 downregulation, low ArhGAP21 expression levels have been associated to ovarian cancer progression (256). The regulation of ArhGAP21 subcellular localization and membrane targeting is crucial for its function, and to date two regulation mechanisms have been described. The first consists of a posttranslational modification by SUMO2/3 at lys-1443 residue, which induces a confinement of the SUMOylated protein and its function to restricted subcellular locations including the PM (257). The second mechanism is well characterized and highlights the cooperation between the LBDs and adjacent motifs. The mechanism consists of the recruitment of ArhGAP21 to the cellular membranes (i.e., Golgi) by binding to active Arf (ADP-ribosylation factor) 1 and 6 small GTPses (165). The binding occurs through a novel Arf binding domain (ArfBD) comprising the PH domain and the adjacent C-terminal region (929-1096) of ArhGAP21. The PH domain alone is not sufficient to drive the interaction with the membrane phospholipids and needs the C-terminal motif arranged in an  $\alpha$  helix to bind to GTP-Arf (165,258). The Arf/ArhGAP21 interaction ensures the PM anchorage of the RhoGAP without affecting the GAP activity, since the GAP domain is exposed in a conformation allowing the interaction with membrane Rho GTPases (258).

# HMHA-1 (Histocompatibility Minor HA-1) RhoGAP

HMHA-1, which is expressed mostly in hematopoietic cells and solid tumours, is a cancer therapeutic target and a recently characterized RhoGAP (259-262). This protein consists of an N-terminal FCH/BAR domain, a central C1 domain and a Cterminal RhoGAP domain. The full-length protein (FL) colocalizes with Rho GTPases in cellular sites with high actin activity such as peripheral membrane ruffles (245). Intriguingly, the FL HMHA-1 protein displays little or no RhoGAP activity both in vitro and in vivo. Notably, the RhoGAP activity seems to be blocked by intramolecular interactions involving the N-terminal BAR-domain in an auto-inhibitory action, similar to the one found in other RhoGAPs like GRAF family members (245). However, the expression of HMHA-1 deletion mutants lacking the N-terminal BAR domain, namely the GAP-tail and the C1-GAP mutants, showed strong GAP activities in vitro towards Cdc42, RhoA and Rac1, and in vivo towards RhoA and Rac1 (262). Furthermore, these mutants via their GAP activity, induced important cell-morphological changes such as inhibition of focal adhesion formation, cell adhesion and spreading, which are all hallmarks of active RhoGAPs (262). Finally, the C1 domain and the C-terminal prolinerich region encoding a PDZ-like binding motif, which likely bind to the negativelycharged membranes, seem to regulate both the subcellular targeting of HMHA-1 and its GAP activity, since expression of the GAP region alone failed to localize properly to the cellular membranes and is unable to inhibit Rho GTPase activities (262).

# SYD-1 (Synapse-defective-1)

SYD-1 is a multidomain-RhoGAP protein which is mainly expressed in the brain and localized prominently to the presynaptic terminals, where it is involved in several neuronal regulation processes such as neurite outgrowth and axon guidance (263-265). In addition, SYD-1 is a key regulator of synaptic-vesicle trafficking and synaptic-signal transmission by its association to presynaptic RTKs and to various proteins, notably proteins from the active zone (263). SYD-1 consists of a C-terminal RhoGAP domain, a central C2 domain and several SH3 domains, as well as an N-terminal PDZ domain. The RhoGAP domain of SYD-1 from *C.elegans* has been reported to be catalytically inactive, since it lacks the key catalytic arginine characteristic of RhoGAP activity (266). However, a RhoGAP domain-truncated SYD-1 decreased both the neurite outgrowth and their guidance, stressing the importance of this domain (266). Meanwhile, recent findings show that the RhoGAP domain could be active. Indeed, it has been shown that SYD-1 binds to active yeast MIG-2 GTPase (homologous of Rac) and inhibits its GTPase activity to promote axon guidance downstream of UNC-40 (DCC) and SAX-3 (Robo) (267).

#### 1.4.7 PBR-containing RhoGAPs

About 18 RhoGAPs of this group present a domain structure without any known LBD, yet similar to the majority of RhoGAP proteins, they need a recruitment to the PM in order to conduct the GAP activity towards their active and PM-bound Rho GTPase targets. Interestingly, all these RhoGAPs contain at least one PBR N-terminal to the GAP domain (Table 1.3 and Figure 1.1C). Consistent with their role in mediating the PM recruitment for some RhoGAPs such as CdGAP and DLC1, the PBRs could be an alternative mechanism directing the PM localization of the RhoGAPs containing them. In this section the mechanisms governing the PM localization and the potential PBR contribution will be explored for these RhoGAPs.

#### ArhGAP11A and ArhGAP11B

ArhGAP11A and ArhGAP11B are two proteins consisting of an N-terminal RhoGAP domain preceded by a PBR and for ArhGAP11A, a long C-terminal region (268,269). ArhGAP11B, a human-specific RhoGAP, emerged from a partial duplication of its homologous ArhGAP11A, which is expressed in the whole animal kingdom following the separation of human and chimpanzee lineages (268). Interestingly, ArhGAP11B has its highest brain-specific expression in the radial glia cells, through which it seemingly promotes the human neocortex expansion throughout evolution (268). Whereas the RhoGAP domain of ArhGAP11B seems to be catalytically inactive, ArhGAP11A activity preferentially targets RhoA activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* 

# Table1.3 – PBRs from RhoGAPs

RhoGAP	Target	Organism	PBR at the N-terminus of the GAP domain	Entry <sup>a</sup>
ArhGAP11B		H. sapiens	15-RAFYGIKVKGVRGQCDRRR <sup>b</sup>	Q3KRB8
ArhGAP11A	RhoA (269)	H. sapiens M. musculus	5-RLVRLALLQHLRAFYGIKVKGVRGQCDRRR 5-RLVRLALLQQLRAVYGIKVKGGRGQCDRRR	Q6P4F7 Q80Y19
ArhGAP19	RhoA (270)	H. sapiens M. musculus	99- <b>R</b> SLMSL <b>KRKEK</b> GVIFGSPLT 99- <b>R</b> SLMSL <b>KRKEK</b> GVVFGSPLT	Q14CB8 Q8BRH3
ArhGAP36	-	H. sapiens M. musculus	149- <b>RRR</b> GNVVR <b>R</b> VFG <b>RIRR</b> FFS <b>RRR</b> NEPTLP <b>R</b> EFT <b>RRGRR</b> 137- <b>RRR</b> GNVVQ <b>R</b> MLG <b>RMRR</b> FFS <b>RRR</b> NEPTLP <b>R</b> EFT <b>RRGRR</b>	Q6ZRI8 B1AUC7
ArhGAP40	-	H. sapiens M. musculus	103- <b>RR</b> LDIYA <b>R</b> SV <b>RR</b> QH <b>K</b> TPV <b>R</b> DV <b>R</b> 153- <b>RR</b> LDIYA <b>R</b> SA <b>R</b> RRQ <b>K</b> APV <b>R</b> DV <b>R</b>	Q5TG30 E9Q6X9
RalBP1	Rac1 (271)	H. sapiens M. musculus	126-KIKEKPKEEKHKEEKHKEEKHKEKKSKDLTAADVVKQWKEKKKK 126-KIKEKPKEEKHKEEKHKEEKHKEKKSKDLTAADVVKQWKEKKKK	Q15311 Q62172
ρ85α	-	H. sapiens M. musculus	79- <b>RKK</b> ISPPTP <b>K</b> P <b>R</b> 79- <b>RKR</b> ISPPTP <b>K</b> P <b>R</b> PP <b>R</b>	P27986 P26450
ρ85β	-	H. sapiens M. musculus	85-RPGPRPRGPRPLPAR 85-RPGPRPRGPRPLPAR	O00459 O08908
ArhGAP6	RhoA and Rac3 (272,273)	H. sapiens M. musculus	253-KRKKSLRKKLDSLGKEKNKDK 254-KRKKSLRKKLDSLGKEKNKDK	O43182 O54834
ArhGAP18	RhoA and RhoC (274,275)	H. sapiens M. musculus	307- KQQKAVKIKTK 307- KQQKAVKIKTR	Q8N392 Q8K0Q5
ArhGAP28	RhoA (276)	H. sapiens M. musculus	363- <b>KRNK</b> TE <b>K</b> V <b>K</b> G <b>R</b> DNGIFGVPLTVLLDGD <b>RKK</b> 367- <b>KRNK</b> TE <b>R</b> V <b>R</b> G <b>R</b> DNGIFGVPLTVLLDND <b>RKK</b>	Q9P2N2 Q8BN58
Vilse	Rac (277,278)	H. sapiens M. musculus	849- <b>K</b> YCYH <b>K</b> LQ <b>K</b> AALTGA <b>KK</b> GL <b>KK</b> PNVEEI <b>R</b> HA <b>K</b> 873- <b>K</b> YCYH <b>K</b> LQ <b>K</b> AALTGA <b>KK</b> GLKKPNVEEI <b>R</b> HA <b>K</b>	Q9C0H5 P59281
TAGAP	RhoA (279)	H. sapiens M. musculus	52- <b>KKRKK</b> VLSWPFLM <b>RR</b> 52- <b>KKRKK</b> VLSWPSLM <b>RK</b>	Q8N103 B2RWW0
p190 RhoGAP-A	Rho, Rac and Cdc42 (280-286)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1214- <b>RRR</b> NIL <b>R</b> SL <b>RR</b> NT <b>KK</b> PKPKPRPSITK 1214- <b>RRR</b> NIL <b>R</b> SL <b>RR</b> NTKKPKPKPRPSITK	Q9NRY4 Q91YM2
p190 RhoGAP-B	Rho, Rac and Cdc42 (280-286)	H. sapiens M. musculus	1225- KKIKKKTHKVKEDKKQKKKTK 1225- KKIKKKTHKVKEDKKQKKKTK	Q13017 P97393
ArhGAP30	Rac1 and RhoA (287)	H. sapiens M. musculus	2- KSRQKGKKKGSAKER 2- KSRQKGKKKGSSKER	Q7Z6I6 Q640N3
CdGAP	Rac and Cdc42 (288)	H. sapiens M. musculus	2-KNKGAKQKLKRK 2-KNKGAKQKLKRK	Q2M1Z3 A6X8Z5

<sup>a</sup>NCBI protein entry number.

<sup>b</sup>Basic amino acids that make up the PBR are bolted.

(268,269). As such, ArhGAP11A regulates the cell division by controlling RhoAmediated cortical protrusion formation at M phase that otherwise can lead to cytokinesis failure (269).

Several recent studies report both pro-tumorigenic and tumor-suppressing roles of ArhGAP11A in different cellular contexts. For instance, ArhGAP11A high-expression levels have been described in several human cancer specimens including colon and breast cancers, whereas positive correlations have been established between the expression levels and the aggressiveness of the tumors (126,289,290). Similarly, recent findings from a Rho GTPase-signaling transcriptome analysis by RNA-sequencing revealed that ArhGAP11A, among other RhoGAPs such as RacGAP1, is overexpressed in breast-cancer tissues suggesting a proto-oncogenic function (126,290). Defective ArhGAP11A-dependent cell cycle regulation is pointed out to be at the origin of the tumorigenic transformation noticed when this RhoGAP is overexpressed. Indeed, the tumorigenic role of ArhGAP11A is driven at least partly, through the RhoA activity suppression since ArhGAP11A knockdown resulted in high RhoA activation, cell cycle arrest at G1 phase and random-cell migration inhibition (126). Also, RhoA suppression, which inhibits stress fiber and focal adhesion formation, is coupled to Rac1 activity increase, conferring to the cancer cells enhanced migration and invasion abilities (289). By contrast, ArgGAP11A expression in mouse embryonic oligodendrocytes inhibits cell proliferation by promoting cell cycle arrest in response to DNA damage stress (291). Likewise, ArgGAP11A translocates to the nucleus, where it binds via its RhoGAP domain, to the tetramerization domain (TD) of the tumor suppressor p53 inducing conformation change and gene transcription regulation leading to cell apoptosis (291).

#### ArhGAP19

This protein consists of an N-terminal RhoGAP domain, that targets RhoA activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, flanked by clusters of PBRs. ArhGAP19 is expressed predominantly in cells from hematopoietic origin and in germ cells, and the expression fluctuates during cell cycle progression spiking during mitosis, which suggests a regulatory role at this level (270).

#### ArhGAP36

ArhGAP36 is a recently characterized RhoGAP and an agonist of the Hedgehog (Hh) pathway. It contains an N-terminal transmembrane motif, a PBR and a RhoGAP domain likely to be catalytically inactive as it lacks the crucial arginine finger motif mediating the GTPase hydrolysis. Interestingly, the five alternative-splicing isoforms of ArhGAP36 have been reported to be overexpressed in medulloblastomas, where they regulate the onset and/or progress of these cancers in a non-canonical Hh pathway (292).

#### RalBP1 (<u>Ral b</u>inding protein <u>1</u>)

RalBP1 is a protein mediating the Ras and Rho GTPase crosstalk and is therefore, involved in many cellular signaling pathways such as glutathione-conjugated electrophile transport, actin-cytoskeleton dynamics and endocytosis (293-297). It consists of a C-terminal ATP-binding region and several PBRs, a central RhoGAP domain active towards Cdc42 and Rac1 *in vitro*, and an N-terminal Ral binding domain (RBD) which binds Ral GTPases in a GTP-dependent manner (271,294,297). Interestingly, *in vivo* RalBP1 is required for cell adhesion-dependent Rac activation controlled by R-Ras in a Ral-independent manner. Indeed, the RhoGAP domain binds to GTP-R-Ras and activates Arf6 GTPase, which in return stimulates Rac1 resulting in increased cell spreading and migration (298). Additionally, RalBP1 via its interaction with RalA, has been reported to increase cell migration and to promote cancer cell metastasis (i.e., prostate and human bladder cancers)(299).

RalBP1 localization is crucial for its function and the binding to an active Ral is a key factor triggering its PM translocation, but at the same time it blocks its GAP activity towards Cdc42 and Rac1 (293,295,300). At the molecular level, the PBR (154-219aa, Table 1.3) has been identified to be required for the RalBP1 PM translocation and for its function as a membrane transporter of glutathione conjugates, in addition to other domains including, the N-terminal and C-terminal domains, which contribute to the differential cellular distribution of RalBP1 (301).

#### $p85\alpha$ and $p85\beta$

Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), which catalyzes the generation of phosphoinositides, is a heterodimer complex between a catalytic p110 subunit and regulatory subunits: p85α and p85β. p85α and p85β are very similar and their domain structure comprises, an N-terminal SH3 and a central RhoGAP domains, as well as two SH2 domains, mediating the interaction with phosphorylated RTKs and flanking a p110 binding region (302,303). The RhoGAP domain, although it has a sequence homology similar to functional RhoGAP domains such as that of p50RhoGAP including the arginine finger, and because it lacks some critical residues it is inactive towards most Rho GTPases (304). Nevertheless, *in vitro* the RhoGAP domain of p85 binds to both GTP- and GDP-bound Cdc42 with a preference for the GTP-form, and this binding stimulated the PI3K catalytic activity (305).

#### ArhGAP6, ArhGAP 18 and ArhGAP28

The members of this subfamily share a high homology domain structure consisting of a central RhoGAP domain with a conserved arginine finger and PBRs mostly in the N-terminal region (274-276). The structure similarity allows, in some cases, functional compensations between these RhoGAPs such as the one in ArhGAP28 null mouse where both ArhGAP6 and ArhGAP28 are overexpressed, possibly to compensate the loss of ArhGAP28 function (276).

ArhGAP6 has been characterized first in the dominant X-linked MLS (Microphthalmia with linear skin defects syndrome) disorder as a protein with a functional RhoGAP domain and a GAP activity towards RhoA and Rac3 (Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 3)(272,273,306). Likewise, it inhibits stress fiber formation, while mutation of the conserved arginine residue within the RhoGAP domain prevented this effect (272). Also, this RhoGAP seems to play an anti-tumorigenic role since its expression in human cervical-cancer cell models enhanced the expression of tumor-suppressor genes, induced apoptosis and cell cycle arrest, and suppressed cell adhesion, proliferation, migration and invasion (273). Similarly, expression of this gene in athymic nude mouse reduced tumor weight and size, making ArhGAP6 a promising therapeutic target to treat cervical cancers (273). On the other hand, ArhGAP6, which is

overexpressed in mononuclear-blood cells from patients with hypertension, has been shown to bind and stimulate PLC $\delta$ 1 activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* leading to increased inositol triphosphate and DAG generation, which might contribute to hypertension (307).

ArhGAP18 has been first characterized in the human epididymis and later found to be ubiquitously expressed. It is active *in vivo* and directs its RhoGAP activity towards RhoA and RhoC (274,275). ArhGAP18 localizes to the leading edge of the migrating cells, wherein it suppresses stress fiber and focal adhesion formation by the suppression of RhoA activity, promoting thereby the cell spreading and migration (275). ArhGAP18 seems to be a major regulator in many signaling pathways such as angiogenesis and its low expression levels are often associated with many cancers including breast and lung cancers, whereas its complete expression loss is associated with severe developmental-vascular defects and enhanced tumor growth and vascularisation (44,121,122,308). Actually, ArhGAP18 has been reported to act as a negative regulator of pro-angiogenic factors to stabilize endothelial cell-to-cell (EC) junctions (308). The underlying mechanism involves its translocation to the sites of destabilized EC junctions where it reduces RhoC activity in a ROCK-dependent way limiting therefore, the tip-cell formation and strengthening the cell-cell junctions (308).

ArhGAP28 has been listed in several DNA-microarray analyses although its cellular functions begin just to be characterized (309). This RhoGAP displays a GAP activity towards RhoA and is involved in several cell events including early osteogenesis, Rho-dependent assembly of the ECM and RhoA-induced stress fiber suppression (276). Similarly, ArhGAP28 is thought to regulate, at the transcriptional level RhoA and many other proteins of the ECM such as Matn3 and Col2a1 (276). It appears therefore, that ArhGAP28 is a crucial regulator of Rho signaling at different levels in various cellular sites and aberrations in its expression translate into enhanced RhoA activity. Of interest, recent findings reported that increased ArhGAP28-promoter region methylation is associated with high RhoA activity, which may contribute to the increased metastatic abilities in cells (310).

# Vilse / ArhGAP39 CrGAP (CrossGAP)

Vilse [also known as ArhGAP39 or CrGAP (CrossGAP)] is a conserved RhoGAP that has been first characterized in drosophila for its role in axon guidance downstream of Slit-Robo signaling in the midline (277). Its domain structure consists of an N-terminal WW and a MyTH4 (myosin tail homology 4) domains, and a C-terminal RhoGAP domain. The WW domain, which binds to proline-rich motifs, is required to target Vilse to the PM via a direct interaction between Vilse and the intracellular domain of the receptor Robo. The resulting PM translocation of Vilse permits to the RhoGAP domain to interact with the PM-anchored Rac and hence to stimulate its GTPase activity (277,278). The regulatory mechanism is dose-sensitive, where more or less Vilse activity can lead to axon guidance defects (278). Furthermore, Vilse is involved in spine morphogenesis by binding to the scaffold protein CNK2 through its WW domain to maintain Rac activity at optimal levels for spine formation (311).

### TAGAP (T-Cell Activation RhoGTPase Activating Protein)

TAGAP was characterized for its role in male parent-gene transmission ratio to offspring and has been associated with several disorders including rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's and celiac diseases, and multiple sclerosis (279,312-317). Its domain structure consists of a PBR at the N-terminal region next to a RhoGAP showing a selective RhoGAP activity towards RhoA (279).

#### p190RhoGAP-A and p190RhoGAP-B proteins

The multidomain p190RhoGAP-A (ArhGAP35) and its closely related p190RhoGAP-B (ArhGAP5) proteins form the p190RhoGAP subfamily, and are among the most prominent actin cytoskeleton and Rho GTPase regulators. They are involved in a variety of cellular processes modulating mainly the actin cytoskeleton and aberrations in their activities are associated often with cell adhesion and migration defects leading to tumorigenesis (123,318). These proteins comprise an N-terminal GTPase binding domain (Ras), several diphenylalanine (FF) motifs in the central region, which mediate protein-protein interactions such as interactions with RNA-binding proteins, and a C-terminal RhoGAP domain. Moreover, they contain in the central region many SH3 motifs which carry out protein-protein interactions. p190RhoGAPs

display an *in vitro* GAP activity towards Rho, Cdc42 and Rac, whereas *in vivo*, studies reported a RhoGAP activity for both Rho and Rac GTPases (280-286). The recruitment to the PM and the regulation the RhoGAP activity of p190RhoGAPs involve in general phosphorylation, lipid-protein and protein-protein interactions leading to protein complex formation with cellular partners including p120RasGAP, integrins, p120 catenin and many other proteins from both intracellular compartments and the extracellular matrix (123,318-322).

One important lipid-protein regulation mechanism implies a PBR N-terminal to the RhoGAP domain of both p190RhoGAP-A and B, a motif that is imperative for the PM recruitment, the GAP activity regulation and substrate selection. This positivelycharged domain facilitates the membrane anchoring by interacting directly through electrostatic interactions with the negatively-charged PM phospholipids (35,112). Indeed, p190RhoGAP-A, which regulates both Rho and Rac activities, requires an integral and intact PBR in order to inhibit Rac, whereas its GAP activity towards Rho is PBR-independent. Likewise, a p190RhoGAP-A mutant lacking the PBR fails to inhibit the EGF-induced membrane ruffles (i.e., active Rac) in COS-7 cells, whereas it blocks the lysophosphatidic acid (LPA)-induced stress fibers by suppressing RhoA activity (286). In addition, the PBR of p190RhoGAP-A but not that of p190RhoGAP-B, contains two regulatory phospho-serines, Ser-1221 and Ser-1226, critical for the PM recruitment and substrate selection. As such, following their phosphorylation by PKC, p190RhoGAP-A dissociates from the PM phospholipids and directs its GAP activity towards Rho instead of Rac, which results in opposite changes in both active Rac and Rho levels in different cellular compartments, depending on the PBR phosphorylation status (35).

#### CdGAP subfamily of RhoGAPs: ArhGAP30, CdGAP, ArhGAP32 and ArhGAP33

The members of this subfamily are well-conserved throughout eukaryotic evolution suggesting evolutionary-conserved cellular functions notably in the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton and cell motility (95,323). They share a domain structure consisting of an N-terminal PBR and a RhoGAP domain, as well as an extended C-terminal region with basic and proline-and-serine residue rich regions in CdGAP, and

two proline-rich regions for ArhGAP30. Additionally, ArhGAP32 and ArhGAP33 harbor in their N-terminal region an SH3 and a PX domain.

ArhGAP32 [also designated as p200RhoGAP, p250GAP, RICS (RhoGAP involved in catenin-N-cadherin and NMDA receptor signalling) and Grit (GTPase regulator interacting with TrkA)], which is expressed mainly in the brain, plays key roles in axon growth regulation, and is associated with the autism spectrum disorder in Jacobsen syndrome (324). The membrane localization of ArhGAP32 (i.e., Golgi, ER and endosomes) is achieved through its PX domain which interacts preferentially with the phosphoinositides: PtdIns(3)P, PtdIns(4)P and PtdIns(5)P (325). ArhGAP32 has been first characterized for its regulatory role of neurite outgrowth downstream of activated RTKs, by binding to NGF receptor, TrkA and to N-Shc and CrkL/Crk adapter proteins (326). The control of the neurite growth is achieved chiefly through regulation of key Rho GTPases. As such, ArhGAP32 present a RhoGAP activity both in vitro and in vivo towards Cdc42, Rac1 and RhoA, while the conserved catalytic arginine (Arg-58) is required for this activity (152,153). ArhGAP32 (RICS) (-/-) neurons develop longer neurites and display increased Cdc42 activity, whereas expression of either the RhoGAP domain alone or the full-length protein prompted the neuronal differentiation phenotype of N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells (152,153). Likewise, both cell migration and axonal defects have been reported in the developing cerebellar cortex of ArhGAP32 (p250GAP) knockdown in vivo (327). Finally, ArhGAP32 has been shown to interact through the C-terminal region, with the SH3 domain of RasGAP leading to activation of the Ras-ERK1/2 and PI3K pathways and subsequently to cell transformation and proliferation (328).

ArhGAP33 [also referred to as TCGAP (TC10/Cdc42 GAP)] has been characterized for its interaction with and regulation of TC10 and Cdc42 Rho GTPases, as well as for its regulatory role in insulin signaling pathway. For instance, following insulin stimulation, ArhGAP33 through its PX domain which binds to PtdIns(4,5)P2, translocates to the PM where it blocks the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and the glucose transporter GLUT4 translocation (154). The RhoGAP activity is directed towards Cdc42 and is negatively regulated by phosphorylation on key residues such as

Tyr-406 in the GAP domain (107). ArhGAP33 is expressed prominently in the developing and mature brain where it regulates positively the neurite outgrowth and branching (107). It is therefore, associated with neuropsychiatric developmental disorders such as the autism spectrum disorder, characterized by severe dendritearborisation defects (329). Correspondingly, ArhGAP33 is required for cortical neuron morphogenesis and its depletion by RNA interference results in reduced dendrite branches number and in the overall length of dendrite arbors (330). Likewise, the spine density is rescued by ArhGAP33 re-expression or by expression of a knock-down resistant form of ArhGAP33 (330). In addition, mice lacking ArhGAP33 show aberrant defects during cortical development, characterized by oversimplification of corticaldendritic arborisation and a decrease of the neocortical volume (331). High Cdc42 activity and actin-cytoskeleton dysregulation may be involved in these defects since ArhGAP33 expression suppresses the GTPase activity and activates cofilin, an actin regulating protein (331). In addition to the above mechanisms, ArhGAP33 function of promoting spine and synapse development involves further regulatory mechanisms either GAP activity-dependent, such as the regulation of PSD-95 in the neocortex, or GAP activity-independent (329).

ArhGAP30 present a high domain homology with its closest homolog CdGAP notably, in the N-terminal PBR and in the RhoGAP domain, suggesting shared conserved functions and regulation mechanisms. The RhoGAP of ArhGAP30 is catalytically active and stimulates the GTPase activity of both Rac1 and RhoA (287). ArhGAP30 is involved in cell adhesion regulation downstream of Wrch-1 and its overexpression induces focal adhesion and stress fiber dissolution in addition to membrane blebbing, reminiscent of the RhoA pathway suppression (287).

Interestingly, ArhGAP30 seems to play an anti-tumorigenic role in cancer, particularly in colorectal cancer (CRC) where its protein expression levels are reduced. Indeed, in both CRC and its precancerous lesions, ArhGAP30 is downregulated and this is associated to poor patient prognosis. The result suggests a potential tumor-suppressing activity of this RhoGAP, whereas its expression level could be used as a potential prognosis biomarker for CRC. The mechanism underlying this role involves at

least a ArhGAP30-driven p53 acetylation and functional activation, achieved through an ArhGAP30-p300 acetyltransferase interaction in a RhoGAP-independent manner (332). In the next section CdGAP regulation and function will be discussed.

# 1.5 CdGAP regulation and function

CdGAP/ArhGAP31 belongs to a well-conserved CdGAP subfamily comprising in addition to CdGAP orthologues, at least three CdGAP-related genes *ARHGAP30*, *ARHGAP32* and *ARHGAP33* (95,109,287,323,333-336). CdGAP has been discovered in 1998 in a yeast two-hybrid cDNA library screen using Cdc42 mutant Y40C as a bait. A short mouse CdGAP form of 820 amino acids, rich in charged and serine residues was initially isolated and classified among the well-conserved RhoGAP subfamily members (337). Afterwards, a ubiquitously expressed full-length protein has been characterized in both mouse and human with a characteristic enrichment in heart, muscle, liver, brain and lung tissues (334,336-338). CdGAP has been at once characterized for its role in actin reorganization by regulating the GTPase activity of Rac and Cdc42 making it a novel negative Rho GTPase regulator (337). Afterwards, it has been shown to be involved in several cellular pathways and functions such as the regulation of cell migration, embryogenesis, angiogenesis and cancer (Figure 1.2) (127,339-341).

# 1.5.1 Domain organization

CdGAP is a large RhoGAP protein (mCdGAP, 1425aa; hCdGAP, 1444aa), rich in basic, proline and serine residues, and comprising numerous regulatory domains involved in specific CdGAP functions (Figure 1.1C). CdGAP contains namely: an N-terminal PBR which binds to membrane phospholipids and regulates both CdGAP PM targeting and activity; a conserved RhoGAP domain mediating the GAP activity towards Rac1 and Cdc42; a central highly-phosphorylated basic region (BR) mediating several protein-protein interactions and involved in the regulation of cell migration and adhesion; a highly serine- and threonine-phosphorylated proline-rich domain (PRD) that mediates the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ )-induced effects on cell migration and invasion; and finally, an extended highly-phosphorylated C-terminus (CT), involved in the

regulation of the GAP activity and in the rare developmental disorder, Adams-Oliver Syndrome (AOS) (Figure 1.2) (128,334,340,342-344).

#### 1.5.2 CdGAP regulation

CdGAP is regulated by several mechanisms including protein-protein and lipidprotein interactions, and phosphorylation.

### 1.5.2.1 Protein-protein interactions

CdGAP contains several structural features such as SH3 and 14-3-3-protein binding motifs which are involved in a variety of protein-protein interactions with different partners including adaptor proteins (e.g. Intersectin), actin cytoskeleton proteins (e.g. Actopaxin), receptors (e.g. vascular endothelial growth factor receptor2, VEGFR2), transcription factors (e.g. Zeb2) and protein kinases (e.g. Erk1/2 MAP Kinases and GSK3) (Figure 1.2)(108,109,127,339,341,345). For instance, the endocytic and Cdc42 GEF adaptor protein, Intersectin interacts with CdGAP and regulates both its subcellular localization and activity in a platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-dependent fashion. Likewise, in PDGF-stimulated Swiss 3T3 cells, Intersectin binds and colocalizes with CdGAP at the cell periphery and PM, wherein it suppresses its activity towards Rac1 leading to increased lamellipodia and membrane ruffles. The association involves the SH3D domain of Intersectin and a novel-conserved xKx(K/R)K motif within the BR region of CdGAP (345,346). Similarly, CdGAP has been reported to associate with the actin and paxillin binding protein, Actopaxin, and the interaction targets CdGAP to focal adhesions in an adhesion-dependent manner whereby its activity is suppressed (341). The regulation of CdGAP activity at focal adhesions and the interaction between the two proteins, which is driven through the C-terminal region of Actopaxin and the BR domain of CdGAP, are required for a normal cell spreading, lamellipodia formation and polarization as well as cell migration of human U2OS osteosarcoma cells (341).

# 1.5.2.2 Phosphorylation

CdGAP is a phosphoprotein displaying high Ser and Thr phosphorylation levels in the BR, PRD and CT regions, and is therefore a potential phosphorylation target of a wide range of Ser/Thr protein kinases (108,109,323). Likewise, many large-scale phosphoproteomic studies report increasing numbers of CdGAP phosphorylation sites being regulated in many signaling pathways and diseases such as insulin/Akt signaling, angiogenesis and many cancers (listed in www.phosphosite.org) (347-354). CdGAP *in vivo* phosphorylation is increased following growth factor stimulation including serum, PDGF and TGFβ, whereas the Ser/Thr kinases Erk1/2 MAPK, GSK3 and p90 ribosomal protein S6 kinase (RSK) 1 have been shown to both bind and phosphorylate CdGAP(108,109,128,323). As for the phosphorylated sites, Thr-776 residue has been shown to be phosphorylated by both Erk1/2 MAPK and GSK3 in serum-stimulated and serum-starved conditions and this phosphorylation inhibits CdGAP activity (108,109). Yet, little is known about the identity of the many other CdGAP phosphosites or the corresponding protein kinases and their role remains unclear and requires further investigation. Recently, two major phosphorylated by the AGC kinase RSK1 leading to the recruitment of 14-3-3 adaptor proteins and to the regulation of both CdGAP subcellular localization and activity (to be discussed in Chapter 3).

#### 1.5.2.3 Lipid binding

CdGAP, similar to most active RhoGAPs, requires a membrane translocation in order to suppress the GTPase activity of its membrane-bound effectors, Cdc42 and Rac1. As CdGAP lacks any LBD, an alternative mechanism described recently seems to help its membrane targeting. As such, the N-terminal PBR cluster preceding the RhoGAP domain has been identified to mediate specific binding to the negatively-charged membrane phospholipids, preferentially PtdIns(3,4,5)P3 and thereby, to ensure CdGAP anchoring into the PM (36). Importantly, an intact PBR is required for the *in vitro* full-CdGAP activity toward Rac1 and for the *in vivo* CdGAP effects on cell morphology. Equally, CdGAP protein mutants missing a functional PBR are unable to induce cell rounding in fibroblast cells following PDGF stimulation (36). Collectively, these data describe a PBR-mediated modulation of CdGAP activity and membrane localization through a mechanism common in a number of proteins including some RhoGAPs such as DLC1 and p190RhoGAP-A and B (Table 1.1) (34,35,112,117).

### 1.5.3 Cellular functions of CdGAP

## 1.5.3.1 Regulation of actin-cytoskeleton dynamics and cell motility

Consistent with its RhoGAP activity towards the key regulators of the actin cytoskeleton, Rac and Cdc42 GTPases, CdGAP is involved in guite a lot of cytoskeleton -remodeling events including, filopodia and lamellipodia formation, cell spreading, adhesion, migration and invasion. CdGAP overexpression in diverse cell lines has been shown to promote cell rounding, while in a GAP activity-dependent manner, CdGAP inhibits most of the above-cited events as a results of the disruption of cortical actin network. As such, the inhibition of CdGAP activity by CdGAP association to Actopaxin and Intersectin in U2OS and Swiss 3T3 cells respectively, reversed the CdGAP overexpression-induced cell rounding and promoted lamellipodia formation and polarity in these cell lines (345,355). In addition, CdGAP has been shown to localize to focal adhesions formed in three-dimensional (3D) matrix environment and to regulate both random and directed cell migration, as well as adhesion assembly and disassembly dynamics of human U2OS osteosarcoma cells (356). Moreover, CdGAP through localization to cell-extracellular matrix adhesions, modulates both matrix-rigidity sensing and durotaxis, two critical processes in cell migration and invasion (357). The underlying mechanism involves the modulation of Rac1 activity at cell-matrix adhesions, membrane protrusions and focal adhesion dynamics (357).

#### 1.5.3.2 Role in Adams-Oliver Syndrome (AOS)

AOS is a rare developmental disorder, characterized by the presence of aplasia cutis congenita of the scalp vertex and terminal transverse limb-reduction defects, as well as cardiovascular anomalies in some patients (358,359). Recently, mutations in the human *CdGAP/ARHGAP31* leading to autosomal-dominant AOS have been identified in patients suffering from this syndrome. Indeed, using genome-wide linkage analysis and exome sequencing, two premature truncating mutations have been identified in the terminal exon of the *CdGAP* gene from AOS-patients (340). The resulting AOS-protein mutants, hCdGAP(Q683X) and hCdGAP(K1087Sx4) lacking the C-terminal region, exhibit a constitutive GAP activity leading to a loss of available active-Cdc42 disrupting thus, actin cytoskeletal structures. Consequently, the gain-of-function of AOS-causing

proteins, enhances cell rounding and impairs cell migration and proliferation during early development of fibroblasts at the terminal limb buds and craniofacial processes, leading to impaired organogenesis that characterize this syndrome (340). Overall, these data emphasize the requirement for regulated Rac1/Cdc42 pathways during early human development.

#### 1.5.3.3 Role in angiogenesis

One characteristic of AOS patients carrying abnormal CdGAP proteins, is the presence of diverse and frequent vascular and cardiac defects including pulmonary hypertension and cutis marmorata telangiectatica — a rare developmental congenital vascular disorder — suggesting a role of CdGAP in angiogenesis (358,360). In support of this hypothesis, earlier studies have reported that CdGAP expression is elevated in endothelial cells notably, in the human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), but also in the developing vascular system of zebrafish where CdGAP is among the 17 most highly expressed RhoGAPs (361,362). Accordingly, a very recent study demonstrated a crucial role of CdGAP in embryonic-vascular development and vascular-endothelial-growth factor (VEGF)-induced signaling. The new findings show for the first time, that CdGAP interacts with the VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR2) and is a key factor for a normal signaling downstream of VEGF stimulation and VEGF-driven angiogenesis. The CdGAP/VEGFR2 interaction seemingly controls the entire signaling pathway leading to Rac1 activation for a typical VEGF-dependent endothelial cell migration and capillary formation (339). Consistent with this role, CdGAP-deficient mouse embryos display impaired vascular development associated to superficial vessel defects and subcutaneous edema. Furthermore, CdGAP depletion both in endothelial cells and in mice is associated with severe VEGF-dependent angiogenesis, highlighting the importance of CdGAP in embryonic-vascular development and VEGF-induced signaling (339).

# 1.5.3.4 Role in cancer

CdGAP, through the inhibition of Cdc42 and Rac1 activities, controls the actin cytoskeleton-related processes including, cell adhesion, migration and invasion, which are all key aspects associated to cancer progression, suggesting a role of CdGAP in tumorigenesis and possibly, a negative one. The hypothesis is supported by some recent findings reporting that, in an in vitro system, CdGAP-depleted human U2OS osteosarcoma cancer cells displayed both increased migration and invasion through a three-dimensional matrices conferring to CdGAP anti-tumorigenic functions in this context (356). However, early studies have documented steadily elevated CdGAP expression levels following growth factor stimulation (i.e., serum and TGF $\beta$ ) in immortalized cellular models and cancer cell lines, suggesting a pro-survival role of CdGAP (108,128). The idea of a possible positive CdGAP role in cancer was further supported by the observation that endogenous CdGAP levels were readily upregulated in the ErbB2-induced breast cancer cell model, NMuMG-NT (mouse mammary cancer cell explants expressing the activated Neu/ErbB-2 receptor) comparing to control cells (128). More recently, CdGAP has been found to be highly expressed in basal-type breast cancer cells including, MDA231, MDA468, BT549 and HS578T, and its strong expression correlated with poor prognosis in breast cancer patients (363). By the same token, a study using quantitative-deep RNA sequencing found that CdGAP is the major RhoGAP expressed in HER2/ErbB2-induced mouse breast tumors (364). Collectively the data suggest a positive role of CdGAP in cancer, notably in breast cancer, likely downstream of the HER2/Neu/ErbB-2 and TGF<sup>β</sup> signaling pathways. Of note, a cooperation between the two pathways has been observed aiming to amplify the tumorigenic abilities of NMuMG-NT cells, which show high invasive and metastatic activities following TGFβ treatment (365-367). In agreement with this, CdGAP has been reported to mediate TGFβ- and ErbB2-induced cell migration and invasion of breast cancer cells, and does so in a GAP-independent manner. Accordingly, targeting CdGAP by siRNA abolished proliferative abilities of Neu/ErbB2-expressing breast cancer cells and their TGF<sub>β</sub>-induced cell motility, and induced the expression of E-cadherin, a tumor suppressor and a cell-cell junction protein (128). Surprisingly, the PRD of CdGAP has been revealed to be sufficient to rescue the TGF<sup>β</sup> phenotype which highlights the importance of this region in this process (128). In a follow-up study, a mechanism of Ecadherin-expression regulation by CdGAP downstream of TGFB/ErbB2 signaling has been shown (363). As such, following TGF $\beta$  stimulation, CdGAP via its PRD region,


**Figure 1.2** – **Summary of CdGAP functions and cellular partners.** CdGAP activity and cellular functions are regulated by different mechanisms including protein-protein and lipid-protein interactions, and phosphorylation (A). CdGAP is involved in various cellular pathways both in a GAP-dependent or – independent manner. Likewise, it suppresses the GTPase activity of Rac and Cdc42 and thereby controls the actin cytoskeleton remodeling and cell motility (B). CdGAP is also involved in early development and is required for embryonic vascular development (C)(339), whereas gain-of-function mutations of CdGAP proteins were associated with the developmental disorder Adams-Oliver Syndrome (D)(340). Finally, a proto-oncogenic role of CdGAP has been recently characterized notably in breast cancer, wherein CdGAP by suppressing E-cadherin expression promotes cancer progression and metastasis (E)(128,363). Abbreviations: E-cadherin, epithelial cadherin; EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition; TGF $\beta$ , transforming growth factor beta; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR2, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2; Zeb2, Zinc Finger E-Box Binding Homeobox 2. interacts and forms a complex at the nucleus with the transcriptional repressor Zeb2 to inhibit E-cadherin expression in a GAP-independent fashion (363,368). Consequently, CdGAP regulates cell junctions and is required for ErbB2 to promote breast tumors and metastasis (363). It appears finally, that CdGAP as a proto-oncogene, is a valuable biomarker and an interesting therapeutic target of human cancers, particularly several breast cancer subtypes.

## 1.6 14-3-3 adaptor proteins

14-3-3 family members are adaptor/scaffold proteins ubiquitously expressed and highly conserved among eukaryotic organisms. They have been first characterized in a brain protein analysis for their particular elution and migration patterns from which the name 14-3-3 originated, and later the Greek letters were added to describe the early isoforms (369,370). So far seven isoforms have been characterized in mammals: 14-3-3 $\beta$  (also known as  $\alpha$  when phosphorylated)  $\gamma$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\sigma$ ,  $\zeta$  (similar to  $\delta$  when phosphorylated),  $\tau$  and  $\eta$  (371,372). They interact with their effectors by binding to the phosphorylated Ser/Thr motifs on target proteins thereby regulating their conformation, activity, complex formation and stability, and subcellular localization (371-374). Up to now, more than 200 protein targets have been identified for 14-3-3 proteins including, protein kinases, phosphatases, receptors and transcription factors. Consequently, they exert a widespread influence in various cell processes such as cell cycle regulation, gene transcription regulation, cell adhesion, motility, proliferation and apoptosis (371).

## 1.6.1 Regulation and substrate binding

The seven 14-3-3 isoforms are found as homo or heterodimer structures, wherein the monomers contain at their N- and C-termini several antiparallel  $\alpha$  helices. This conformation allows 14-3-3 dimers to expose a negatively-charged surface that is important in recognising the features of the protein target. 14-3-3 isoforms display also, high variability in their N-terminal regions which contributes to dimer formation and diversity as well as to substrate selectivity and specificity (375,376). Dimeric 14-3-3 isoforms can bind motifs on the same or different protein targets and the binding of two

sites ensures by far, greater stability and more functional interaction than the binding of just one site (106,371-374,377).

14-3-3 proteins and dimer formation are regulated by many posttranslational modifications including Serine and Tyrosine phosphorylation, polyglycylation and acetylation (378-384). Indeed, 14-3-3 proteins are found to be phosphorylated in many signaling pathways and are targeted by various protein kinases, such as cAMPdependent kinase (PKA), sphingosine-dependent kinase (SDK1), protein kinase B (PKB)/Akt and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)(385-388). Following their phosphorylation, 14-3-3 dimers are destabilized and the interaction with their effector disturbed releasing thereby, the target protein. For instance, the subcellular localization of apoptosis regulating protein, Bax is controlled by the binding to 14-3-3 proteins which sequestrates it and prevents its mitochondrial translocation. Following their phosphorylation, 14-3-3s dissociate from and release Bax which in return, translocates into the mitochondria where it accumulates and induces cell apoptosis (389). Protein kinases phosphorylate mostly 14-3-3 monomers and rarely 14-3-3 dimers which usually maintain close conformations inaccessible for the catalytic kinase activity (390). However, direct binding to the 14-3-3 dimer of cellular regulators may induce conformational changes rendering them phosphorylable but also, may promote their conversion to monomeric form to promote their phosphorylation (389). As such, the direct binding of the lipid sphingosine to 14-3-3ζ isoform promotes its conversion to a monomer and its subsequent phosphorylation by PKA at Ser-58 (391).

## 1.6.2 14-3-3 binding motifs

14-3-3 proteins recognize and bind phosphoserine/phosphothreonine motifs on hundreds of substrates with the following sequences: Arg-Ser-Xaa-pSer/Thr-Xaa-Pro (mode I) and Arg-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-pSer-Xaa-Pro (mode II) (373,374,392). In addition, 14-3-3 proteins recognize and bind some C-terminally phosphorylated proteins bearing a rare motif pSer/pThr (X1-2)-COOH, referred to as the mode III-14-3-3 binding motif (393). While mode II binding motifs are frequent in plant 14-3-3 proteins, mode I motifs seemingly dominate in most 14-3-3 binding effectors (394). The phosphorylated motifs are generated by different Ser/Thr kinases including Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein

kinases (CaMK), protein kinase D (PKD), checkpoint kinase 1(Chk1), Chk2 and AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) (394). Nonetheless, the majority of mode I binding motifs are generated by AGC kinases such as ribosomal S6 kinases (RSKs), PKB/Akt and PIM kinases. These kinases require usually arginine residues at positions -5 and -3 of the phosphosite, although the phosphorylation of the motif is not always guaranteed and sometimes additional determinant-selection criteria are necessary for each kinase (394,395). Moreover, 14-3-3 proteins can bind unphosphorylated proteins and several studies reported phosphorylation-independent 14-3-3 binding sites. As such, the ExoS protein from the pathogenic bacterium *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* harbors a 14-3-3 binding motif (LLDALDLAS), necessary for the interaction with 14-3-3 proteins and pathogenesis (396). Similarly, an atypical motif RSX<sub>(1-3)</sub>E/D-like motif has been documented to bind 14-3-3 proteins with a comparable efficiency as that of the mode I RSXpSXP motif binding, wherein the negatively charged Asp and Glu are suggested to imitate the phosphoserine/threonine role in the binding (397).

#### 1.6.3 Role in cancer

Given that 14-3-3 proteins are key regulators in many cellular functions (e.g., programmed cell death, cell cycle regulation and DNA-damage repair) and major molecular integrators and crosslinks in different signaling networks, it is logical to find that abnormalities in their abundance and/or regulation are often associated with tumorigenesis. In general, it is the overexpression rather than the depletion of selected 14-3-3 isoforms that is associated to malignancy progression. For instance, elevated expression levels of the 14-3-3 isoforms  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\sigma$  and  $\zeta$  have been associated to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), whereas overexpression of the isoforms 14-3-3 $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  is linked to increased metastatic risk and poor patient prognosis (398-400). Similarly, 14-3-3 upregulation in various breast cancer patient tissues has been reported for several isoforms including 14-3-3  $\zeta$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\gamma$  (401). Additional examples documenting the association of increased 14-3-3 expression levels to specific cancers such as the 14-3-3  $\zeta$  in stomach and lung cancers, and 14-3-3 $\gamma$  in melanomas suggest a 14-3-3 isoform-expression signature in numerous tumors (398,402,403). Intriguingly, the

expression levels of this isoform are associated with tumorigenesis and cancer progression in various tumors including prostate, colorectal, pancreatic, ovarian and cervical cancers (404-406). Conversely, for many years  $14-3-3\sigma$  has been considered as a tumor suppressor and low expression levels are found in many cancers particularly those from epithelial origin such as lung and breast cancers (404,407-409). Overall, the 14-3-3 proteins are involved actively in tumorigenesis and their roles are complex and may vary between tissues and signaling pathways. While overexpression of many isoforms was shown to be proto-oncogenic in a wide range of human cancers, some other isoforms, such as 14-3-3 $\sigma$  seem to be either proto-oncogene or tumor suppressor depending on tumor localization and environment. Therefore, further studies are required for a better understanding and definition of the 14-3-3 proteins' roles in cancer.

## **1.7 Rationale and objectives**

CdGAP is a large-multidomain phosphoprotein required in early development which modulates, in a GAP activity-dependent and -independent manner, many essential cellular events including actin-cytoskeleton remodelling and cell motility. Additionally, both CdGAP protein expression and phosphorylation are modulated downstream of pro-survival signaling pathways including TGFβ, Ras-ERK1/2 MAPK and Akt/GSK3 signaling. Importantly, recent findings assign a proto-oncogenic role for CdGAP, whilst its high expression levels have been associated to tumor progression and metastasis in many human cancers, making it a promising therapeutic target for cancer. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying CdGAP roles remain elusive and need further investigation for a better understanding. Therefore, the goal of the present thesis was to investigate new CdGAP regulatory mechanisms by protein-protein interaction and phosphorylation, in two main objectives:

- 1) To identify novel CdGAP binding motifs which may be involved in the interaction between CdGAP and the endocytic protein, Intersectin
- To characterize novel CdGAP phosphorylation sites and investigate their role in CdGAP subcellular localization and activity

## **Preface to Chapter 2**

CdGAP contains an N-terminal GAP domain, a BR central region, and a PRD with an extended C-terminal region. Our previous work identified the endocytic protein Intersectin as a binding partner and a negative regulator of CdGAP. The interaction is mediated by the SH3D domain of Intersectin and the central domain of CdGAP, which does not contain any typical proline-rich domain or known SH3-binding motif. In this study, we investigate the residues in the BR region mediating the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D domain. Using an *in vitro* system, we identify an atypical SH3-binding motif in the BR region that is required for the CdGAP-Intersectin interaction. Moreover, we go on to demonstrate that the identified conserved motif is required for a full CdGAP activity.

## Chapter 2: Cdc42 GTPase-Activating Protein (CdGAP) interacts with the SH3D domain of Intersectin through a novel basic-rich motif

Martin Primeau, Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda, and Nathalie Lamarche-Vane. (2011). **FEBS letters**. 585(6):847-53.

## Abstract

The small GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 are key regulators of the cytoskeleton. We have previously identified the endocytic protein Intersectin as a binding partner and regulator of Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP) with activity towards Rac1 and Cdc42. This interaction is mediated through the SH3D domain of Intersectin and the central domain of CdGAP, which does not contain any typical proline-rich domain or known SH3-binding motif. Here, we have characterized the Intersectin-SH3D/CdGAP interaction. We show that Intersectin-SH3D interacts directly with a small region of CdGAP highly enriched in basic residues and comprising a novel conserved xKx(K/R)K motif.

#### Introduction

The Rho family of small GTPases, including Cdc42, Rac1, and RhoA, controls a wide variety of cellular processes ranging from cell proliferation, polarization, motility, and adhesion to intracellular membrane trafficking (410). These proteins function as molecular switches that cycle between an active GTP-bound and an inactive GDP-bound form. Three families of regulators tightly regulate this cycle. Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) activate GTPases by inducing the exchange of GDP for GTP, whereas guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors sequester and maintain inactive Rho GTPases in the cytoplasm (5). GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) increase the intrinsic GTPase activity, leading to inactivation of Rho GTPases (5,95).

CdGAP (Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein) promotes the inactivation of Rac1 and Cdc42 but not RhoA (288). It comprises a N-terminal GAP domain, a basic-rich (BR) central region, and a proline-rich domain (PRD) with an extended C-terminal domain [20]. We have previously identified CdGAP as a binding partner of the endocytic scaffolding protein Intersectin involved in clathrin-mediated endocytosis and cell signalling (345). Intersectin is composed of two N-terminal Eps-homology (EH) domains, a putative coil-coiled domain and five C-terminal SH3 domains (SH3 A-E) (411). Its neuronal splice-variant, Intersectin-1L, contains an additional GEF domain active towards Cdc42, followed by a C2 domain (412). Intersectin is targeted to clathrincoated pits through the interaction of its EH domains with epsin (413). Additionally, it can bind to various endocytic and signalling proteins, including dynamin, synaptojanin, Sos1, Numb, Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP), and CdGAP through a subset of its SH3 domains (412-417). Interestingly, we have previously found that the SH3D of Intersectin negatively regulates the GAP activity of CdGAP in vitro (345). Although CdGAP-PRD is required for the regulation of its GAP activity by Intersectin, this domain does not mediate CdGAP-Intersectin-SH3D interaction. In fact, Intersectin-SH3D interacts with the central region, lacking the conventional class I ([R/K]xXPxXP) or class II (XPxXPx[R/K]) SH3 binding motifs or other known SH3 binding motifs (418-423).

Therefore, we sought to determine which residues of CdGAP are responsible for the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D.

In this study, we demonstrate that Intersectin-SH3D directly associates with the BR region of CdGAP through a novel conserved SKSKK motif. This BR region is evolutionary conserved within CdGAP closest homologs and we show that the CdGAP-related protein ARHGAP30 is also able to interact with Intersectin-SH3D. Furthermore, the SKSKK motif is essential to CdGAP activity *in vitro*.

## **Materials and Methods**

## Plasmids

CdGAP constructs and pGEX4T1-actopaxin were described elsewhere (109,341,345). CdGAP deletion mutants were introduced into BamHI/XbaI of pRK5myc. For S<sup>35</sup>-methionine *in vitro* translation, CdGAP-(1-515) was subcloned into BamHI/XbaI of pCDNA3.1. The SH3D domain of mouse Intersectin (aa 1070-1131) was subcloned into BamHI/NotI of pGEX-4T3. ARHGAP30 and ARHGAP30 deletion mutants were amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using mouse ARHGAP30 cDNA (MGC:99989, Mammalian Gene Collection, NIH) and subcloned into BamHI/XbaI of pRK5myc. CdGAP point mutants were generated by a two-step overlap extension PCR strategy using pRK5myc-CdGAP-(1-515) as a template and according to standard protocols. The PCR fragments were subcloned into BamHI/XbaI of pRK5myc or into Cla1 of pEGFPC1-CdGAP (1-820). All plasmids were verified by sequencing.

## **Cell Culture and transfection**

HEK293 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and antibiotics and maintained in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified environment at 37°C. Cells were transfected with linear polyethylenimine (PEI) MW 25,000 (Polysciences) using a 1:5 ratio (DNA : PEI) or by calcium phosphate (424).

## GST pull-down assay

GST, GST-SH3D, and GST-actopaxin proteins were purified as previously described (341,345). HEK293 cells transfected with the various plasmids were lysed in 20 mM HEPES pH 7.4 and 1% Triton X-100 supplemented with 5 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 5 mM NaF, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and Complete<sup>™</sup> protease inhibitors. After a 10-minutes centrifugation, supernatants were incubated with 0.6 nmol of GST or GST-SH3D and glutathione-agarose beads for 2 hours at 4°C. Samples were washed three times in lysis buffer and bound proteins were submitted to SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis using anti-myc antibodies.

## *In vitro* <sup>35</sup>S-methionine translation

*In vitro* transcription and translation were performed using TNT<sup>®</sup> Quick Coupled Transcription/Translation Systems (Promega). Briefly, TNT Quick Master mix was incubated with 1 µg of pCDNA-CdGAP(1-515) and 63 µCi of [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine in a total volume of 50 µL at 30°C for 90 minutes. Fractions of the reaction mix (15 µL) were incubated with 20 µg of GST, GST-SH3D or GST-actopaxin coupled to glutathione-agarose beads, and GST pull-down assays were performed as described above. Bound proteins were submitted to SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and stained with Coomassie Blue. <sup>35</sup>S-methionine labelled proteins were detected by Phospholmager analysis (PerkinElmer).

#### Peptide overlay assay

A total of 20 overlapping 15-mer peptides corresponding to CdGAP (249-358) were synthesized directly on a cellulose membrane from their C-terminus (JPT Peptide Technologies GmbH, Berlin, Germany). The membrane was washed once in 100% ethanol and three times in TBS buffer (50 mM TrisHCl pH 8.0, 137 mM NaCl and 2.7 mM KCl) before incubation in blocking buffer (BSA 2% w/v in TBS buffer). The membrane was incubated overnight at 4°C with GST or GST-SH3D (1.4 µmol/mL) in blocking buffer, washed in T-TBS buffer (TBS buffer supplemented with 0.05% Tween-20), and incubated with anti-GST-HRP antibody (GE Healthcare). After several washes, the membrane was subjected to chemiluminescent reaction using Western Lightning Plus-ECL detection kit (Perkin Elmer).

## In vitro GAP assays

HEK293 cells were transfected with either pRK5-myc, pRK5-mycCdGAP (1-515), pRK5-mycCdGAP(1-515)(SaSaa), pEGFPC1, pEGFPC1-CdGAP(1-820), or pEGFPC1-CdGAP(1-820)(SaSaa) using Lipofectamine 2000 as per manufacturer. 36h post-transfection, myc-tagged or GFP-tagged proteins were immunoprecipitated using antimyc or –CdGAP antibodies [20] as described previously [5]. The amount of immunoprecipitated myc-tagged CdGAP was estimated on Coomassie Blue-stained SDS-PAGE by comparison with different amount of purified bovine serum albumin. Immunoprecipitated GFP-tagged CdGAP was quantified using a Victor X3 2030 Multilabel Reader spectrofluorimeter (PerkinElmer). According to this estimation, 500ng of immunoprecipitated CdGAP was used for the in vitro GAP assays, as described previously [5].

## Results

To investigate the interaction between CdGAP and Intersectin-SH3D, we first determined whether the association is direct using an *in vitro* translation assay. A fragment corresponding to the N-terminal 515 amino acids of CdGAP was expressed as a <sup>35</sup>S-methionine-labeled protein and incubated in a GST pull-down assay using GST-Intersectin-SH3D or GST-actopaxin as a positive control. The focal adhesion protein actopaxin has previously been shown to interact with a region of CdGAP corresponding to the first 515 amino acids (341). As shown in Fig.2.1A, we found that CdGAP(1-515) binds to both Intersectin-SH3D and actopaxin but not GST, suggesting that the interaction between CdGAP and Intersectin-SH3D is direct. To further define the region of CdGAP binding to Intersectin-SH3D, protein lysates of HEK293 cells expressing various myc-tagged CdGAP deletion mutant proteins were incubated with GST-Intersectin-SH3D immobilized on glutathione-agarose beads (Fig. 2.1B and C). We found that Intersectin-SH3D was able to interact with CdGAP-(1-515), -(1-358), -(254-515), and -(181-358), all encompassing the BR region of CdGAP. On the contrary, CdGAP-(1-312) and CdGAP-(313-515) did not bind to Intersectin-SH3D. Therefore, these results show that an intact BR region is required to mediate the Intersectin-SH3D-CdGAP interaction.

To further define the amino acid motif within the BR region that mediates Intersectin-SH3D/CdGAP interaction, we used a peptide overlay assay comprising 20 overlapping peptides (15-mers), corresponding to the amino acid sequence of the BR region (249-358), immobilized on a cellulose membrane and incubated with purified GST-Intersectin-SH3D or GST proteins as a negative control (Fig.2.2). Interestingly, we found that 8 consecutive peptides corresponding to residues 284 to 333 were able to specifically bind to Intersectin-SH3D with different affinities (Fig.2.2). The interaction

between peptide 10 (residues 294-308) and 14 (residues 314-328) with Intersectin-SH3D showed the strongest affinity. Interestingly, amino acid sequence analysis of the peptides revealed a common SKSK motif, suggesting that these residues are important for the interaction between Intersectin-SH3D and CdGAP.

Furthermore, a close analysis of the amino acid sequences of CdGAP and its protein homologs ARHGAP30, ARHGAP32/GRIT, and ARHGAP33/Noma-GAP revealed that the BR region is highly conserved amongst the CdGAP-related proteins (Fig. 2.3A). In particular, the positively charged residues of the SKSK motif are present in all CdGAP-related proteins (Fig. 2.3A). To determine whether the BR domain of other CdGAP-related proteins is able to interact with Intersectin-SH3D, we examined the interaction between Intersectin-SH3D and ARHGAP30. Indeed, myc-tagged ARHGAP30 expressed in HEK293 cells was able to interact with Intersectin-SH3D (Fig. 2.3B). Moreover, ARHGAP30 (1-334) containing the N-terminus GAP domain followed by the BR region bound to Intersectin-SH3D whereas ARHGAP30 (335-1092) lacking the BR domain was not able to interact with Intersectin-SH3D (Fig. 2.3B and C). Thus, these results suggest that the conserved BR domain within CdGAP-related proteins mediates the interaction CdGAP/Intersectin-SH3D.

We then performed alanine-scanning mutagenesis to identify which residues in the BR region of CdGAP mediate the interaction with SH3D. Based on the amino acid sequence similarity between ARHGAP30 and CdGAP, CdGAP point mutants were generated by amino acid substitution of conserved residues (Fig. 2.4A). We found that the interaction between Intersectin-SH3D and CdGAP point mutant 2 was significantly impaired compared with the binding of intersectin-SH3D to other CdGAP point mutants (Fig. 2.4B and C). Interestingly, this CdGAP point mutant 2 has its positively charged lysines replaced by alanines in the first SKSKK motif, previously identified using the peptide overlay assay (Fig. 2.2). However, replacement of the lysines by alanines in the second SKSK motif (CdGAP point mutant 7) did not alter the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D. Altogether, these results show that the SKSKK motif corresponding to residues 296-300 in the BR region of CdGAP is a novel SH3-binding sequence that mediates the interaction of CdGAP with the SH3D of Intersectin.

We then examined if the SKSKK motif is important for the regulation of CdGAP activity. In an *in vitro* GAP assay, [g<sup>32</sup>P]-GTP-loaded Rac1 was incubated with myc-tagged CdGAP(1-515) or CdGAP(1-515) (SaSaa) immunoprecipitated from HEK293 cell lysates. We observed a reduction in the GAP activity of CdGAP(1-515) (SaSaa) compared with the wild-type protein (Fig.2.5A). However, when point mutations of the SKSKK motif were introduced into the full length CdGAP protein (1-820), the GAP activity of the mutant protein was inhibited (Fig.2.5B). In the presence of GST-SH3D, the GAP activity of CdGAP(1-820) was reduced as previously shown [5] but it has no major effect on the mutant protein (Fig.2.5C). Therefore, these results show that the SKSKK motif is important for the regulation of CdGAP activity *in vitro*.

## Discussion

In this study, we have identified key amino acid residues involved in the direct binding of the SH3D domain of Intersectin with CdGAP. These findings suggest that evolutionary conserved lysine residues located within the BR region of CdGAP and its related protein homologs are central to a novel atypical SH3 binding motif xKx(K/R)K. It is well established that most of the SH3 domains characterized to date bind to conventional class I ([R/K]xXPxXP) or class II (XPxXPx[R/K]) peptide motifs (418,419). However, a growing number of atypical motifs containing or not a proline residue have been discovered over the past years. These include the PxxxPR motif recognized by CIN85 in a number of proteins (420), the PxxDY motif that associates with Eps8 SH3 domain (421), the RKxxY motif in SKAP55 that mediates its interaction with the C-SH3 domain of SLAP (422), and the RxxK motif in SLP-76 bound by the C-SH3 domain of Gads (423). Most of these motifs share with the novel identified xKx(K/R)K motif the presence of key basic residues. In contrast to other SH3 domains (A, B, C, and E) of Intersectin that interact with a large number of proteins though the consensus PXXP sequence (412-414), only CdGAP and the adaptor protein Numb have been shown to interact with the SH3D domain of Intersectin. It is noteworthy that the C-terminus of mouse Numb involved in the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D (416) also contains the residues SKSKQ, adding support to

the findings that the novel xKx(K/R)K motif mediates the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D. Although the peptide overlay assay suggests that the second SKSK motif may be involved in the CdGAP/Intersectin-SH3D interaction (Fig.2.2), the alanine scanning mutagenesis experiment shows that only the first SKSKK motif is essential to mediate the interaction with SH3D (Fig.2.4). In this experiment, CdGAP proteins expressed in HEK293 cells may have post-translational modifications, absent in the synthesized peptides, that could alter the interaction with SH3D and account for the discrepancy between the two results. In support of these findings, we demonstrate that the critical SKSKK motif regulates the GAP activity of CdGAP in vitro. Indeed, the replacement of the lysine residues by alanines in the full-length protein CdGAP (1-820) is sufficient to inhibit the GAP activity. Interestingly, point mutations of the SKSKK motif in the shorter protein CdGAP(1-515) lacking the PRD slightly affect the GAP activity, suggesting that the PRD is required for this regulation. These data are in good agreement with our previous study showing that the PRD of CdGAP is required for Intersectin-mediated regulation of CdGAP activity [5].

In addition, it has been reported that the SH3 domains of Intersectin-1L regulate the GEF activity of Intersectin towards Cdc42 through intramolecular interactions with the adjacent DH-PH-C2 domains that do not involve proline peptide binding (416,425). The interaction of Numb with Intersectin-SH3D relieves this autoinhibitory mechanism, resulting in a net activation of Cdc42 activity (416). It will be of interest to determine whether CdGAP binding to the SH3D domain of Intersectin can also act as a positive regulator of the GEF activity of Intersectin-1L towards Cdc42. Combined with the negative regulation of CdGAP activity by Intersectin SH3 domains (345), these SH3 interactions would result in a net activation of Cdc42 activity. Future studies will determine how these molecular interactions are orchestrated in a spatial and temporal manner to affect Cdc42 activity in a physiological context.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP-84449. M.P was a recipient of a Canada Graduate Scholarship administered by CIHR. N.L.-V. is a recipient of FRSQ Chercheur-Boursier National.

## Figure 1



SH3D binding



# Figure 2.1 – An intact BR domain of CdGAP is required to bind to Intersectin-SH3D.

(A) *In vitro* [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine translated CdGAP (1-515) was incubated with GST, GST-SH3D or GST-actopaxin coupled to glutathione-agarose beads in a GST pull down assay. 5% of the starting material (S.M.) was loaded in the first lane. (B) Myc-tagged deletion mutants of CdGAP expressed in HEK293 cells were incubated with GST or GST-SH3D proteins coupled to glutathione-agarose beads in a GST pull down assay. CdGAP was revealed by western blotting using anti-myc antibodies. 2% of starting material (S.M.) was loaded in the first lane. (B) Schematic representation of mouse full-length CdGAP (a.a. 1-1425) and CdGAP deletion mutants. +: polybasic residue cluster, GAP: GTPase-activating Protein, BR: basic-rich, PRD: proline-rich domain.

## Figure 2



 $247 - \text{LVSLEEAQARSLATNHPARKERRENSLPEIVPPPFHTVLELPINKRKLS{\texttt{KKKKKSIFNLGRSGSD}{KKKLSRNGSVFVRQRLSVEKATIR-339}$ 

- 8 -----VLELPDNKRKLS8K8 9 -----DNKRKLS8K8KKWKS
- 10 -----LS**BKBK**WKSIFNLG
- 11 -----KKWKSIFNLGRSGSD

12 -----IFNLGRSGSD8K8KL

- 13 -----RSGSD**SKSKL**SRNGS
- 14 -----BKSKLSRNGSVFVRG
- 15 -----SRNGSVFVRGQRLSV

## Figure 2.2 – Peptide overlay assay with GST-SH3D.

The C-terminus of twenty 15-mer overlapping peptides corresponding to amino acids 249-358 of CdGAP were covalently bound to a cellulose membrane as per manufacturer. The membrane was incubated with GST or GST-SH3D proteins and bound proteins were revealed using an anti-GST-HRP antibody. Protein sequence alignment of peptides 8 to 15 is shown. Two distinct SKSK motifs are highlighted in bold.

## Figure 3

А

Mm	CdGAP	254- QARSLATNHPARKERRENSLPEIVPPPFHTVLELPDNKRKLSSKSKKWKSIFNLG-308
Hs	CdGAP	254- QARSLATNHPARKERRENSLPEIV-PPMGTLFHTVLELPDNKRKLSSKSKKWKSIFNLG-311
Hs	ARHGAP30	245-MPRPLPYHLPSILQAGDGPPQMRPYHTIIEIAEHKRKGSLKVRKWRSIFNLG-296
Hs	ARHGAP32	604-QARTQAQVNSPIVTENKYIEVGEGPAALQGKFHTIIEFPLERKRPQNKMKKSPVGSWRSFFNLG-667
Hs	ARHGAP33	549- QARTQGRLGTPTEPTTPKAPASPAERRKGERGEKQRKPGGSSWKTFFALG-598

Mm	CdGAP	309-	RSGSDSKSK-LSRNGSVFVRGQRLSVEKATIRPAKSMDSLCS-VPVEGKENK -358
Hs	CdGAP	312-	RSGSDSKSK-LSRNGSVFVRGQRLSVEKATIRPAKSMDSLCS-VPVEGKETK -361
Hs	ARHGAP30	297-	RSGHETKRK-LPRGAEDREDKSNKGTLRPAKSMDSLSA-AAGASDEPE = 343
Hs	ARHGAP32	668-	KSSSVSKRK-LQRNESEPSEMKAMALKGGRAE-GTLRSAKSEESLTSLHAVDGDSKL -722
Hs	ARHGAP33	599-	RGP SVPRKKPLPWLG GTRAPPQPSGSRPDTVTLRSAKSEESL SSQASGAGL -649



С



# Figure 2.3 – Intersectin-SH3D interacts with the CdGAP-related protein ARHGAP30.

(A) Amino acid alignment of the BR region of mouse and human CdGAP with protein homologs. Conserved amino acids are highlighted in bold. (B) Myc-tagged CdGAP, ARHGAP30, and ARHGAP30 deletion mutants were transiently expressed in HEK293 cells and protein lysates were incubated with GST or GST-SH3D proteins coupled with glutathione-agarose beads. GST pull down proteins were revealed by western blotting using anti-myc antibodies. 2% of starting material (s.m.) was loaded as a control. (C) Schematic representation of mouse full-length CdGAP (a.a. 1-1425) and ARHGAP30. +: polybasic residue cluster, GAP: GTPase-activating Protein, BR: basic-rich, PRD: proline-rich domain.

## Figure 4

CdGAP ARHGAP30		288-PDNKRKLSEKKKKSIFNLGRSGSDEKERLSRNGSVFVRGDRLSVEKATIRPAKSMDSLCSVFVEGKENK-358
		276-AENKREGSLEVEKNRSIFNLGRSGHETKRELPLRVEDREEKSSEGTLRPAKSNDSLSAAAGASDEPE-343
.CdGAP	(K291A, R292A, K293A)	288-FONMAMLSEKENKSIFNLGRSGSDEKEKISRNGSVFVRGQRLSVEKATIRPAKEMDSLCSVFVEGKENK-358
.CdGAP	(K297A, K299A, K300A)	288-PDNKRKLSGagaawksIfnlgrsgsdgroklsrngsvfvrgqrlsveratireaksmdslcsvpvegkerk-358
.CdGAP	(W301A)	288-PONKRKLSBKBKKAKSIYNLGRSGSDBKBKLSRNGSVYVRGQRLSVEKATIRPAKSMDSLCSVPVEGKENK-358
.CdGAP	(K302A, S303A)	288-PDNKRKLSBEREN an I FNLGREGEDBEBELERNGEVPVRGORLEVEKATI REAKEMDELCEVPVEGREENK-358
.CdGAP	(B04A, F305A, L307A)	288-PONKRKLSSKKKKKKKAAAGRSGSDSKSKLSRNGSVFVRGGRLSVEKATIRPAKSMDSLCSVFVEGRENK-358
.CdGAP	(R309A)	288-PONKRKLSEKEKWKSIFNLG&SGSDEKEKLSENGSVFVRGORLSVEKATIRPAKEMDSLCSVPVEGKENK-358
.CdGAP	(D313A, S314A, K315A, S316A, K317A, L318A)	288-ponnrkls <b>gksk</b> inksipnlgrsgs <b>eeres</b> srgsvfvrgorlsvekatirpaksmoslcsvpvrgkenk-358
3.CdGAP	(K335A, T337A, 1338A, R339A)	288- FONKRKLSEKEKKKSIFNLGRSGSDEKEKLSRNGSVFVRGQRLSVE&RammpaksmdslcsvfvEgkenk-358
. CdGAP	(K342A, S343A, D345A, S346A, L347A)	288-PDNKRKLSEKENNKSIPHLGRSGSDEKENLSENGSVPVRGQRLSVEKATIRFAmmamcSVPVEGKENK-358
4 2 3 4 5 7	dGAP RHGAP3 .CdGAP .CdGAP .CdGAP .CdGAP .CdGAP .CdGAP .CdGAP	dGAP RHGAP30 .CdGAP (K291A, R292A, K293A) .CdGAP (K297A, K299A, K300A) .CdGAP (W301A) .CdGAP (K302A, S303A) .CdGAP (B04A, F305A, L307A) .CdGAP (B04A, F305A, L307A) .CdGAP (B34A, F305A, L307A) .CdGAP (M335A, T337A, 1338A, R339A) .CdGAP (K342A, S343A, D345A, S346A, L347A)

В



С



76 | Page

# Figure 2.4 – The basic residues in the first SKSK motif are required for the interaction between CdGAP and Intersectin-SH3D.

(A) Amino acid sequence alignment of the BR domains of CdGAP and ARHGAP30. CdGAP point mutants have been generated by alanine scanning mutagenesis based on the conserved residues between CdGAP and ARHGAP30. (B) Myc-tagged wild-type (WT) CdGAP (1-515) and CdGAP point mutants 1-9 expressed in HEK293 cells were incubated with GST or GST-SH3D proteins coupled to glutathione-agarose beads. Proteins specifically bound to the beads were revealed by western blotting using an anti-myc antibody. 2% of starting material (S.M.) was loaded as a control. (C) Quantitative analysis of blots as in (B), showing the relative ratio of CdGAP point mutants bound to GST-SH3D. A ratio of bound to total proteins was calculated for each myc-tagged protein and is represented relative to wild-type (WT) CdGAP (1-515). Error bars represent standard errors of the mean for at least five independent experiments. P value was determined by unpaired student's *t* test. Figure 5



## Figure 2.5 – The SKSKK motif is critical for the GAP activity of CdGAP in vitro.

[ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-GTP loaded Rac1 was incubated with myc-tagged immunoprecipitated CdGAP proteins (A) or with GFP-tagged immunoprecipitated CdGAP proteins (B and C) and a GAP assay was performed. (C) The *in vitro* GAP assay was performed in the presence of 10um GST or GST-SH3D. Error bars represent standard errors of the mean for at least three independent experiments.

## **Preface to Chapter 3**

CdGAP is highly phosphorylated in its BR region, PBR and CT regions in response to growth factor stimulation, and is predicted to be a phosphorylation target of many protein kinases. In addition, numerous phosphoproteomic studies identified several potential phosphorylation sites on CdGAP in different cellular environments, suggesting regulatory roles of the phosphorylation. Despite these data, the function of CdGAP phosphorylation remains unknown and this led us to investigate CdGAP phosphorylation in the context of growth factor stimulation. To do so, we used cellular models and different biochemical and imaging techniques to map, identify and characterize the role of potential CdGAP phospho-residues. Using site-directed mutagenesis we were able to identify two conserved phosphorylated residues. Furthermore, we go on to identify a novel function of CdGAP phosphorylation involving the recruitment of adaptor 14-3-3 family members leading to the regulation of CdGAP activity and subcellular localization.

# Chapter 3: CdGAP/ARHGAP31 is regulated by RSK phosphorylation and binding to 14-3-3β adaptor protein

Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda, Viviane Calabrese, Yi He, Hidetaka Ishii, Rony Chidiac, Jean-Philippe Gratton, Philippe P. Roux and Nathalie Lamarche-Vane. (2016). Submitted to **Molecular Biology of the Cell** 

## ABSTRACT

Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP, also named ARHGAP31) is a negative regulator of the small GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42. Associated with the rare developmental disorder Adams-Oliver Syndrome (AOS), CdGAP is critical for embryonic vascular development and for VEGF-mediated angiogenesis. Moreover, CdGAP is an essential component in the synergistic interaction between the TGF<sup>β</sup> and Neu/ErbB-2 signaling pathways during breast cancer cell migration and invasion. CdGAP is highly phosphorylated on serine and threonine residues in response to growth factors and is a substrate of ERK and GSK-3. Here, we identified two residues, Ser1093 and Ser1163, in the C-terminal region of CdGAP, which are phosphorylated by RSK (p90 ribosomal protein S6 kinase) in response to phorbol ester (PMA). These phospho-residues create docking sites for binding to 14-3-3 adaptor proteins. The interaction between CdGAP and 14-3-3 proteins impairs the GAP activity of CdGAP and sequesters CdGAP into the cytoplasm. Consequently, the nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of CdGAP is inhibited and CdGAP-induced cell rounding is abolished. Furthermore, we show that 14-3-3 is unable to regulate the activity and subcellular localization of the AOS-related mutant proteins lacking these phospho-residues. Altogether, we provide a novel mechanism of regulation of CdGAP activity and subcellular localization, which impacts directly on a better understanding of the role of CdGAP in the molecular causes of AOS.

#### INTRODUCTION

The Rho family of small GTPases holds central functions in cell proliferation, migration, and adhesion (426,427). Alterations in *Rho* genes are linked to many human cancers and indicate a role in tumor invasion and metastasis (46,428,429). Rho proteins act as molecular switches by cycling between an active GTP- and an inactive GDP-bound state. This GDP/GTP exchange is regulated by guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), which induce the replacement of GDP by GTP, guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) binding and sequestering the GDP-bound form of the GTPase in the cytoplasm, and finally GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) that stimulate the intrinsic GTPase activity, leading to deactivation of the GTPase (6,48,95).

Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP, also known as ARHGAP31), a member of the large family of RhoGAPs, negatively regulates the activity of Rac1 and Cdc42, but not RhoA (323,337). Recently, the loss of CdGAP in mice unveiled the importance of CdGAP in embryonic vascular development (339). CdGAP has also been shown to control directional membrane protrusions of migrating osteosarcoma cells (341,356,357). In addition, CdGAP mediates transforming growth factor (TGF<sub>β</sub>)- and ErbB2-induced cell motility and invasion of breast cancer cells in a GAP-independent manner (128). Of interest, a quantitative RNA profile analysis of Rho GTPases and their regulators in ErbB2-induced mouse breast tumors revealed Rac1 and CdGAP as the major GTPase and RhoGAP expressed in these tumors, respectively (364). CdGAP is a large protein, comprising several regulatory domains, each of them being associated with a specific function. Notably, CdGAP consists of an N-terminal GAP domain preceded by a stretch of polybasic residues (PBR) binding to phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5trisphosphate (PI (3,4,5) P3) that regulates its GAP activity by targeting the protein at the plasma membrane (36). The N-terminal GAP domain is followed by a basic-rich (BR) central region, a proline-rich domain (PRD) with an extended C-terminal region. The BR region interacts through an atypical basic-rich motif with the SH3D domain of

the endocytic scaffolding protein intersectin leading to inhibition of CdGAP activity (342,343) while the PRD is responsible for the ability of CdGAP to facilitate TGFβmediated cell motility and invasion of breast cancer cells (128). Furthermore, truncating mutations in the terminal exon of the CdGAP gene have been identified in patients with a rare developmental disorder, the Adams-Oliver Syndrome (AOS), characterized by the combination of aplasia cutis congenita (ACC) and limb defects (340,360,430). These mutations result in the removal of the C-terminal region and part of the PRD of CdGAP, which increase the GAP activity of the truncated proteins through a gain-offunction mechanism (340). CdGAP is highly phosphorylated on serine and threonine residues in response to growth factors and is a substrate of extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK)/GSK-3. Indeed, phosphorylation of T776 in the PRD by ERK1/2 and GSK-3 negatively regulates the GAP activity of CdGAP (108,109). CdGAP was also found to interact with members of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway, ERK1/2 and p90 ribosomal protein S6 kinase (RSK) (109). Mutations of key residues in the ERK docking site impair ERK binding and phosphorylation of CdGAP (109). Here we report the identification of two important serine residues S1093 and S1163 phosphorylated by RSK, which creates 14-3-3 docking sites in the Cterminal region of CdGAP. We show that 14-3-3β interacts with CdGAP through these phosphoserines and sequesters the protein into the cytoplasm, which inhibits the nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of CdGAP, cell rounding, and its GAP activity towards Rac1. In this way, we highlight a novel mechanism of regulation of CdGAP and we provide mechanistic insights into understanding the function of the C-terminal region of CdGAP, lacking in the truncated mutants expressed in AOS patients.

#### RESULTS

## CdGAP is a substrate of the AGC family kinases in response to growth factors and mitogens

To determine if AGC family kinases, such as Akt and RSK (431,432), phosphorylate CdGAP in response to agonists of the Ras/MAPK pathway, we used the phosphorylation site-specific antibody recognizing the consensus motif Arg/Lys-X-Arg/Lys-X-PSer/Thr (RXRXXpS/T) found in substrates of the AGC family kinases (431,432). COS-7 fibroblast cells transfected with GFP-tagged CdGAP were serum-starved overnight before stimulation with TGF $\beta$ , serum, or phorbol ester (phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate, PMA) for 5 to 30 minutes before harvesting. Immunoprecipitated CdGAP was then examined for phosphorylation by immunoblotting using the anti-RXRXXpS/T antibodies. CdGAP phosphorylation at the basic consensus motif was increased in response to the agonists and peaked at 30 minutes after stimulation (Fig. 3.1 A-F).

We next investigated whether endogenous CdGAP is phosphorylated by AGC kinases in response to TGF $\beta$  stimulation of mammary epithelial cells. We found that CdGAP phosphorylation at the basic consensus motif was significantly increased after 30 minutes of TGF $\beta$  stimulation (Fig. 3.1G and H). CdGAP phosphorylation was concomitant with the phosphorylation of RSK (T359/S363) and Smad2/3 (Fig. 3.1I and J), suggesting that activation of RSK by the canonical TGF $\beta$  pathway may be responsible of CdGAP phosphorylation on basic consensus motifs. Altogether, these data demonstrate that CdGAP is a substrate of the AGC family kinases, which likely implicate RSK activation in response to growth factor and mitogen stimulation.

#### Identification of S1093 and S1163 as RSK-dependent phosphorylation sites

Because we have previously shown that RSK interacts and directly phosphorylates CdGAP *in vitro* (109), we next sought to determine whether RSK phosphorylates CdGAP at the basic consensus sites. COS-7 cells were co-transfected with GFP-CdGAP and wild-type (WT) RSK1, kinase-deficient (KD) RSK1, or constitutively active (CA) RSK1. RSK1-CA induced a robust CdGAP phosphorylation at the basic consensus motif compared to RSK1-WT (Fig. 3.2A and B). RSK1-KD, which retains some ability to autophosphorylate (433), did not significantly increase CdGAP phosphorylation, relative to the amount of total immunoprecipitated CdGAP (Fig. 3.2A and B). Additionally, we used an RSK inhibitor (BI-D1870) that selectively blocks RSK activity (434). Treatment of cells with BI-D1870 prior to PMA stimulation significantly reduced CdGAP phosphorylation at the basic consensus site (Fig. 3.2C and D). Taken together, these results demonstrate that RSK induces CdGAP phosphorylation at basic consensus sites in response to PMA.

To identify CdGAP residues phosphorylated by RSK, we analyzed the basic consensus residues surrounding all Ser/Thr amino acids in the CdGAP protein sequence, with at least one Arg residue in the -3 position. According to the RSK consensus phosphorylation sequence determined using an oriented peptide library (435), we identified 8 potential phosphorylation sites (Table 1). Based on the number of phosphoproteomic studies reporting these potential CdGAP phosphorylation sites (http://www.phosphosite.org/), we chose to replace each of these 4 residues Ser272, Ser765, Ser1093, and Ser1163 to an alanine residue. We found that the mutation of Ser272 and Ser765 located in the BR and PRD, respectively, did not significantly affect CdGAP phosphorylation compared to wild-type CdGAP in response to PMA treatment of COS-7 cells using anti-RXRXXpSer/Thr antibodies (Fig. 3.2E). However, the phosphorylation of CdGAP-S1093A and -S1163A was significantly reduced compared to wild-type CdGAP in response to PMA treatment whereas the phosphorylation of the double mutant CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A was almost completely absent (Fig. 3.2C and D). Furthermore, phosphorylation of the double mutant CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A on the basic consensus motif was completely inhibited in the presence of wild-type or constitutively active RSK1 compared to wild-type CdGAP (Fig. 3.2A and B). Treatment of the cells with the RSK inhibitor BI-D1870 prior to PMA completely inhibited the phosphorylation of the single mutants and the double mutant CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A (Fig. 3.2C and D). Collectively, these data demonstrate that Ser1093 and Ser1163

located in the C-terminal region of CdGAP are major phosphorylation sites targeted by RSK in response to PMA stimulation.

## 14-3-3 adaptor proteins isoforms $\beta$ and $\sigma$ interact with CdGAP

Because the minimum RSK consensus motif RXXpSer/Thr overlaps with the 14-3-3 mode 1 binding site RXXpSer/ThrXP (373,374,392), we next investigated whether CdGAP interacts with 14-3-3 proteins. Myc-tagged CdGAP was expressed in HEK293 cells and subjected to a GST-14-3-3 pull-down. Consistent with a phospho-dependent interaction, CdGAP interacted with wild-type 14-3-3 to but not with the mutant 14-3-3εK49E, which shows reduced binding to phosphorylated substrates (374) (Fig. 3.3A). Then, we examined which 14-3-3 isoforms interact with CdGAP in coimmunoprecipitation assays. Myc-tagged CdGAP was immunoprecipitated from HEK293 cells expressing Myc-CdGAP together with the HA-tagged 14-3-3 isoforms. CdGAP interacted specifically with 14-3-3 $\beta$  and  $\sigma$  isoforms (Fig. 3.3B). Similarly, immunoprecipitated HA-tagged 14-3-3 isoforms showed an interaction between 14-3-3β or  $\sigma$  with CdGAP (Fig. 3.3C). To delineate the regions of CdGAP permitting the association between CdGAP and 14-3-3, GFP-CdGAP deletion mutants (Fig. 3.4A) were expressed in COS-7 cells and the interaction with 14-3-3<sup>β</sup> was assessed by immunoprecipitation in unstimulated or PMA-treated cells (Fig. 3.4B). In this assay, the N-terminal PBR-GAP fragment (1-221), the BR (181-515) and C-terminal domains (1083-1425) but not the PRD (516-820) interacted with 14-3-3β (Fig. 3.4B). However, we did not observe an increased interaction in PMA-stimulated cells (Fig. 3.4B). We next examined the interaction between 14-3-3ß and CdGAP phospho-mutants coexpressed in COS-7 cells unstimulated or treated with PMA. CdGAP-S272A was still able to interact with 14-3-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 3.4C), suggesting that this basic consensus motif was not responsible for the binding of CdGAP-BR to 14-3-3<sup>β</sup>. Conversely, the interaction between CdGAP double mutant S1093A/S1163A and 14-3-3β was greatly reduced compared to wild-type CdGAP or to each single CdGAP mutant in unstimulated and PMA-treated cells (Fig. 3.4D and E). Therefore, these results show that the RSK-

dependent phosphorylation residues S1093 and S1163 in the C-terminal region of CdGAP create 14-3-3 binding sites.

# 14-3-3β regulates CdGAP subcellular localization and inhibits CdGAP-mediated cell rounding

We have previously demonstrated that the expression of CdGAP in various cell types induces cell rounding in a GAP-dependent manner (36,288,340,341). Thus, we assessed whether 14-3-3ß regulates the ability of CdGAP to induce cell rounding and its subcellular localization by microscopy. Wild-type CdGAP was expressed alone or with 14-3-3 $\beta$  into fibroblast cells and the percentage of cells showing a rounded phenotype was determined (Fig. 3.5). As previously reported, CdGAP-WT induced cell rounding in 45% of transfected cells compared to 20% of control GFP-transfected cells (Fig. 3.5A and B). Co-expression of 14-3-3ß and CdGAP-WT abolished the ability of CdGAP to induce cell rounding, showing a flat and elongated phenotype (Fig. 3.5A and B). In addition, we determined that CdGAP showed a nuclear localization in 35% of transfected cells (Fig. 3.5A and C) whereas the expression of 14-3-3<sup>β</sup> with CdGAP significantly reduced the nuclear localization of CdGAP to 15% of transfected cells (Fig. 3.5A and C). We assessed the degree of co-association of 14-3-3ß and CdGAP in the cytoplasm by calculation of the mean Pearson's correlation coefficient between 14-3-3β and CdGAP. By this mean, we observed a significant colocalization of CdGAP with 14- $3-3\beta$  in the cytoplasm (r=0.55+/-0.06) (Fig. 3.5D). We next examine the effect of 14-3-3β on the localization of the double mutant CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A and its ability to induce cell rounding. Similar to wild-type CdGAP, the mutant CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A induced cell rounding in 45% of transfected cells (Fig. 3.5A and B). However, the expression of 14-3-3β with the double mutant did not affect its ability to induce cell rounding (Fig. 3.5A and B). Furthermore, 14-3-3ß did not affect the percentage of transfected cells with CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A nuclear localization (Fig. 3.5A and C) and consequently, 14-3-3β did not colocalize with CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A (r=0.10+/-0.02) (Fig. 3.5D). Together, these data show that 14-3-3β sequesters CdGAP into the cytoplasm and inhibits its ability to induce cell rounding, which is dependent on the RSK-dependent phosphorylation sites Ser1093 and Ser1163.

# 14-3-3 $\beta$ docking sites negatively regulate the GAP activity of CdGAP towards Rac1

We next sought to determine whether 14-3-3ß directly modulates CdGAP activity towards Rac1. To this end, we performed pull-down assays with the Cdc42/Rac1 interactive binding (CRIB) domain of PAK fused to GST to assess the levels of active GTP-Rac1 in HEK293 cell extracts. As expected, overexpression of CdGAP led to a significant reduction in GTP-Rac1 levels (p < 0.05), whereas 14-3-3 $\beta$  had no significant effect on GTP-Rac1 levels alone (P= 0.45) (Fig. 3.6A and B). However, the expression of 14-3-3β with CdGAP resulted in the inhibition of CdGAP activity with higher levels of GTP-Rac1 (P< 0.05) (Fig. 3.6A and B). To examine whether the 14-3-3β docking sites in the C-terminal region of CdGAP regulate CdGAP activity, we determined the GAP activity of the double mutant CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A alone or with 14-3-3β. The expression of CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A resulted in a significant higher GAP activity with lower levels of GTP-Rac1 (P < 0.01), whereas co-expression with 14-3-3β did not significantly modulate its GAP activity (Fig. 3.6A and B). Together with the previous findings that 14-3-3β abolished CdGAP-mediated cell rounding (Fig. 3.5A and B), these results support the hypothesis that 14-3-3β inhibits the GAP activity of CdGAP towards Rac1 through interaction with the RSK-dependent phosphorylation sites Ser1093 and Ser1163.

## The AOS-related CdGAP mutant proteins show a reduced interaction with 14-3-3β

Because the AOS-related CdGAP-Q683X and –K1087Sx4 mutants are lacking the C-terminal region and show an increased GAP activity (340), we next determined the interaction between 14-3-3 $\beta$  and the AOS-related CdGAP mutant proteins in coimmunoprecipitation assays (Fig. 3.7A). Myc-tagged human CdGAP (hCdGAP) wildtype, CdGAP-Q683X or –K1087Sx4 were immunoprecipitated from COS-7 cells expressing HA-tagged 14-3-3 $\beta$ . Both AOS-related CdGAP mutants showed a reduced, but not completely abolished, interaction with 14-3-3 $\beta$  compared to the wild-type
hCdGAP (Fig. 3.7A). Consistent with the previous findings that 14-3-3 $\beta$  can also interact with the N-terminal GAP and BR of mouse CdGAP (Fig. 3.4B), these data suggest that 14-3-3 $\beta$  association with human CdGAP may be in part mediated by the N-terminus and BR, though the C-terminal region of human CdGAP is important to mediate an efficient interaction with 14-3-3 $\beta$ , which is lacking in the AOS-related mutants.

# 14-3-3 $\beta$ is unable to modulate AOS-related CdGAP mutant localization and activity

We next explored the role of  $14-3-3\beta$  on the subcellular localization and the ability of the AOS-related mutants to induce cell rounding. As previously reported (340), human CdGAP induced cell rounding in 40% of transfected cells, whereas the AOSrelated mutants showed a significant increased rounded phenotype with 55% and 60% of transfected cells for CdGAP-Q683X and -K1087Sx4 expression, respectively (Fig. 3.7B and C). In addition, human CdGAP-WT and AOS-related mutants showed a similar nuclear localization in 38% to 42% of transfected cells (Fig. 3.7B and D). Co-expression of 14-3-3β inhibited the ability of hCdGAP-WT to induce cell rounding, whereas it has a small but significant capability of reducing the ability of AOS-related mutant proteins to induce cell rounding (Fig. 3.7B and C). Furthermore, 14-3-3β decreased the percentage of cells with nuclear hCdGAP-WT localization to 15%, whereas it has no effect on the localization of the AOS-related mutants (Fig. 3.7B and D). Consequently, we did not find a significant co-localization between the AOS-related mutants and 14-3- $3\beta$  by assessing the degree of co-association with the Pearson's correlation coefficient, whereas hCdGAP-WT co-localized with 14-3-3 $\beta$  with an r=0.43+/-0.03 (Fig. 3.7E). Collectively, these results demonstrate that the negative regulation of CdGAP activity by 14-3-3 $\beta$  is impaired for the AOS-related protein mutants, which correlates with its increased GAP activity (340) and ability to induce cell rounding.

#### DISCUSSION

In this report, we provide evidence for a novel mechanism of regulation of CdGAP activity and subcellular localization by RSK-dependent phosphorylation and 14-3-3 interaction. We demonstrate that CdGAP is phosphorylated at the C-terminal region on Ser1093 and Ser1163 residues by RSK, which creates docking sites for 14-3-3 binding. We show that 14-3-3 binding to these phosphosites sequesters CdGAP in the cytoplasm to inhibit the GAP activity of CdGAP towards Rac1 (Fig. 3.8). Previous studies have identified CdGAP as a molecular target of the Ras/MAPK pathway in response to serum and PDGF (108,109,345). Indeed, we identified Thr776 in the proline-rich domain of CdGAP as a major phosphorylation site of ERK1/2, which negatively regulates the GAP activity of CdGAP towards Rac1 (109). In addition, this consensus ERK1 regulatory site is phosphorylated by GSK-3β in serum-starved cellular conditions (108). Here, we report that CdGAP is also connected to the Ras/MAPK pathway via its phosphorylation by RSK, which is a downstream ERK effector involved in the control of cell proliferation, survival, and motility (431,435,436). The Ser1093 and Ser1163 residues located in the C-terminal region of CdGAP appear to be the major phosphorylation sites of RSK, although we cannot rule out the possibility that other residues may be RSK targets as well. According to phosphosite.org, phospho-Ser1163 has been reported in 23 large-scale proteomic studies, including the phosphoproteomic analysis of breast cancer, lung cancer, and the liver (350-353). Moreover, phospho-Ser1093 was proteomic reported in 3 large-scale studies. including the phosphoproteome of the liver (347,348), and more recently, this phosphosite was identified in a comparative phosphoproteomic analysis of VEGF and angiopoietin-1 signaling in endothelial cells (349). Of interest, we have recently shown that CdGAP is a critical regulator of VEGF-mediated signaling in angiogenesis (339). Therefore, phospho-Ser1093 and Ser1163 at the C-terminal tail of CdGAP appear to be regulated by various agonists in different cellular contexts.

We show that the RSK-dependent phospho-Ser1093 and -Ser1163 residues create docking sites for binding to 14-3-3 $\beta$  and  $\sigma$  adaptor proteins. The 14-3-3 family consists of 7 isoforms ( $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\epsilon$ ,  $\sigma$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $\tau$ ,  $\eta$ ) sharing a high degree of homology amongst vertebrates (398,401,437). They are crucial regulators of several intracellular signaling pathways. They form homo- and heterodimers that interact with a variety of target proteins containing the consensus motif, RSXpS/pTXP, thereby affecting their activity, subcellular localization, and protein stability (371-374,438). Consequently, dysregulation of 14-3-3 proteins is often associated with tumorigenesis with a 14-3-3 isoform expression signature emerging in many types of cancer (398,402). Because of the requirement of an Arg residue at the -3 position, 14-3-3 binding sites are often regulated by Ser/Thr basophilic protein kinases of the AGC family (435). A recent phosphoproteomic analysis of the 14-3-3 interactome in melanoma cells has indeed identified a large number of potential RSK substrates, including CdGAP (435). Here we show that the RSK-dependent phospho-Ser1093 and -Ser1163 are the major binding sites of 14-3-3 $\beta$ , which is supported by a phosphoproteomic study reporting these phospho-residues as 14-3-3 binding sites with excellent scores (439). However, the residual interaction between the CdGAP-S1093A/S1163A mutant and 14-3-3ß suggests that other residues may be involved in the interaction. In fact, we found that the Nterminus PBR-GAP domain and the basic region (BR) of CdGAP are also able to bind to 14-3-3β. Although Ser272 in CdGAP-BR does not mediate the interaction with 14-3-3β, we cannot exclude the possibility that additional AGC family kinase-dependent consensus sites within CdGAP-BR as indicated in Table 1 could be involved in the interaction between 14-3-3β and CdGAP. However, no phospho-dependent basic motif can be identified in the PBR-GAP domain, suggesting an interaction through an unphosphorylated residue. Interestingly, a basic motif RSKKIE similar to the unphosphorylated basic RSx1-3E-like motif previously reported to interact with 14-3-3 (397) could mediate the interaction between the PBR-GAP domain and 14-3-3 proteins. Altogether, the association between 14-3-3 dimers and CdGAP may be mediated in part by the N- and C-terminus of CdGAP, though both regions may differently cooperate in the context of the full-length protein.

Furthermore, our study demonstrates that the recruitment of 14-3-3 proteins to CdGAP through the phospho-Ser1093 and S1163 residues sequesters CdGAP in the cytoplasm and inhibits CdGAP-induced cell rounding and consequently, its GAP activity towards Rac1. This regulatory mechanism of CdGAP is similar to the regulation of a number of GEFs and GAPs previously identified in global 14-3-3 interaction screens (440-442), including Deleted in liver cancer 1 (DLC1), ARHGAP22, and the RhoGEF AKAP-Lbc. Notably, the RhoGAP DLC1, a tumor suppressor protein inactivating RhoA in many types of cancer (443), is phosphorylated by PKC/PKD protein kinases on Ser residues, which create binding sites for 14-3-3 proteins. This phosphorylation results in the inhibition of the RhoGAP activity and nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of DLC1 (440). Therefore, these studies support a general role for 14-3-3 adaptor proteins in the control of small GTPase regulators, and consequently, cytoskeletal regulation and organization. We have previously shown that PI-3 kinase activation causes the recruitment of CdGAP to the plasma membrane, likely via the binding of PI-3,4,5 to the PBR preceding the GAP domain (36). This lipid interaction is essential for CdGAP activity to induce cell rounding. Therefore, the interaction of 14-3-3 with CdGAP may impede the recruitment of CdGAP to the plasma membrane by inhibiting the interaction between PI-3,4,5 and the N-terminus PBR-GAP domain. We also report here that CdGAP localizes to the nucleus in a proportion (35%) of transfected cells and that co-expression with 14-3-3β significantly reduces CdGAP nuclear localization. In a separate study, we have uncovered a previously unknown nuclear function for CdGAP where it functions in a GAP-independent manner as a critical E-cadherin transcriptional co-repressor with Zeb2 to promote breast tumorigenesis and metastasis to the lungs (127). Thus, 14-3-3 binding to CdGAP may behave as an important negative regulator of CdGAP transcriptional activity by cytosolic sequestration, leading to the inhibition of epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT), cell motility and invasion of breast cancer cells.

The AOS-related CdGAP-Q683X and –K1087Sx4 mutants have been first identified in autosomal-dominant AOS patients and displayed an increased GAP activity towards Cdc42, highlighting the importance of Rac1/Cdc42 regulation in the developmental processes of scalp and limb formation (340). Moreover, we have showed

that the C-terminus of CdGAP was able to interact with the N-terminal PBR-GAP domain, suggesting a mechanism of regulation of CdGAP activity by the C-terminus (340). The results presented in this study show that the AOS-related CdGAP-Q683X and –K1087Sx4 mutants lacking the C-terminal tail displayed a higher proportion of cell rounding and lost the nucleocytoplasmic regulation by 14-3-3 proteins, which correlate with the reduction of interaction between the mutants and 14-3-3β. Therefore, these novel findings strongly support a mechanism, whereby the binding of 14-3-3 proteins to the C-terminus of CdGAP is necessary to regulate the subcellular localization and GAP activity of CdGAP. We propose that impaired 14-3-3 regulation of CdGAP in AOS patients may cause profound effects during early human development. In addition, we have recently reported that vascular development is impaired in CdGAP-deficient mouse embryos, associated with superficial vessel defects and subcutaneous edema, resulting in 44% perinatal lethality (339). Altogether, these findings unveil the importance of a tight regulation of CdGAP activity in cells and tissues, which otherwise may lead to developmental disorders and cancer.

## **EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

## DNA constructs

pEGFPC1-mCdGAP and deletion mutants, pRK5myc-hCdGAP and AOS-related mutant, pKH3-avRSK1 wild-type (WT), pKH3-avRSK1-K112/464R kinase-deficient (KD), pRK7-Myr-avRSK1 constitutively active (CA), pcDNA-HA-14-3-3 isoforms ( $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\sigma$  and  $\zeta$ ), GST-14-3-3 $\epsilon$  wild-type (WT) and GST-14-3-3 $\epsilon$  K49E, pRK5myc- Rac1 constructs have been previously described (36,108,109,323,340,374,433,444,445). CdGAP point mutants were derived from the wild-type form of CdGAP in pEGFPC1 using the QuikChange® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (*Stratagene*), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The following primers were used:

S272A (forward-5' GAAAGACGAGAGAACGCCCTGCCCGAGATCGTC 3' and reverse-5' GACGATCTCGGGCAGGGCGTTCTCTCGTCTTTC3'),

S765A (forward-5' GGCCCAAGGAATCTCGCTCCCCCTCTTACTCC 3'and reverse-5' GGAGTAAGAGGGGGGGGGGGGGAGCGAGATTCCTTGGGCC 3'),

S1093A (forward-5' GAAACACAGGCCGTCTGCCCTCAACCTGGACTCTG 3' and reverse-5' CAGAGTCCAGGTTGAGGGCAGACGGCCTGTGTTC 3')

S1163A (forward-5' GACAGGCCGCAGGAATGCGGCTCCTGTAAGTGTG 3' and reverse-5'

CACACTTACAGGAGCCGCATTCCTGCGGCCTGTC 3'). All plasmids were verified by sequencing.

## Antibodies

The following antibodies were used: Anti-rabbit IgG (whole molecule), anti-CdGAP (Sigma); anti-myc (clone 9E10), anti-phospho-RSK1 (Thr359/Ser363) (Millipore); rabbit and mouse anti-GFP, anti-rabbit-conjugated Alexa-488, anti-mouse-Cy3 (Molecular Probes); anti-rabbit and anti-mouse-HRP (GE Healthcare); anti-HA, anti-RSK1(Santa Cruz Biotechnology); anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204), anti-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2), anti-phospho-Smad2/3 (Ser465/467), anti-Smad2/3 and anti-RXRXXpS/T [Phospho-(Ser/Thr) Akt Substrate] (Cell Signaling).

## Cell culture, transfection, and treatment

NMuMG mammary epithelial cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine serum (FBS) (Wisent), 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1 mM Lglutamine, 10 µg/ml insulin and antibiotics as previously described (128). HEK293 and COS-7 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and antibiotics in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. HEK293 and COS-7 cells were transfected with the indicated constructs using linear polyethylenimine (PEI) (Polysciences) at a 1:8 ratio (cDNA:PEI) following the manufacturer's instructions. Thirty hours post-transfection, cells were serum-starved for 18h and stimulated for 30 min with either 20% FBS, 200 nM PMA (phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate, Cell Signaling) or 5 ng/ml recombinant Human TGF- $\beta$ 1 (Invitrogen). For PMA and BI-D1870 (Stemgent) treatments, cells were treated for 30min with PMA (200nM) and BI-D1870 (20nM) following a pre-treatment with BI-D1870 (20nM) for 1h.

## Immunoprecipitation, western blotting, and quantitative densitometry

NMuMG cells were lysed in lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 100 mM NaCl, 1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate (Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>) , 1 µg/ml aprotinin and leupeptin, and 50 mM sodium fluoride (NaF) (BioShop). COS-7 and HEK293 cells were lysed in lysis buffer containing 25 mM Hepes pH 7.5, 1% Nonidet P-40 (NP-40), 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 1 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mM NaF, 1 mM PMSF and 1 µg/ml aprotinin and leupeptin. Protein lysates were centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 min at 4°C to remove insoluble materials. For immunoprecipitation, 2-3mg of protein lysates were incubated with the indicated antibodies for 1h followed by Protein-G-Sepharose beads (GE Healthcare). Beads were washed twice with lysis buffer and heated to 95°C in SDS sample buffer. Protein samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes for Western blotting with the indicated antibodies, and visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) (Millipore). Quantitative densitometry was assessed using Image J software (446).

#### GST-protein purification and pull down assays

GST-fusion proteins (GST, GST-14-3-3 $\epsilon$  wild-type and K49E) were produced in BL21 *E. coli* as described previously (435). For pull-down experiments, HEK293 cells transfected or not with Myc-tagged wild-type CdGAP were lysed as described above. Cellular debris were removed by centrifugation for 10 min at 13,000 × g, and the supernatant was divided equally and incubated with 10 µg of GST, GST-14-3-3 $\epsilon$  wild-type, or GST-14-3-3 $\epsilon$  K49E bound to glutathione beads for 2 hours. The beads were then washed 4 times with lysis buffer prior to elution with reducing sample buffer, SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

#### Rac1 activation assay

Transfected HEK293 cells were lysed in buffer containing 25mM Hepes pH 7.5, 1% NP-40, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 1mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mM NaF, 1mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml aprotinin and leupeptin. Protein lysates were centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 minutes to remove insoluble materials. Myc-tagged Rac1-GTP was pulled down by incubating 2-3mg of protein lysates for 60 min at 4 °C with 30 µg of purified GST-CRIB (amino acids 73-146 of mouse PAK3 fused to GST) (447) coupled to glutathionesepharose beads (Sigma). The beads were washed three times with the lysis buffer and then boiled in SDS sample buffer. Protein samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose for immunoblotting with anti-myc antibodies. The levels of GTP-bound Rac1 were assessed by densitometry using Image J software and normalized to total Rac1 detected in total cell lysates.

## Immunofluorescence microscopy

Immunofluorescence microscopy was performed as previously described (36,128). Briefly, transfected COS-7 cells grown on glass coverslips were fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde (BioShop) for 10 min before permeabilization in 0.25% Triton X-100 for 5 min. Cells were then blocked for 30 min with 0.1% BSA and incubated in blocking buffer containing the indicated primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight. After washing twice with PBS, cells were incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 or Cy3-conjugated secondary antibodies (Molecular Probes) with 4', 6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for nucleus staining. Coverslips were mounted on glass slides using Prolong Gold antifade reagent (Invitrogen). Cells were examined using a laser-scanning Zeiss LSM780 confocal microscope with a Plan-Neofluar 40x/0.60 oil or a Plan-Apochromat. 63x/1.40 oil immersion objective lenses and analyzed with Zen2010 software (Carl Zeiss). Colocalization analysis and Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) were performed using Zen2010 software, analyzing > 30 cells per condition in at least three independent experiments. For quantification of cell rounding and nuclear localization, cells were imaged with a motorized inverted Olympus microscope IX81 using a 60X U PLAN S-APO oil objective lens. Images were recorded with a CoolSnap 4K camera (Photometrics) and analyzed with MetaMorph software (Molecular Devices). At least 100 cells per condition were analyzed in at least three independent experiments.

## Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using a two-sample unequal-variance Student's *t* test. Data

are presented as the mean +/- SEM and the *p* value of less than 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We thank Dr Min Fu and the imaging core facility of the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre for assistance with confocal microscopy. This research was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research grant MOP-119544 (to N. L.V.) and MOP-123408 (to P.P.R.). ABDO was a recipient of a Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec doctoral studentship.

## Figure 1



# Figure 3.1 – CdGAP is phosphorylated by the AGC family kinases in response to growth factors and mitogens.

COS-7 cells transfected with empty vector (EV) or GFP-CdGAP were stimulated with TGF $\beta$  (5 ng/ml) (A, B), FBS 20% (C, D), or PMA (200 nM) (E, F). GFP-CdGAP proteins were immunoprecipitated (IP) from cell lysates and the phosphorylation of CdGAP (P-CdGAP) on the consensus motif RXRXXpS/T was detected by immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. TCL, total cell lysates. (B, D, F) Densitometric analysis of P-CdGAP/CdGAP ratio is represented as the fold change relative to 0 min of stimulation from A, C, and E. (\**p*<0.05, unpaired Student's *t* test). (G) Endogenous CdGAP was IP from lysates of mouse mammary epithelial (NMuMG) cells, stimulated with TGF $\beta$  (5 ng/ml) for 30 min with anti-CdGAP antibodies or rabbit IgG as control. IP proteins and total cell lysates (TCL) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies. (H) Densitometric analysis of P-CdGAP/CdGAP ratio from G. (\**p*<0.05, unpaired Student's *t* test). (I) Total cell lysates (TCL) from NMuMG cells stimulated with TGF $\beta$  (5ng/ml) for 30min were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies. (J) Densitometric analysis of (P)-RSK/RSK from I. (\*\**p*<0.01, unpaired student's *t* test).

Figure 2



## Figure 3.2 – S1093 and S1163 are RSK-dependent phosphorylation sites.

(A) COS-7 cells were transfected with empty vector (EV), CdGAP, and RSK1 constructs as indicated. GFP-CdGAP proteins were IP from total cell lysates (TCL) and the phosphorylation of CdGAP (P-CdGAP) on the consensus motif RXRXXpS/T was detected by immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. (B) Densitometric analysis of (P)-CdGAP/CdGAP from A. (\*p<0.05, unpaired student's *t* test). (C) COS-7 cells transfected with empty vector (EV), CdGAP and RSK1-WT constructs were treated with PMA in the presence or absence of the RSK inhibitor BI-D1870 as indicated. GFP-CdGAP proteins were IP from TCL. IP proteins and TCL were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies. (D) Densitometric analysis of (P)-CdGAP/CdGAP from C. (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, unpaired student's *t* test). (E) COS-7 cells were transfected with the indicated CdGAP constructs and analyzed as in C.





## Figure 3.3 – 14-3-3 adaptor proteins isoforms $\beta$ and $\sigma$ interact with CdGAP

(A) HEK293 cells were transfected with empty vector (EV) or myc-CdGAP constructs. Proteins from total cell lysates (TCL) were pulled down with GST, GST-14-3-3e wild type (WT) or mutant 14-3-3eK49E proteins. Associated proteins and TCL were resolved by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by immunoblotting using the indicated antibodies. (B and C) HEK293 cells were transfected with myc-CdGAP and HA-14-3-3 isoform constructs as indicated. Myc-CdGAP proteins (B) or HA-14-3-3 (C) proteins were IP from total cell lysates (TCL), resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted using anti-Myc and anti-HA antibodies.



106 | Page

# Figure 3.4 – The RSK-dependent phosphorylation residues S1093 and S1163 are required for the interaction between CdGAP and 14-3-3β.

(A) Schematic representation of mouse CdGAP (mCdGAP) deletion mutants, including the major RSK target residues. +, stretch of polybasic residues; rhoGAP, GTPase-activating protein; BR, basic region; PRD, proline-rich domain. (B) COS-7 cells were transfected with empty vector (EV) or GFP-CdGAP deletion mutant constructs with HA-14-3-3 $\beta$  and treated with PMA as indicated. GFP-CdGAP proteins were immunoprecipitated (IP) from total cell lysates (TCL). IP proteins and TCL were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with the indicated antibodies. (C and D) COS-7 cells were transfected with the indicated CdGAP constructs with HA-14-3-3 $\beta$  and analyzed as in B. (E) Densitometric analysis of bound 14-3-3 $\beta$  to CdGAP/total 14-3-3 $\beta$  from D. (\**p*<0.05, unpaired student's *t* test).





# Figure 3.5 – 14-3-3 $\beta$ regulates CdGAP subcellular localization and inhibits CdGAPmediated cell rounding

(A) GFP-CdGAP constructs with or without 14-3-3 $\beta$  were transfected into COS-7 cells before fixation. CdGAP and 14-3-3 $\beta$  localization was assessed by indirect immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy. CdGAP (green), 14-3-3 $\beta$  (red), nucleus (blue) were visualized using anti-GFP, anti-HA antibodies, and DAPI staining, respectively. Bar, 50 $\mu$ m. star, round cells, arrowheads, cytoplasmic localization of CdGAP. (B and C) The percentage of GFP-expressing cells showing cell rounding (B) or CdGAP nuclear localization (C) was calculated manually using Metamorph software. Cells with nuclei occupying  $\geq$  50% of the total cell area were counted as being round and cells with  $\geq$ 70% of their GFP staining in the nucleus were counted as nuclear localization. More than 100 GFP-positive cells were counted in at least three independent experiments. (\*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, unpaired student's t test). (D) The correlation between CdGAP and 14-3-3 $\beta$  fluorescence intensities in A was measured with ZEN2010 software using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r). At least 30 cells from three independent experiments were analyzed (\*\*\*p<0.001, unpaired student's t test).









## Figure 3.6 – 14-3-3 $\beta$ negatively regulate the GAP activity of CdGAP towards Rac1

(A) HEK293 cells were transfected with pRK5-mycRac1 with empty vector (EV), the indicated GFP-CdGAP constructs, and HA-14-3-3  $\Box$  as indicated. GTP-loaded Rac1 was pulled down from total protein lysates (TCL) by GST-CRIB. GTP-bound Rac1, total Rac1, and the indicated proteins were detected by immunoblotting . (B) Densitometric ratio of GTP-bound Rac1/total Rac1 from A. (\**p*<0.05, NS, non significant, unpaired student's *t* test).

# Figure 7



В





# Figure 3.7 – Reduced interaction and modulation of AOS-related CdGAP mutant proteins by 14-3-3β.

(A) COS-7 cells were transfected with HA-14-3-3β together with empty vector (EV) or myc-human CdGAP (hCdGAP) constructs as indicated. Myc-hCdGAP proteins were IP from total cell lysates (TCL), resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted using anti-Myc and anti-HA antibodies. Schematic representation of hCdGAP-WT and AOS-associated mutants. (B) myc-hCdGAP constructs with or without 14-3-3β were transfected into COS-7 cells before fixation. CdGAP and 14-3-3β localization was assessed by indirect immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy. hCdGAP (green),14-3-3β (red), nucleus (blue) were visualized using anti-GFP, anti-HA antibodies, and DAPI staining, respectively. Bar, 50µm. star, round cells, arrowheads, cytoplasmic localization of CdGAP. (C and D) The percentage of GFP-expressing cells showing cell rounding (C) or hCdGAP nuclear localization (D) was calculated manually using Metamorph software as in Fig. 3.5 (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, unpaired student's t test). (E) The correlation between hCdGAP and 14-3-3ß fluorescence intensities in B was measured with ZEN2010 software using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r). At least 30 cells from three independent experiments were analyzed (\*p<0.05, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, unpaired student's *t* test).

# Figure 8



## Figure 3.8 – Model of CdGAP regulation by 14-3-3 adaptor proteins.

(a) In response to agonist stimulation, CdGAP is phosphorylated by RSK on Ser1093 and Ser1163, which permits the recruitment and binding of 14-3-3 proteins. (b) 14-3-3 interaction with CdGAP inhibits the nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of CdGAP and leads to CdGAP sequestration in the cytoplasm and inhibition of the GAP activity. (c) Consequently, Rac1-GTP levels are increased, inducing cell spreading.

Table 3.1 - Potential RSK phosphorylation sites identified in the CdGAP protein sequence.\* 8 potential phosphorylation sites were identified according to the RSK consensus phosphorylationsequence determined using an oriented peptide library (29) (ranked from the highest to the lowest). bNumber of phosphoproteomic studies reporting the phosphorylated residue according to phosphosite.org.°Phosphorylated in response to VEGF and /or Angiopoietin-1 (42).BR, basic region; PRD, proline- rich region. CT, C-Terminal region.

Ranking No.ª	Residue <i>Mouse</i> (Human)	CdGAP sequence <i>Mouse (Human)</i>	CdGAP-domain	Records⁵
1	Ser1163⁰ (Ser1178)	TLTGRRN <b>pS</b> APVSVSA (ALTGRRN <b>pS</b> APVSVSA)	СТ	23
2	Ser312 (Ser315)	FNLGRSG <b>pS</b> DSKSKLS (FNLGRSG <b>pS</b> DSKSKLS)	BR	0
3	Ser1093⁰ (Ser1106)	KGKHRPS <b>pS</b> LNLDSAT (KGKNRPS <b>pS</b> LNLDPAI)	СТ	3
4	Ser323 (Ser327)	SKLSRNG <b>pS</b> VFVRGQR (SKLSRNG <b>pS</b> VFVRGQR)	BR	0
5	Ser765 (Ser778)	IGGPRNL <b>pS</b> PPLTPAP (VGGPGNL <b>pS</b> PPLPPAP)	PRD	13
6	Ser1331 (Ser1346)	SRPGRPQ <b>pS</b> LILFPIM (SRPGRPQ <b>pS</b> LILFSPP)	СТ	2
7	Ser272 (Ser272)	RKERREN <b>pS</b> LPEIVPP (RKERREN <b>pS</b> LPEIVPP)	BR	18
8	Ser998 (Ser1011)	LKAFREF <b>pS</b> GLKGLEV (LRSFREF <b>pS</b> GLKGAEA)	СТ	0

**Chapter 4: General Discussion and Conclusions** 

# 4.1 Major Findings

## 4.1.1 Identification of a novel conserved SH3-binding motif

The central region of CdGAP, which is highly phosphorylated and enriched in basic residues, drives the interactions with Intersectin and actopaxin but the motifs mediating the interactions were not known. In the study presented in chapter 2 we identified and characterized for the first time a novel atypical-SH3 binding motif, xKx(K/R)K (SKSKK) in the CdGAP central region, which is highly conserved within CdGAP subfamily members. We then characterized the Intersectin-SH3D/CdGAP interaction and provided evidence that Intersectin-SH3D interacts directly with the xKx(K/R)K motif. Furthermore, we demonstrated that the identified motif is required for CdGAP activity *in vitro* and substitution of the lysine residues by alanine (SaSaa) impaired CdGAP activity, mimicking the Intersectin-SH3D/CdGAP interaction and the regulation of CdGAP activity by Intersectin-SH3D binding.

## 4.1.2 Phosphorylation of CdGAP

CdGAP is a phosphoprotein that is highly phosphorylated particularly in the BR, PRD and C-terminal region and this study is the first to characterize the CdGAPphosphorylated residues targeted by AGC kinase family members. We first demonstrated that the endogenous CdGAP is a phosphorylation target of AGC kinases in different cell models and that its phosphorylation levels augmented following stimulation by growth factors. We then mutated to phospho-null alanine residue the potential phosphorylation sites and identified two conserved phospho-serines in the Cterminal tail, Ser-1093 and Ser-1163 as AGC-kinase phosphorylated residues. Furthermore, we provided evidence that AGC-kinase RSK1 is the major protein kinase phosphorylating the identified residues.

# 4.1.3 Regulation of CdGAP function and subcellular localization by 14-3-3 adaptor proteins

Next, we demonstrated for the first time that 14-3-3 adaptor proteins interact with CdGAP and regulate both its GAP activity and subcellular localization. We first showed that the 14-3-3 isoforms  $\beta$  and  $\sigma$  interact with CdGAP. We then identified three 14-3-3-binding regions on CdGAP namely: the GAP domain, the BR and the C-terminal regions. We next provided evidence that the binding to the C-terminus is mediated by RSK1-phosphorylated residues, the Ser-1093 and Ser-1163, and further the binding therein is required for a stable and strong 14-3-3/CdGAP interaction. Additionally, we showed that 14-3-3 $\beta$  binding to CdGAP impairs its GAP activity and induces its sequestration in the cytoplasm. Furthermore, 14-3-3 $\beta$  induced cell spreading and abolished CdGAP-induced-cell rounding.

Altogether, our results illustrate a novel regulatory mechanism of CdGAP involving phosphorylation by RSK1 and 14-3-3 binding. As such, following CdGAP phosphorylation, 14-3-3 proteins bind and sequestrate it in the cytoplasm preventing both its GAP activity and its nuclear function. Consequently, the GTPase activities of Rac1 and Cdc42 are augmented resulting in increased cell spreading.

## 4.2 Regulation of CdGAP by Intersectin

In this work we identified a key SH3-binding motif in CdGAP BR region mediating the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D domain and involved in the GAP activity regulation. Importantly, the BR region bearing the novel xKx(K/R)K motif is well conserved and retained the binding specificity to Intersectin-SH3D domain across CdGAP subfamily members. As such, we demonstrated that the BR region of CdGAP-related protein, ArhGAP30 containing an xKx(K/R)K (LKVRK) motif is required for the interaction Intersectin-SH3D/ArhGAP30 (Figure 2.3). Interestingly, this motif is present in adaptor protein Numb, also known to interact with Intersectin-SH3D, adding support to the findings that the novel xKx(K/R)K motif mediates the interaction with Intersectin-SH3D.

In this study and in the previous findings (345), we used a short form of CdGAP (1-820aa) lacking the C-terminal tail (820-1425) to investigate the interaction with Intersectin. However, recent results from our laboratory attribute interesting regulatory functions to the extended C-terminal region, particularly an autoinhibitory role of the GAP activity (340). In addition, we noticed that the PRD, although it does not bind to Intersectin-SH3D domain (345), is still required for inhibition of the GAP activity stressing the importance of the protein structure in the SH3D domain-mediated activity regulation. Therefore, it may be of interest to investigate the Intersectin-SH3D/CdGAP interaction in CdGAP and Intersectin full-length protein contexts.

Intersectin is a large-multidomain adaptor protein known as a general endocytic scaffold but also as an integrator in many signalling pathways, such as actin cytoskeleton wherein for instance, it regulates and coordinates the function of Cdc42, Nck and N-WASP as well as Arp2/3 complex to promote actin polymerisation (448). It is therefore not surprising to find interactions between Intersectin and CdGAP which is a well-characterized regulator of Cdc42 and Rac1 activities and actin cytoskeleton.

Although the biological function of this interaction is unclear, it appears that a priori, Intersectin antagonizes the action of CdGAP by abolishing its GAP activity in specific-subcellular sites (i.e., exclusive zones) which may as a result, enhance the GTPase activities of CdGAP effectors, Rac1 and Cdc42 in these exclusive zones. Likewise, Intersectin by binding and sequestrating CdGAP in the PM, will prevent CdGAP from exerting its effects in other cellular locations such as the nucleus. Also, since both Intersectin and CdGAP are multidomain proteins interacting with many other protein partners, the interaction between them in the physiological context, may involve the formation of regulatory complexes including exclusive zone proteins for a selective and precise spatiotemporal regulation of designated Rho GTPase activities.

In support for this model, we find that the same CdGAP BR region is involved in the binding to Actopaxin and in the subsequent regulation of CdGAP activity at focal adhesions suggesting a subcellular site-dependent competitive or synergic protein binding to this region (341). Interestingly, both Intersectin and CdGAP are involved in cancer notably in TGFβ-mediated tumorigenesis where they play opposite roles. Indeed, CdGAP which mediates TGFβ- induced effects on cell migration and invasion, exerts its role at the nucleus level wherein it represses transcription of E-cadherin, a key protein in cell-cell junctions inducing therefore EMT (127,128). Conversely, Intersectin seems to inhibit tumorigenesis and its deficiency has been found to activate the non-canonical TGFβ-dependent Ras/Erk1/2 MAPK pathway, particularly in endothelial cells leading to increased cell proliferation and survival (449). Therefore, it would be of interest to investigate whether the Intersectin-mediated PM sequestration of CdGAP would prevent its nuclear translocation and the subsequent E-cadherin transcription repression and EMT onset.

Finally, the mechanism identified in this work involving the CdGAP-SKSKK motif could be used to design therapeutic tools to inhibit CdGAP function. As such, the strategy may imply a development of CdGAP-binding small molecules to inhibit CdGAP function in diseases such as breast cancer, in an Intersectin-like fashion similar to a compound developed to inhibit Cdc42 activity (450).

#### 4.3 Regulation of CdGAP by phosphorylation

In this study we shed light on a novel mechanism of CdGAP phosphorylationdependent regulation involving the Ras-Erk1/2 MAPK-cascade effector RSK1 and 14-3-3 adaptor proteins. The mechanism involves RSK1-dependent phosphorylation of CdGAP and 14-3-3-protein recruitment on the phosphorylated residues regulating thereby CdGAP subcellular localization and function as well as the whole cell morphology (Figure 3.8).

We have previously shown using *in vivo* [ $^{32}$ P] orthophosphate labeling that CdGAP is highly phosphorylated in different cellular models in response to growth factor stimulation including FBS, PDGF and TGF $\beta$  (95,109,128), with high phosphorylation levels detected in the BR, PRD and CT regions (Figure 4.1) (108,109,323). We also identified the Thr-776 residue as being targeted by both ERK1/2 and GSK3, and its phosphorylation inhibited CdGAP activity *in vitro* (108,109). With the exception of this



## Figure 4.1 – CdGAP deletion mutant phosphorylation

(A) Schematic representation of mouse CdGAP (mCdGAP) deletion mutants. +, stretch of polybasic residues; RhoGAP domain, Rho GTPase-activating protein domain; BR, basic region; PRD, proline-rich domain. (B) COS-7 cells were transfected with empty vector (EV) or GFP-CdGAP deletion mutant constructs and treated with PMA for 30 min. GFP-CdGAP proteins were immunoprecipitated (IP) from total cell lysates (TCL). IP proteins and TCL were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with the AGC kinase phosphorylation site-specific, RXRXXpS/T and GFP antibodies. Arrows, (P)-CdGAP; arrowheads, nonspecific bands.

## Table 4.1 – Predicted CdGAP phosphorylation targets of RSK family members

Mouse CdGAP (NCBI Entry number: A6X8Z5) amino acid sequence was analyzed by GPS 3.0 software for phosphorylation by selected RSK kinases. Predicted phosphosites with highest scores are shown.

Site	Phosphopeptide	Region	kinase	Score	Cutoff
S272	RKERREN <b>pS</b> LPEIVPP	BR	RSK3 RSK RSK1	13.206 5.702 3.104	10.513 5.671 2.462
S295	PDNKRKL <b>pS</b> SKSKKWK	BR	RSK3 RSK RSK1	12.441 7.957 2.938	10.513 5.671 2.462
S296	DNKRKLS <b>pS</b> KSKKWKS	BR	RSK2 RSK1	8.333 2.688	6.617 2.462
S312	FNLGRSG <b>pS</b> DSKSKLS	BR	RSK3 RSK	10.794 6.479	10.513 5.671
S323	SKLSRNG <b>pS</b> VFVRGQR	BR	RSK3 RSK	11.441 6.723	10.513 5.671
S765	IGGPRNL <b>pS</b> PPLTPAP	PRD	RSK	6.33	5.671
S941	PSLRQSH <b>pS</b> LDSKTTG	СТ	RSK1	2.688	2.462
S1066	SPRAQD <b>pS</b> TLPGEHPL	СТ	RSK1	2.688	2.462
S1093	KGKHRPS <b>pS</b> LNLDSAT	СТ	RSK1	3.049	2.876
S1163	TLTGRRN <b>pS</b> APVSVSA	СТ	RSK3 RSK RSK1	12.941 7.489 2.812	10.513 5.671 2.462
S1223	RSQEEPG <b>pS</b> TPEIPQK	СТ	RSK1	2.938	2.462
S1255	PKQETGA <b>pS</b> ASRRQAS	СТ	RSK1	2.542	2.462
S1262	SASRRQA <b>pS</b> ITSCMYE	СТ	RSK3 RSK	12.971 6.521	10.513 5.671
S1284	PSASTLA <b>pS</b> TQDAVVQ	СТ	RSK1	3.292	2.462

GAP domain, GTPase-activating protein domain; BR, basic region; PRD, proline-rich domain; CT, C-terminus.

phosphosite, little is known about neither the identity of the phosphorylated residues nor the role of the CdGAP abundant phosphorylation.

In this study we used a phosphorylation site-specific antibody recognizing a consensus motif (RXRXXpS/T) found in substrates of AGC family kinases (431,432), and reported that CdGAP is a phosphorylation target of this class of kinases. We next mapped the potential phosphosites and identified two major regulatory phosphoresidues namely: Ser-1093 and Ser-1163 in the CT region. We further provided evidence that the Ras-Erk1/2 MAPK pathway effector, RSK1 is the major kinase phosphorylating the identified residues.

Despite the increase of the phosphorylation signal in CdGAP segments expressed separately (Figure 4.1), the predicted phosphosites (Table 4.1) turned out to be not major phosphorylation targets of AGC kinases since the phosphorylation signal remains unchanged when mutated to alanine residue (Figure 3.2). This suggests that in the context of three-dimensional structure of the full-length protein these sites are inaccessible to the kinase action.

Interestingly, the Ser-1093 and Ser-1163 residues have been listed in many phosphoproteomic studies according to phosphosites.org. For instance, Ser-1163 has been reported in large-scale phosphoproteomic analyses of liver, lung and breast cancers, whereas Ser-1093 surfaced in the phosphoproteome of the liver (347,348,350-353). Moreover, Ser-1093 has been recently identified as being regulated by VEGF and angiopoietin-1 signaling in endothelial cells (349). Intriguingly, in each process displaying a regulation of these phosphosites, such as breast cancer or angiogenesis, CdGAP has been shown to play a role, emphasising a possible involvement of its phosphorylation in the above cellular events (127,339).

## 4.4 CdGAP/14-3-3 protein interaction

14-3-3 family members of adaptor/scaffold proteins are found as homo or heterodimers and seven isoforms have been so far characterized in mammals (i.e.,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,
## Table 4.2 – 14-3-3-predicted binding sites of CdGAP

Mouse CdGAP (NCBI Entry number: A6X8Z5) amino acid sequence was analyzed by 14-3-3-Pred software. Predicted 14-3-3 binding sites with highest scores by two and three methods are indicated (439).

				Method		
			ANN	PSSM	SVM	Consensus
Site	14-3-3-binding motif	Region	Score	Score	Score	Score
pS272	KERREN <b>pS</b> LPEI	BR	0.974	1.723	1.831	1.51
pS343	TIRPAK <b>pS</b> MDSL	BR	0.52	0.487	0.071	0.359
рТ666	PPAAQK <b>pT</b> SPIP	PRD	0.458	0.354	-0.139	0.224
pS685	FPEAPG <b>pS</b> LPSS	PRD	0.366	0.313	-0.236	0.148
pS690	GSLPSS <b>pS</b> APRE	PRD	0.621	0.464	-0.049	0.346
pS765	GGPRNL <b>pS</b> PPLT	PRD	0.622	0.934	0.443	0.666
pS1092	KGKHRP <b>pS</b> SLNL	СТ	0.21	0.028	-0.8	-0.187
pS1093	GKHRPS <b>pS</b> LNLD	СТ	0.817	0.943	0.921	0.894
pS1163	LTGRRN <b>pS</b> APVS	СТ	0.905	1.537	1.042	1.161

ANN - Artificial Neural Network (cut-off = 0.55)

PSSM - Position-Specific Scoring Matrix (cut-off = 0.80)

SVM - Support Vector Machine (cut-off = 0.25)

Consensus - Average of the scores provided by the three methods (cut-off = 0.50)

BR, basic region; PRD, proline-rich domain; CT, C-terminus

 $\varepsilon$ ,  $\sigma$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $\tau$  and  $\eta$ )(106,371,372). They can bind motifs on the same or different protein targets which they regulate in diverse ways including conformational change, sequestration/retention and inducing/preventing protein-protein interaction (106,371-374). Phosphorylation of substrates by AGC kinases generates binding sites for 14-3-3 proteins including a crucial phosphoserine comprised in their mode I consensus binding motif (Arg-Ser-Xaa-pSer-Xaa-Pro) (373,374,392). In addition, 14-3-3 proteins can also bind directly unphosphorylated motifs with similar affinity as that of phosphoserine sites (106).

Here we report for the first time that 14-3-3 proteins (i.e., isoforms  $\beta$  and  $\sigma$ ) bind and regulate CdGAP in a phosphorylation-dependent manner, and we identified three binding sites of 14-3-3 $\beta$  namely: the GAP domain, the BR and CT regions. In addition, we demonstrated that the CT identified residues, Ser-1093 and Ser-1063 are required for the 14-3-3 $\beta$ /CdGAP interaction. We further validated this requirement using the AOS-associated hCdGAP(Q683X) and hCdGAP(K1087Sx4) mutants lacking the phosphosites (Figure 3.7 A and E).

14-3-3 proteins function exclusively as dimers and the presence of two binding sites on the same protein target instead of one increases the binding affinity for their ligand by up to 30-fold (374,451). In this work we show that the expression of CdGAP (Ser-1093A/Ser-1163A) double mutant altered severely the interaction with 14-3-3 $\beta$ . We propose therefore, a binding model in which 14-3-3 dimers interact simultaneously with at least Ser-1093 or Ser-1063 residues at the CT, and with another binding site at the GAP domain or the BR region. The BR region which contains several predicted AGC-phosphorylated and 14-3-3 binding sites (Table 4.1 and Table 4.2), could mediate the binding in a phosphorylation-dependent manner but it is also the interacting site for other partners such as Actopaxin and Intersectin suggesting a competitive binding to this region (341,346). Alternatively, the binding to 14-3-3 proteins could be mediated in a phosphorylation-independent manner, through an unphosphorylated-14-3-3 binding site, 179-RSKKIE (RSx<sub>1-3</sub>E-like motif), an atypical 14-3-3-docking site in the GAP

domain (397). As such, it would be of interest to replace the residues of this binding site and investigate whether the interaction CdGAP/14-3-3 is affected.

#### 4.5 Regulation of CdGAP activity and subcellular localization

We next characterized the role and cellular function of both CdGAP phosphorylation and the subsequent 14-3-3 binding. As such,14-3-3 $\beta$  binding to CdGAP resulted in inhibition of the RhoGAP activity in a (Ser-1093 and Ser-1163) phosphorylation-dependent manner, concomitant with increased cell spreading and reduced cell rounding, both hallmarks of suppressed GAP activity (36,340,341). 14-3-3 proteins could neutralize CdGAP activity by at least two mechanisms: the first by directly interacting with the GAP domain residues and disturbing its catalytic activity; the second by binding CdGAP and sequestering it in the cytoplasm preventing it therefore, from reaching its effectors at the membrane.

We have previously reported a CdGAP-autoinhibitory mechanism by intramolecular interactions involving the CT and the GAP domains leading, seemingly to reduced GAP activity (340). Accordingly, AOS-associated mutants, hCdGAP(Q683X) and hCdGAP(K1087Sx4) lacking the CT portion, displayed constitutive CdGAP activity resulting in a loss of active Cdc42 in AOS patients (340). Given that 14-3-3 $\beta$  binds to both the GAP domain (179-RSKKIE) and the CT region (Ser-1093/Ser-S1163), we can hypothesize that 14-3-3 proteins bridge the autoinhibitory interaction between the two domains, which results in the loss of GAP activity.

On the other hand, and consistent with CdGAP cellular functions, the subcellular localization data show CdGAP-WT protein in several cellular compartments including the PM and the nucleus. CdGAP localizes to cellular membranes to regulate mainly Rac and Cdc42 activities, while it translocates to the nucleus to drive its transcriptional regulation function (36,127,341). As such, we identified several nuclear localization sequences (NLSs), particularly in 14-3-3β binding regions, the GAP and BR domains as well as in the CT (Table 4.3). Collectively, the actual data suggest a model wherein, 14-3-3β dimers upon binding CdGAP in the cytoplasm, will disguise the NLSs and will consequently prevent its nucleocytoplasmic shuttling.

## Table 4.3 – Identification of NLS motifs of CdGAP

Mouse CdGAP (NCBI Entry number: A6X8Z5) amino acid sequence was analyzed by cNLS Mapper software (452). Putative NLSs with highest scores are indicated.

#### Monopartite NLS

Position	Region	Sequence	Score
288	BR	PDNKRKLSSK	7

### **Bipartite NLS**

7	PBR	KQKLKRKGAASAFGCDLTEYLESSGQDVPYV	4.2
265	BR	RKERRENSLPEIVPPPFHTVLELPDNKRKLSS	4.3
1053	СТ	DSSKESSPRAQDSTLPGEHPLQLQLKNTEC	4.3
1293	СТ	RKRTSETEPSGDNLLSSKLERAS	4.2

PBR, polybasic region ; BR, basic region; CT, C-terminus

This retention mechanism is very common among 14-3-3 proteins which bind and sequestrate their effectors in a subcellular compartment frequently the cytoplasm (371,372). For instance, 14-3-3 proteins regulate the cellular localization of Notch4 by retention in the cytoplasm through binding to phosphosites generated by the AGC kinase, Akt on the Notch4-intracellular domain (453).

The findings and the model presented here are supported further by a similar regulatory mechanism reported for DLC1, which involves both 14-3-3 proteins and AGC kinases, PKC and PKD (440). The mechanism documents a PKC and PKD-dependent phosphorylation of two 14-3-3 binding sites: Ser-327 and Ser-431. Later on, the recruitment of 14-3-3 proteins to these sites and the ensuing masking of key NLSs will induce a retention of DLC1 in the cytoplasm and a suppression of its GAP activity (440).

# 4.6 Potential applications of the 14-3-3/CdGAP regulation model in cancer research therapy

High expression levels of CdGAP in clinical patients have been recently associated to tumorigenesis in a wide range of cancers and many breast cancer subtypes such as basal-like subtype, making it a newly discovered biomarker and cancer therapeutic target (127). This proto-oncogenic role is driven chiefly through a novel nuclear function, wherein, in association with the transcription factor Zeb2, CdGAP co-represses E-Cadherin, a key protein in cell-cell junctions, promoting thereby EMT and tumorigenesis (127).

On the other hand, many 14-3-3 isoforms have been documented to play crucial roles in many cancers. For instance, the 14-3-3 $\sigma$  isoform, which has been considered as a tumor suppressor affects negatively several key survival pathways such as the Akt signaling, cell cycle regulation and apoptosis (454-456). As such, 14-3-3 $\sigma$  low protein expression has been recorded in many cancers notably breast cancer where it is associated to poor prognosis, making it a potential biomarker and treatment target for breast cancer (408,457,458).

Given the opposite effects of CdGAP and 14-3-3 $\sigma$  in cancer, specifically breast cancer, we assume that similar to 14-3-3 $\beta$  (Figure 3.3),14-3-3 $\sigma$  binds and sequestrates CdGAP in the cytoplasm preventing thus its nuclear translocation, E-Cadherin repression, EMT and tumorigenesis.

This model will allow at least two applications in the breast cancer research field: first, the CdGAP/14-3-3 $\sigma$  ratio can be used as a signature and a biomarker; second, the CdGAP/14-3-3 $\sigma$  interaction can be targeted for breast cancer treatment. For the first application, and since both CdGAP and 14-3-3 $\sigma$  expression profiles are associated with poor patient prognosis, it would be of interest to investigate whether the CdGAP to 14-3-3 $\sigma$  expression ratio is associated to a specific breast cancer-subtype aggressiveness and malignancy. For the second application, CdGAP/14-3-3 $\sigma$  interaction could be investigated in order to generate molecules that mimic the binding to prevent CdGAP nuclear translocalization. The treatment could be used for instance, in basal-like breast cancer patients to prevent progression/recurrence and metastasis.

#### 4.7 Conclusion and perspectives

Recent findings provided useful insights into the role of CdGAP in cancer as well as the mechanism involved in this function. This thesis has provided insights into two important mechanisms of CdGAP regulation involving protein-protein interaction and phosphorylation. Combining various techniques, we identified an atypical SH3-binding motif that is important for the regulation of CdGAP activity by Intersectin, a mechanism that could be further used to elaborate CdGAP inhibitors. We next deciphered a key role of CdGAP phosphorylation and discovered a critical CdGAP nucleocytoplasmicshuttling regulatory mechanism involving both RSK-induced phosphorylation and 14-3-3-protein binding. Further investigation is needed to better characterize the two mechanisms in different *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems. Finally, this thesis has provided valuable tools to pursue the research on CdGAP role in cancer, tools that we hope ultimately, will contribute to breast cancer treatment.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Tetlow, A. L., and Tamanoi, F. (2013) The Ras superfamily G-proteins. Enzymes 33 Pt A, 1-14
- 2. Goldfinger, L. E. (2008) Choose your own path: specificity in Ras GTPase signaling. *Mol Biosyst* **4**, 293-299
- 3. Vetter, I. R., and Wittinghofer, A. (2001) The guanine nucleotide-binding switch in three dimensions. *Science* **294**, 1299-1304
- 4. Bourne, H. R., Sanders, D. A., and McCormick, F. (1990) The GTPase superfamily: a conserved switch for diverse cell functions. *Nature* **348**, 125-132
- 5. Bos, J. L., Rehmann, H., and Wittinghofer, A. (2007) GEFs and GAPs: critical elements in the control of small G proteins. *Cell* **129**, 865-877
- 6. Cherfils, J., and Zeghouf, M. (2013) Regulation of small GTPases by GEFs, GAPs, and GDIs. *Physiol Rev* **93**, 269-309
- 7. Guan, J. L. (2004) Cell biology. Integrins, rafts, Rac, and Rho. Science 303, 773-774
- 8. Fivaz, M., and Meyer, T. (2003) Specific localization and timing in neuronal signal transduction mediated by protein-lipid interactions. *Neuron* **40**, 319-330
- 9. Schaefer, A., Reinhard, N. R., and Hordijk, P. L. (2014) Toward understanding RhoGTPase specificity: structure, function and local activation. *Small GTPases* **5**, 6
- 10. Williams, C. L. (2003) The polybasic region of Ras and Rho family small GTPases: a regulator of protein interactions and membrane association and a site of nuclear localization signal sequences. *Cell Signal* **15**, 1071-1080
- 11. Heo, W. D., Inoue, T., Park, W. S., Kim, M. L., Park, B. O., Wandless, T. J., and Meyer, T. (2006) PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(4,5)P2 lipids target proteins with polybasic clusters to the plasma membrane. *Science* **314**, 1458-1461
- 12. Hicks, K. A., Hartman, H. L., and Fierke, C. A. (2005) Upstream polybasic region in peptides enhances dual specificity for prenylation by both farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase type I. *Biochemistry* **44**, 15325-15333
- 13. Johnson, J. L., Erickson, J. W., and Cerione, R. A. (2012) C-terminal di-arginine motif of Cdc42 protein is essential for binding to phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate-containing membranes and inducing cellular transformation. *J Biol Chem* **287**, 5764-5774
- 14. Cadwallader, K. A., Paterson, H., Macdonald, S. G., and Hancock, J. F. (1994) N-terminally myristoylated Ras proteins require palmitoylation or a polybasic domain for plasma membrane localization. *Mol Cell Biol* **14**, 4722-4730
- 15. Hancock, J. F., Paterson, H., and Marshall, C. J. (1990) A polybasic domain or palmitoylation is required in addition to the CAAX motif to localize p21ras to the plasma membrane. *Cell* **63**, 133-139
- 16. Mitchell, D. A., Farh, L., Marshall, T. K., and Deschenes, R. J. (1994) A polybasic domain allows nonprenylated Ras proteins to function in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J Biol Chem* **269**, 21540-21546
- 17. Van Aelst, L., and D'Souza-Schorey, C. (1997) Rho GTPases and signaling networks. *Genes Dev* **11**, 2295-2322
- 18. Burridge, K., and Wennerberg, K. (2004) Rho and Rac take center stage. *Cell* **116**, 167-179
- 19. Wennerberg, K., Rossman, K. L., and Der, C. J. (2005) The Ras superfamily at a glance. *J Cell Sci* **118**, 843-846

- 20. Mitin, N., Rossman, K. L., and Der, C. J. (2005) Signaling interplay in Ras superfamily function. *Curr Biol* **15**, R563-574
- 21. Reuther, G. W., and Der, C. J. (2000) The Ras branch of small GTPases: Ras family members don't fall far from the tree. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **12**, 157-165
- Dong, W., Zhang, X., Liu, W., Chen, Y. J., Huang, J., Austin, E., Celotto, A. M., Jiang, W. Z., Palladino, M. J., Jiang, Y., Hammond, G. R., and Hong, Y. (2015) A conserved polybasic domain mediates plasma membrane targeting of Lgl and its regulation by hypoxia. *J Cell Biol* 211, 273-286
- Kaur, G., Pinggera, A., Ortner, N. J., Lieb, A., Sinnegger-Brauns, M. J., Yarov-Yarovoy, V., Obermair, G. J., Flucher, B. E., and Striessnig, J. (2015) A Polybasic Plasma Membrane Binding Motif in the I-II Linker Stabilizes Voltage-gated CaV1.2 Calcium Channel Function. *J Biol Chem* 290, 21086-21100
- 24. Kawahara, T., and Lambeth, J. D. (2008) Phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate modulates Nox5 localization via an N-terminal polybasic region. *Mol Biol Cell* **19**, 4020-4031
- 25. Walker, S. M., Leslie, N. R., Perera, N. M., Batty, I. H., and Downes, C. P. (2004) The tumoursuppressor function of PTEN requires an N-terminal lipid-binding motif. *Biochem J* **379**, 301-307
- 26. Crouthamel, M., Abankwa, D., Zhang, L., DiLizio, C., Manning, D. R., Hancock, J. F., and Wedegaertner, P. B. (2010) An N-terminal polybasic motif of Galphaq is required for signaling and influences membrane nanodomain distribution. *Mol Pharmacol* **78**, 767-777
- 27. Crouthamel, M., Thiyagarajan, M. M., Evanko, D. S., and Wedegaertner, P. B. (2008) N-terminal polybasic motifs are required for plasma membrane localization of Galpha(s) and Galpha(q). *Cell Signal* **20**, 1900-1910
- 28. Pedone, K. H., and Hepler, J. R. (2007) The importance of N-terminal polycysteine and polybasic sequences for G14alpha and G16alpha palmitoylation, plasma membrane localization, and signaling function. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 25199-25212
- 29. Sanematsu, F., Nishikimi, A., Watanabe, M., Hongu, T., Tanaka, Y., Kanaho, Y., Cote, J. F., and Fukui, Y. (2013) Phosphatidic acid-dependent recruitment and function of the Rac activator DOCK1 during dorsal ruffle formation. *J Biol Chem* **288**, 8092-8100
- 30. Nishikimi, A., Fukuhara, H., Su, W., Hongu, T., Takasuga, S., Mihara, H., Cao, Q., Sanematsu, F., Kanai, M., Hasegawa, H., Tanaka, Y., Shibasaki, M., Kanaho, Y., Sasaki, T., Frohman, M. A., and Fukui, Y. (2009) Sequential regulation of DOCK2 dynamics by two phospholipids during neutrophil chemotaxis. *Science* **324**, 384-387
- 31. Su, K. C., Takaki, T., and Petronczki, M. (2011) Targeting of the RhoGEF Ect2 to the equatorial membrane controls cleavage furrow formation during cytokinesis. *Dev Cell* **21**, 1104-1115
- 32. Macia, E., Paris, S., and Chabre, M. (2000) Binding of the PH and polybasic C-terminal domains of ARNO to phosphoinositides and to acidic lipids. *Biochemistry* **39**, 5893-5901
- 33. Nagel, W., Schilcher, P., Zeitlmann, L., and Kolanus, W. (1998) The PH domain and the polybasic c domain of cytohesin-1 cooperate specifically in plasma membrane association and cellular function. *Mol Biol Cell* **9**, 1981-1994
- Erlmann, P., Schmid, S., Horenkamp, F. A., Geyer, M., Pomorski, T. G., and Olayioye, M. A. (2009) DLC1 activation requires lipid interaction through a polybasic region preceding the RhoGAP domain. *Mol Biol Cell* 20, 4400-4411
- 35. Levay, M., Settleman, J., and Ligeti, E. (2009) Regulation of the substrate preference of p190RhoGAP by protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation of a phospholipid binding site. *Biochemistry* **48**, 8615-8623

- 36. Karimzadeh, F., Primeau, M., Mountassif, D., Rouiller, I., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2012) A stretch of polybasic residues mediates Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP) binding to phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate and regulates its GAP activity. *J Biol Chem* **287**, 19610-19621
- 37. Scheffzek, K., Klebe, C., Fritz-Wolf, K., Kabsch, W., and Wittinghofer, A. (1995) Crystal structure of the nuclear Ras-related protein Ran in its GDP-bound form. *Nature* **374**, 378-381
- 38. Zerial, M., and McBride, H. (2001) Rab proteins as membrane organizers. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 107-117
- 39. Pereira-Leal, J. B., and Seabra, M. C. (2001) Evolution of the Rab family of small GTP-binding proteins. *J Mol Biol* **313**, 889-901
- 40. Cherfils, J. (2014) Arf GTPases and their effectors: assembling multivalent membrane-binding platforms. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* **29**, 67-76
- 41. Chang, Y. Y., Lin, P. C., Lin, H. H., Lin, J. K., Chen, W. S., Jiang, J. K., Yang, S. H., Liang, W. Y., and Chang, S. C. (2016) Mutation spectra of RAS gene family in colorectal cancer. *Am J Surg*
- 42. Prior, I. A., Lewis, P. D., and Mattos, C. (2012) A comprehensive survey of Ras mutations in cancer. *Cancer Res* **72**, 2457-2467
- 43. Fernandez-Medarde, A., and Santos, E. (2011) Ras in cancer and developmental diseases. *Genes Cancer* **2**, 344-358
- 44. Forbes, S. A., Bindal, N., Bamford, S., Cole, C., Kok, C. Y., Beare, D., Jia, M., Shepherd, R., Leung, K., Menzies, A., Teague, J. W., Campbell, P. J., Stratton, M. R., and Futreal, P. A. (2011) COSMIC: mining complete cancer genomes in the Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, D945-950
- 45. Lu, S., Jang, H., Muratcioglu, S., Gursoy, A., Keskin, O., Nussinov, R., and Zhang, J. (2016) Ras Conformational Ensembles, Allostery, and Signaling. *Chem Rev* **116**, 6607-6665
- 46. Porter, A. P., Papaioannou, A., and Malliri, A. (2016) Deregulation of Rho GTPases in cancer. *Small GTPases*, 1-16
- 47. Orgaz, J. L., Herraiz, C., and Sanz-Moreno, V. (2014) Rho GTPases modulate malignant transformation of tumor cells. *Small GTPases* **5**, e29019
- 48. Hall, A. (2012) Rho family GTPases. *Biochem Soc Trans* **40**, 1378-1382
- 49. Aspenstrom, P., Fransson, A., and Saras, J. (2004) Rho GTPases have diverse effects on the organization of the actin filament system. *Biochem J* **377**, 327-337
- 50. Etienne-Manneville, S., and Hall, A. (2002) Rho GTPases in cell biology. *Nature* **420**, 629-635
- 51. Schmidt, A., and Hall, A. (2002) Guanine nucleotide exchange factors for Rho GTPases: turning on the switch. *Genes Dev* **16**, 1587-1609
- 52. Cerione, R. A., and Zheng, Y. (1996) The Dbl family of oncogenes. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **8**, 216-222
- 53. Cote, J. F., and Vuori, K. (2007) GEF what? Dock180 and related proteins help Rac to polarize cells in new ways. *Trends Cell Biol* **17**, 383-393
- 54. Laurin, M., and Cote, J. F. (2014) Insights into the biological functions of Dock family guanine nucleotide exchange factors. *Genes Dev* **28**, 533-547
- 55. Soisson, S. M., Nimnual, A. S., Uy, M., Bar-Sagi, D., and Kuriyan, J. (1998) Crystal structure of the Dbl and pleckstrin homology domains from the human Son of sevenless protein. *Cell* **95**, 259-268
- 56. Rossman, K. L., Der, C. J., and Sondek, J. (2005) GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **6**, 167-180
- 57. Fields, A. P., and Justilien, V. (2010) The guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) Ect2 is an oncogene in human cancer. *Adv Enzyme Regul* **50**, 190-200

- 58. Cook, D. R., Rossman, K. L., and Der, C. J. (2014) Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors: regulators of Rho GTPase activity in development and disease. *Oncogene* **33**, 4021-4035
- 59. Yang, W., Lv, S., Liu, X., Liu, H., Yang, W., and Hu, F. (2010) Up-regulation of Tiam1 and Rac1 correlates with poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* **40**, 1053-1059
- Xu, K., Tian, X., Oh, S. Y., Movassaghi, M., Naber, S. P., Kuperwasser, C., and Buchsbaum, R. J. (2016) The fibroblast Tiam1-osteopontin pathway modulates breast cancer invasion and metastasis. *Breast Cancer Res* 18, 14
- 61. Yang, H., Cai, Y. C., Cao, Y., Song, M., An, X., Xia, Y., Wei, J., Jiang, W. Q., and Shi, Y. X. (2015) The prognostic value of Tiam1 protein expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a retrospective study. *Chin J Cancer* **34**, 614-621
- 62. Boissier, P., and Huynh-Do, U. (2014) The guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1: a Janusfaced molecule in cellular signaling. *Cell Signal* **26**, 483-491
- 63. Liu, H., Wang, X., Shi, G., Jiang, L., and Liu, X. (2014) Tiam1 siRNA enhanced the sensitivity of sorafenib on esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in vivo. *Tumour Biol* **35**, 8249-8258
- 64. Olofsson, B. (1999) Rho guanine dissociation inhibitors: pivotal molecules in cellular signalling. *Cell Signal* **11**, 545-554
- 65. Dransart, E., Olofsson, B., and Cherfils, J. (2005) RhoGDIs revisited: novel roles in Rho regulation. *Traffic* **6**, 957-966
- 66. Garcia-Mata, R., Boulter, E., and Burridge, K. (2011) The 'invisible hand': regulation of RHO GTPases by RHOGDIs. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **12**, 493-504
- Jiang, W. G., Watkins, G., Lane, J., Cunnick, G. H., Douglas-Jones, A., Mokbel, K., and Mansel, R.
  E. (2003) Prognostic value of rho GTPases and rho guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors in human breast cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* **9**, 6432-6440
- Abiatari, I., DeOliveira, T., Kerkadze, V., Schwager, C., Esposito, I., Giese, N. A., Huber, P.,
   Bergman, F., Abdollahi, A., Friess, H., and Kleeff, J. (2009) Consensus transcriptome signature of perineural invasion in pancreatic carcinoma. *Mol Cancer Ther* 8, 1494-1504
- 69. Theodorescu, D., Sapinoso, L. M., Conaway, M. R., Oxford, G., Hampton, G. M., and Frierson, H. F., Jr. (2004) Reduced expression of metastasis suppressor RhoGDI2 is associated with decreased survival for patients with bladder cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **10**, 3800-3806
- 70. Tkachenko, E., Sabouri-Ghomi, M., Pertz, O., Kim, C., Gutierrez, E., Machacek, M., Groisman, A., Danuser, G., and Ginsberg, M. H. (2011) Protein kinase A governs a RhoA-RhoGDI protrusionretraction pacemaker in migrating cells. *Nat Cell Biol* **13**, 660-667
- 71. Wang, S., Yan-Neale, Y., Fischer, D., Zeremski, M., Cai, R., Zhu, J., Asselbergs, F., Hampton, G., and Cohen, D. (2003) Histone deacetylase 1 represses the small GTPase RhoB expression in human nonsmall lung carcinoma cell line. *Oncogene* **22**, 6204-6213
- 72. Doye, A., Mettouchi, A., and Lemichez, E. (2012) Assessing ubiquitylation of Rho GTPases in mammalian cells. *Methods Mol Biol* **827**, 77-86
- 73. Ding, F., Yin, Z., and Wang, H. R. (2011) Ubiquitination in Rho signaling. *Curr Top Med Chem* **11**, 2879-2887
- 74. Visvikis, O., Maddugoda, M. P., and Lemichez, E. (2010) Direct modifications of Rho proteins: deconstructing GTPase regulation. *Biol Cell* **102**, 377-389
- 75. Wei, J., Mialki, R. K., Dong, S., Khoo, A., Mallampalli, R. K., Zhao, Y., and Zhao, J. (2013) A new mechanism of RhoA ubiquitination and degradation: roles of SCF(FBXL19) E3 ligase and Erk2. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1833**, 2757-2764

- 76. Castillo-Lluva, S., Tan, C. T., Daugaard, M., Sorensen, P. H., and Malliri, A. (2013) The tumour suppressor HACE1 controls cell migration by regulating Rac1 degradation. *Oncogene* **32**, 1735-1742
- 77. Tu, S., Wu, W. J., Wang, J., and Cerione, R. A. (2003) Epidermal growth factor-dependent regulation of Cdc42 is mediated by the Src tyrosine kinase. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 49293-49300
- 78. Gomez del Pulgar, T., Benitah, S. A., Valeron, P. F., Espina, C., and Lacal, J. C. (2005) Rho GTPase expression in tumourigenesis: evidence for a significant link. *Bioessays* **27**, 602-613
- 79. Nakamoto, M., Teramoto, H., Matsumoto, S., Igishi, T., and Shimizu, E. (2001) K-ras and rho A mutations in malignant pleural effusion. *Int J Oncol* **19**, 971-976
- 80. Suwa, H., Ohshio, G., Imamura, T., Watanabe, G., Arii, S., Imamura, M., Narumiya, S., Hiai, H., and Fukumoto, M. (1998) Overexpression of the rhoC gene correlates with progression of ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Br J Cancer* **77**, 147-152
- 81. Rihet, S., Vielh, P., Camonis, J., Goud, B., Chevillard, S., and de Gunzburg, J. (2001) Mutation status of genes encoding RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 GTPases in a panel of invasive human colorectal and breast tumors. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* **127**, 733-738
- 82. Kamai, T., Yamanishi, T., Shirataki, H., Takagi, K., Asami, H., Ito, Y., and Yoshida, K. (2004) Overexpression of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 GTPases is associated with progression in testicular cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **10**, 4799-4805
- 83. Fritz, G., Just, I., and Kaina, B. (1999) Rho GTPases are over-expressed in human tumors. *Int J Cancer* **81**, 682-687
- 84. Gomez Del Pulgar, T., Valdes-Mora, F., Bandres, E., Perez-Palacios, R., Espina, C., Cejas, P.,
  Garcia-Cabezas, M. A., Nistal, M., Casado, E., Gonzalez-Baron, M., Garcia-Foncillas, J., and Lacal,
  J. C. (2008) Cdc42 is highly expressed in colorectal adenocarcinoma and downregulates ID4
  through an epigenetic mechanism. *Int J Oncol* 33, 185-193
- 85. Tucci, M. G., Lucarini, G., Brancorsini, D., Zizzi, A., Pugnaloni, A., Giacchetti, A., Ricotti, G., and Biagini, G. (2007) Involvement of E-cadherin, beta-catenin, Cdc42 and CXCR4 in the progression and prognosis of cutaneous melanoma. *Br J Dermatol* **157**, 1212-1216
- 86. Fritz, G., Brachetti, C., Bahlmann, F., Schmidt, M., and Kaina, B. (2002) Rho GTPases in human breast tumours: expression and mutation analyses and correlation with clinical parameters. *Br J Cancer* **87**, 635-644
- 87. Gomez del Pulgar, T., Benitah, S. A., Valeron, P. F., Espina, C., and Lacal, J. C. (2005) Rho GTPase expression in tumourigenesis: evidence for a significant link. *Bioessays* **27**, 602-613
- 88. Barrio-Real, L., and Kazanietz, M. G. (2012) Rho GEFs and cancer: linking gene expression and metastatic dissemination. *Sci Signal* **5**, pe43
- 89. Alan, J. K., and Lundquist, E. A. (2013) Mutationally activated Rho GTPases in cancer. *Small GTPases* **4**, 159-163
- Krauthammer, M., Kong, Y., Ha, B. H., Evans, P., Bacchiocchi, A., McCusker, J. P., Cheng, E., Davis, M. J., Goh, G., Choi, M., Ariyan, S., Narayan, D., Dutton-Regester, K., Capatana, A., Holman, E. C., Bosenberg, M., Sznol, M., Kluger, H. M., Brash, D. E., Stern, D. F., Materin, M. A., Lo, R. S., Mane, S., Ma, S., Kidd, K. K., Hayward, N. K., Lifton, R. P., Schlessinger, J., Boggon, T. J., and Halaban, R. (2012) Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma. *Nat Genet* 44, 1006-1014
- 91. Mack, N. A., Whalley, H. J., Castillo-Lluva, S., and Malliri, A. (2011) The diverse roles of Rac signaling in tumorigenesis. *Cell Cycle* **10**, 1571-1581

- 92. Mazieres, J., Antonia, T., Daste, G., Muro-Cacho, C., Berchery, D., Tillement, V., Pradines, A., Sebti, S., and Favre, G. (2004) Loss of RhoB expression in human lung cancer progression. *Clin Cancer Res* **10**, 2742-2750
- 93. Bernards, A. (2003) GAPs galore! A survey of putative Ras superfamily GTPase activating proteins in man and Drosophila. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1603**, 47-82
- 94. Tcherkezian, J., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2007) Current knowledge of the large RhoGAP family of proteins. *Biol Cell* **99**, 67-86
- 95. Tcherkezian, J., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2007) Current knowledge of the large RhoGAP family of proteins. *Biol Cell* **99**, 67-86
- 96. Bernards, A., and Settleman, J. (2004) GAP control: regulating the regulators of small GTPases. *Trends Cell Biol* **14**, 377-385
- 97. Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., Mural, R. J., Sutton, G. G., Smith, H. O., Yandell, M., Evans, C. A., Holt, R. A., Gocayne, J. D., Amanatides, P., Ballew, R. M., Huson, D. H., Wortman, J. R., Zhang, Q., Kodira, C. D., Zheng, X. H., Chen, L., Skupski, M., Subramanian, G., Thomas, P. D., Zhang, J., Gabor Miklos, G. L., Nelson, C., Broder, S., Clark, A. G., Nadeau, J., McKusick, V. A., Zinder, N., Levine, A. J., Roberts, R. J., Simon, M., Slayman, C., Hunkapiller, M., Bolanos, R., Delcher, A., Dew, I., Fasulo, D., Flanigan, M., Florea, L., Halpern, A., Hannenhalli, S., Kravitz, S., Levy, S., Mobarry, C., Reinert, K., Remington, K., Abu-Threideh, J., Beasley, E., Biddick, K., Bonazzi, V., Brandon, R., Cargill, M., Chandramouliswaran, I., Charlab, R., Chaturvedi, K., Deng, Z., Di Francesco, V., Dunn, P., Eilbeck, K., Evangelista, C., Gabrielian, A. E., Gan, W., Ge, W., Gong, F., Gu, Z., Guan, P., Heiman, T. J., Higgins, M. E., Ji, R. R., Ke, Z., Ketchum, K. A., Lai, Z., Lei, Y., Li, Z., Li, J., Liang, Y., Lin, X., Lu, F., Merkulov, G. V., Milshina, N., Moore, H. M., Naik, A. K., Narayan, V. A., Neelam, B., Nusskern, D., Rusch, D. B., Salzberg, S., Shao, W., Shue, B., Sun, J., Wang, Z., Wang, A., Wang, X., Wang, J., Wei, M., Wides, R., Xiao, C., Yan, C., Yao, A., Ye, J., Zhan, M., Zhang, W., Zhang, H., Zhao, Q., Zheng, L., Zhong, F., Zhong, W., Zhu, S., Zhao, S., Gilbert, D., Baumhueter, S., Spier, G., Carter, C., Cravchik, A., Woodage, T., Ali, F., An, H., Awe, A., Baldwin, D., Baden, H., Barnstead, M., Barrow, I., Beeson, K., Busam, D., Carver, A., Center, A., Cheng, M. L., Curry, L., Danaher, S., Davenport, L., Desilets, R., Dietz, S., Dodson, K., Doup, L., Ferriera, S., Garg, N., Gluecksmann, A., Hart, B., Haynes, J., Haynes, C., Heiner, C., Hladun, S., Hostin, D., Houck, J., Howland, T., Ibegwam, C., Johnson, J., Kalush, F., Kline, L., Koduru, S., Love, A., Mann, F., May, D., McCawley, S., McIntosh, T., McMullen, I., Moy, M., Moy, L., Murphy, B., Nelson, K., Pfannkoch, C., Pratts, E., Puri, V., Qureshi, H., Reardon, M., Rodriguez, R., Rogers, Y. H., Romblad, D., Ruhfel, B., Scott, R., Sitter, C., Smallwood, M., Stewart, E., Strong, R., Suh, E., Thomas, R., Tint, N. N., Tse, S., Vech, C., Wang, G., Wetter, J., Williams, S., Williams, M., Windsor, S., Winn-Deen, E., Wolfe, K., Zaveri, J., Zaveri, K., Abril, J. F., Guigo, R., Campbell, M. J., Sjolander, K. V., Karlak, B., Kejariwal, A., Mi, H., Lazareva, B., Hatton, T., Narechania, A., Diemer, K., Muruganujan, A., Guo, N., Sato, S., Bafna, V., Istrail, S., Lippert, R., Schwartz, R., Walenz, B., Yooseph, S., Allen, D., Basu, A., Baxendale, J., Blick, L., Caminha, M., Carnes-Stine, J., Caulk, P., Chiang, Y. H., Coyne, M., Dahlke, C., Mays, A., Dombroski, M., Donnelly, M., Ely, D., Esparham, S., Fosler, C., Gire, H., Glanowski, S., Glasser, K., Glodek, A., Gorokhov, M., Graham, K., Gropman, B., Harris, M., Heil, J., Henderson, S., Hoover, J., Jennings, D., Jordan, C., Jordan, J., Kasha, J., Kagan, L., Kraft, C., Levitsky, A., Lewis, M., Liu, X., Lopez, J., Ma, D., Majoros, W., McDaniel, J., Murphy, S., Newman, M., Nguyen, T., Nguyen, N., Nodell, M., Pan, S., Peck, J., Peterson, M., Rowe, W., Sanders, R., Scott, J., Simpson, M., Smith, T., Sprague, A., Stockwell, T., Turner, R., Venter, E., Wang, M., Wen, M., Wu, D., Wu, M., Xia, A., Zandieh, A., and Zhu, X. (2001) The sequence of the human genome. Science 291, 1304-1351

- 98. Rittinger, K., Walker, P. A., Eccleston, J. F., Nurmahomed, K., Owen, D., Laue, E., Gamblin, S. J., and Smerdon, S. J. (1997) Crystal structure of a small G protein in complex with the GTPase-activating protein rhoGAP. *Nature* **388**, 693-697
- 99. Barrett, T., Xiao, B., Dodson, E. J., Dodson, G., Ludbrook, S. B., Nurmahomed, K., Gamblin, S. J., Musacchio, A., Smerdon, S. J., and Eccleston, J. F. (1997) The structure of the GTPase-activating domain from p50rhoGAP. *Nature* **385**, 458-461
- 100. Morishita, Y., Tsutsumi, K., and Ohta, Y. (2015) Phosphorylation of Serine 402 Regulates RacGAP Protein Activity of FilGAP Protein. *J Biol Chem* **290**, 26328-26338
- 101. Nakamura, F. (2013) FilGAP and its close relatives: a mediator of Rho-Rac antagonism that regulates cell morphology and migration. *Biochem J* **453**, 17-25
- 102. Rowland, A. F., Larance, M., Hughes, W. E., and James, D. E. (2011) Identification of RhoGAP22 as an Akt-dependent regulator of cell motility in response to insulin. *Mol Cell Biol* **31**, 4789-4800
- Beck, S., Fotinos, A., Lang, F., Gawaz, M., and Elvers, M. (2013) Isoform-specific roles of the GTPase activating protein Nadrin in cytoskeletal reorganization of platelets. *Cell Signal* 25, 236-246
- 104. Richnau, N., and Aspenstrom, P. (2001) Rich, a rho GTPase-activating protein domain-containing protein involved in signaling by Cdc42 and Rac1. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 35060-35070
- 105. Beck, S., Fotinos, A., Gawaz, M., and Elvers, M. (2014) Nadrin GAP activity is isoform- and targetspecific regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation. *Cell Signal* **26**, 1975-1984
- Harada, A., Furuta, B., Takeuchi, K., Itakura, M., Takahashi, M., and Umeda, M. (2000) Nadrin, a novel neuron-specific GTPase-activating protein involved in regulated exocytosis. *J Biol Chem* 275, 36885-36891
- Liu, H., Nakazawa, T., Tezuka, T., and Yamamoto, T. (2006) Physical and functional interaction of Fyn tyrosine kinase with a brain-enriched Rho GTPase-activating protein TCGAP. *J Biol Chem* 281, 23611-23619
- 108. Danek, E. I., Tcherkezian, J., Triki, I., Meriane, M., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2007) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 phosphorylates CdGAP at a consensus ERK 1 regulatory site. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 3624-3631
- 109. Tcherkezian, J., Danek, E. I., Jenna, S., Triki, I., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2005) Extracellular signalregulated kinase 1 interacts with and phosphorylates CdGAP at an important regulatory site. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**, 6314-6329
- 110. Gokhale, N. A. (2013) Membrane phosphoinositides and protein-membrane interactions. *Amino Acids* **45**, 751-754
- 111. Brown, D. A. (2015) PIP2Clustering: From model membranes to cells. *Chem Phys Lipids* **192**, 33-40
- 112. McLaughlin, S., and Murray, D. (2005) Plasma membrane phosphoinositide organization by protein electrostatics. *Nature* **438**, 605-611
- 113. Papayannopoulos, V., Co, C., Prehoda, K. E., Snapper, S., Taunton, J., and Lim, W. A. (2005) A polybasic motif allows N-WASP to act as a sensor of PIP(2) density. *Mol Cell* **17**, 181-191
- 114. Takahashi, S., and Pryciak, P. M. (2007) Identification of novel membrane-binding domains in multiple yeast Cdc42 effectors. *Mol Biol Cell* **18**, 4945-4956
- 115. Gureasko, J., Galush, W. J., Boykevisch, S., Sondermann, H., Bar-Sagi, D., Groves, J. T., and Kuriyan, J. (2008) Membrane-dependent signal integration by the Ras activator Son of sevenless. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **15**, 452-461
- 116. Hurley, J. H. (2006) Membrane binding domains. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1761**, 805-811

- 117. Braun, A. C., and Olayioye, M. A. (2015) Rho regulation: DLC proteins in space and time. *Cell Signal* **27**, 1643-1651
- 118. Wong, C. M., Lee, J. M., Ching, Y. P., Jin, D. Y., and Ng, I. O. (2003) Genetic and epigenetic alterations of DLC-1 gene in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Res* **63**, 7646-7651
- 119. Durkin, M. E., Ullmannova, V., Guan, M., and Popescu, N. C. (2007) Deleted in liver cancer 3 (DLC-3), a novel Rho GTPase-activating protein, is downregulated in cancer and inhibits tumor cell growth. *Oncogene* **26**, 4580-4589
- 120. Braun, A. C., Hendrick, J., Eisler, S. A., Schmid, S., Hausser, A., and Olayioye, M. A. (2015) The Rho-specific GAP protein DLC3 coordinates endocytic membrane trafficking. *J Cell Sci* **128**, 1386-1399
- 121. Hu, X., Stern, H. M., Ge, L., O'Brien, C., Haydu, L., Honchell, C. D., Haverty, P. M., Peters, B. A., Wu, T. D., Amler, L. C., Chant, J., Stokoe, D., Lackner, M. R., and Cavet, G. (2009) Genetic alterations and oncogenic pathways associated with breast cancer subtypes. *Mol Cancer Res* 7, 511-522
- 122. Stefansson, O. A., Jonasson, J. G., Olafsdottir, K., Bjarnason, H., Th Johannsson, O., Bodvarsdottir, S. K., Valgeirsdottir, S., and Eyfjord, J. E. (2011) Genomic and phenotypic analysis of BRCA2 mutated breast cancers reveals co-occurring changes linked to progression. *Breast Cancer Res* 13, R95
- 123. McHenry, P. R., Sears, J. C., Herrick, M. P., Chang, P., Heckman-Stoddard, B. M., Rybarczyk, M., Chodosh, L. A., Gunther, E. J., Hilsenbeck, S. G., Rosen, J. M., and Vargo-Gogola, T. (2010) P190B RhoGAP has pro-tumorigenic functions during MMTV-Neu mammary tumorigenesis and metastasis. *Breast Cancer Res* 12, R73
- 124. Chen, J., Xia, H., Zhang, X., Karthik, S., Pratap, S. V., Ooi, L. L., Hong, W., and Hui, K. M. (2015) ECT2 regulates the Rho/ERK signalling axis to promote early recurrence in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* **62**, 1287-1295
- 125. Wang, S. M., Ooi, L. L., and Hui, K. M. (2011) Upregulation of Rac GTPase-activating protein 1 is significantly associated with the early recurrence of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* **17**, 6040-6051
- 126. Lawson, C. D., Fan, C., Mitin, N., Baker, N. M., George, S. D., Graham, D. M., Perou, C. M., Burridge, K., Der, C. J., and Rossman, K. L. (2016) Rho GTPase Transcriptome Analysis Reveals Oncogenic Roles for Rho GTPase-activating Proteins in Basal-like Breast Cancers. *Cancer Res*
- 127. He, Y., Northey, JJ., Pelletier, A., Kos, Z., Meunier, L., Haibe-Kains, B, Mes-Masson, AM, Côté, JF., Siegel, PM., and Lamarche-Vane, N. . (2016) CdGAP functions as a transcriptional co-repressor of E-cadherin expression to promote breast cancer in a GAP-independent manner. *Submitted*
- 128. He, Y., Northey, J. J., Primeau, M., Machado, R. D., Trembath, R., Siegel, P. M., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2011) CdGAP is required for transforming growth factor beta- and Neu/ErbB-2induced breast cancer cell motility and invasion. *Oncogene* **30**, 1032-1045
- 129. Letunic, I., Doerks, T., and Bork, P. (2015) SMART: recent updates, new developments and status in 2015. *Nucleic Acids Res* **43**, D257-260
- Finn, R. D., Coggill, P., Eberhardt, R. Y., Eddy, S. R., Mistry, J., Mitchell, A. L., Potter, S. C., Punta, M., Qureshi, M., Sangrador-Vegas, A., Salazar, G. A., Tate, J., and Bateman, A. (2016) The Pfam protein families database: towards a more sustainable future. *Nucleic Acids Res* 44, D279-285
- Mitchell, A., Chang, H. Y., Daugherty, L., Fraser, M., Hunter, S., Lopez, R., McAnulla, C., McMenamin, C., Nuka, G., Pesseat, S., Sangrador-Vegas, A., Scheremetjew, M., Rato, C., Yong, S. Y., Bateman, A., Punta, M., Attwood, T. K., Sigrist, C. J., Redaschi, N., Rivoire, C., Xenarios, I., Kahn, D., Guyot, D., Bork, P., Letunic, I., Gough, J., Oates, M., Haft, D., Huang, H., Natale, D. A.,

Wu, C. H., Orengo, C., Sillitoe, I., Mi, H., Thomas, P. D., and Finn, R. D. (2015) The InterPro protein families database: the classification resource after 15 years. *Nucleic Acids Res* **43**, D213-221

- 132. Lemmon, M. A. (2007) Pleckstrin homology (PH) domains and phosphoinositides. *Biochem Soc Symp*, 81-93
- 133. Kawaguchi, K., Saito, K., Asami, H., and Ohta, Y. (2014) ADP ribosylation factor 6 (Arf6) acts through FilGAP protein to down-regulate Rac protein and regulates plasma membrane blebbing. *J Biol Chem* **289**, 9675-9682
- 134. Mori, M., Saito, K., and Ohta, Y. (2014) ARHGAP22 localizes at endosomes and regulates actin cytoskeleton. *PLoS One* **9**, e100271
- Csepanyi-Komi, R., Sirokmany, G., Geiszt, M., and Ligeti, E. (2012) ARHGAP25, a novel Rac GTPase-activating protein, regulates phagocytosis in human neutrophilic granulocytes. *Blood* 119, 573-582
- Ceccarelli, D. F., Blasutig, I. M., Goudreault, M., Li, Z., Ruston, J., Pawson, T., and Sicheri, F. (2007) Non-canonical interaction of phosphoinositides with pleckstrin homology domains of Tiam1 and ArhGAP9. *J Biol Chem* 282, 13864-13874
- 137. Lecat, S., Matthes, H. W., Pepperkok, R., Simpson, J. C., and Galzi, J. L. (2015) A Fluorescent Live Imaging Screening Assay Based on Translocation Criteria Identifies Novel Cytoplasmic Proteins Implicated in G Protein-coupled Receptor Signaling Pathways. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 14, 1385-1399
- 138. Seoh, M. L., Ng, C. H., Yong, J., Lim, L., and Leung, T. (2003) ArhGAP15, a novel human RacGAP protein with GTPase binding property. *FEBS Lett* **539**, 131-137
- 139. Sakakibara, T., Nemoto, Y., Nukiwa, T., and Takeshima, H. (2004) Identification and characterization of a novel Rho GTPase activating protein implicated in receptor-mediated endocytosis. *FEBS Lett* **566**, 294-300
- 140. Katoh, M., and Katoh, M. (2003) Identification and characterization of human KIAA1391 and mouse Kiaa1391 genes encoding novel RhoGAP family proteins with RA domain and ANXL repeats. *Int J Oncol* **23**, 1471-1476
- 141. Yamada, T., Sakisaka, T., Hisata, S., Baba, T., and Takai, Y. (2005) RA-RhoGAP, Rap-activated Rho GTPase-activating protein implicated in neurite outgrowth through Rho. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 33026-33034
- Wong, K., Ren, X. R., Huang, Y. Z., Xie, Y., Liu, G., Saito, H., Tang, H., Wen, L., Brady-Kalnay, S. M., Mei, L., Wu, J. Y., Xiong, W. C., and Rao, Y. (2001) Signal transduction in neuronal migration: roles of GTPase activating proteins and the small GTPase Cdc42 in the Slit-Robo pathway. *Cell* 107, 209-221
- 143. Fritz, R. D., Menshykau, D., Martin, K., Reimann, A., Pontelli, V., and Pertz, O. (2015) SrGAP2-Dependent Integration of Membrane Geometry and Slit-Robo-Repulsive Cues Regulates Fibroblast Contact Inhibition of Locomotion. *Dev Cell* **35**, 78-92
- Endris, V., Wogatzky, B., Leimer, U., Bartsch, D., Zatyka, M., Latif, F., Maher, E. R., Tariverdian, G., Kirsch, S., Karch, D., and Rappold, G. A. (2002) The novel Rho-GTPase activating gene MEGAP/ srGAP3 has a putative role in severe mental retardation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99, 11754-11759
- 145. Diekmann, D., Brill, S., Garrett, M. D., Totty, N., Hsuan, J., Monfries, C., Hall, C., Lim, L., and Hall, A. (1991) Bcr encodes a GTPase-activating protein for p21rac. *Nature* **351**, 400-402

- 146. Kozma, R., Ahmed, S., Best, A., and Lim, L. (1996) The GTPase-activating protein n-chimaerin cooperates with Rac1 and Cdc42Hs to induce the formation of lamellipodia and filopodia. *Mol Cell Biol* **16**, 5069-5080
- 147. Lancaster, C. A., Taylor-Harris, P. M., Self, A. J., Brill, S., van Erp, H. E., and Hall, A. (1994) Characterization of rhoGAP. A GTPase-activating protein for rho-related small GTPases. *J Biol Chem* **269**, 1137-1142
- 148. Yamada, T., Hikida, M., and Kurosaki, T. (2006) Regulation of cytokinesis by mgcRacGAP in B lymphocytes is independent of GAP activity. *Exp Cell Res* **312**, 3517-3525
- 149. Jantsch-Plunger, V., Gonczy, P., Romano, A., Schnabel, H., Hamill, D., Schnabel, R., Hyman, A. A., and Glotzer, M. (2000) CYK-4: A Rho family gtpase activating protein (GAP) required for central spindle formation and cytokinesis. *J Cell Biol* **149**, 1391-1404
- 150. Omelchenko, T., and Hall, A. (2012) Myosin-IXA regulates collective epithelial cell migration by targeting RhoGAP activity to cell-cell junctions. *Curr Biol* **22**, 278-288
- 151. Post, P. L., Bokoch, G. M., and Mooseker, M. S. (1998) Human myosin-IXb is a mechanochemically active motor and a GAP for rho. *J Cell Sci* **111 ( Pt 7)**, 941-950
- 152. Nasu-Nishimura, Y., Hayashi, T., Ohishi, T., Okabe, T., Ohwada, S., Hasegawa, Y., Senda, T., Toyoshima, C., Nakamura, T., and Akiyama, T. (2006) Role of the Rho GTPase-activating protein RICS in neurite outgrowth. *Genes Cells* **11**, 607-614
- 153. Moon, S. Y., Zang, H., and Zheng, Y. (2003) Characterization of a brain-specific Rho GTPaseactivating protein, p200RhoGAP. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 4151-4159
- 154. Chiang, S. H., Hwang, J., Legendre, M., Zhang, M., Kimura, A., and Saltiel, A. R. (2003) TCGAP, a multidomain Rho GTPase-activating protein involved in insulin-stimulated glucose transport. *EMBO J* **22**, 2679-2691
- 155. Francis, M. K., Holst, M. R., Vidal-Quadras, M., Henriksson, S., Santarella-Mellwig, R., Sandblad, L., and Lundmark, R. (2015) Endocytic membrane turnover at the leading edge is driven by a transient interaction between Cdc42 and GRAF1. *J Cell Sci* **128**, 4183-4195
- Bai, X., Lenhart, K. C., Bird, K. E., Suen, A. A., Rojas, M., Kakoki, M., Li, F., Smithies, O., Mack, C.
   P., and Taylor, J. M. (2013) The smooth muscle-selective RhoGAP GRAF3 is a critical regulator of vascular tone and hypertension. *Nat Commun* 4, 2910
- 157. Doherty, G. J., Ahlund, M. K., Howes, M. T., Moren, B., Parton, R. G., McMahon, H. T., and Lundmark, R. (2011) The endocytic protein GRAF1 is directed to cell-matrix adhesion sites and regulates cell spreading. *Mol Biol Cell* **22**, 4380-4389
- Lundmark, R., Doherty, G. J., Howes, M. T., Cortese, K., Vallis, Y., Parton, R. G., and McMahon, H. T. (2008) The GTPase-activating protein GRAF1 regulates the CLIC/GEEC endocytic pathway. *Curr Biol* 18, 1802-1808
- 159. Shibata, H., Oishi, K., Yamagiwa, A., Matsumoto, M., Mukai, H., and Ono, Y. (2001) PKNbeta interacts with the SH3 domains of Graf and a novel Graf related protein, Graf2, which are GTPase activating proteins for Rho family. *J Biochem* **130**, 23-31
- 160. Khelfaoui, M., Pavlowsky, A., Powell, A. D., Valnegri, P., Cheong, K. W., Blandin, Y., Passafaro, M., Jefferys, J. G., Chelly, J., and Billuart, P. (2009) Inhibition of RhoA pathway rescues the endocytosis defects in Oligophrenin1 mouse model of mental retardation. *Hum Mol Genet* 18, 2575-2583
- 161. Fauchereau, F., Herbrand, U., Chafey, P., Eberth, A., Koulakoff, A., Vinet, M. C., Ahmadian, M. R., Chelly, J., and Billuart, P. (2003) The RhoGAP activity of OPHN1, a new F-actin-binding protein, is negatively controlled by its amino-terminal domain. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **23**, 574-586

- 162. Chuang, T. H., Xu, X., Kaartinen, V., Heisterkamp, N., Groffen, J., and Bokoch, G. M. (1995) Abr and Bcr are multifunctional regulators of the Rho GTP-binding protein family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**, 10282-10286
- 163. Cho, Y. J., Cunnick, J. M., Yi, S. J., Kaartinen, V., Groffen, J., and Heisterkamp, N. (2007) Abr and Bcr, two homologous Rac GTPase-activating proteins, control multiple cellular functions of murine macrophages. *Mol Cell Biol* **27**, 899-911
- 164. Sousa, S., Cabanes, D., Archambaud, C., Colland, F., Lemichez, E., Popoff, M., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Gouin, E., Lecuit, M., Legrain, P., and Cossart, P. (2005) ARHGAP10 is necessary for alpha-catenin recruitment at adherens junctions and for Listeria invasion. *Nat Cell Biol* **7**, 954-960
- 165. Dubois, T., Paleotti, O., Mironov, A. A., Fraisier, V., Stradal, T. E., De Matteis, M. A., Franco, M., and Chavrier, P. (2005) Golgi-localized GAP for Cdc42 functions downstream of ARF1 to control Arp2/3 complex and F-actin dynamics. *Nat Cell Biol* **7**, 353-364
- 166. Ang, B. K., Lim, C. Y., Koh, S. S., Sivakumar, N., Taib, S., Lim, K. B., Ahmed, S., Rajagopal, G., and Ong, S. H. (2007) ArhGAP9, a novel MAP kinase docking protein, inhibits Erk and p38 activation through WW domain binding. *J Mol Signal* **2**, 1
- 167. Zhang, Z., Wu, C., Wang, S., Huang, W., Zhou, Z., Ying, K., Xie, Y., and Mao, Y. (2002) Cloning and characterization of ARHGAP12, a novel human rhoGAP gene. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* **34**, 325-331
- 168. Ba, W., Selten, M. M., van der Raadt, J., van Veen, H., Li, L. L., Benevento, M., Oudakker, A. R., Lasabuda, R. S., Letteboer, S. J., Roepman, R., van Wezel, R. J., Courtney, M. J., van Bokhoven, H., and Nadif Kasri, N. (2016) ARHGAP12 Functions as a Developmental Brake on Excitatory Synapse Function. *Cell Rep* 14, 1355-1368
- 169. Radu, M., Rawat, S. J., Beeser, A., Iliuk, A., Tao, W. A., and Chernoff, J. (2013) ArhGAP15, a Racspecific GTPase-activating protein, plays a dual role in inhibiting small GTPase signaling. *J Biol Chem* **288**, 21117-21125
- 170. Pirruccello, M., and De Camilli, P. (2012) Inositol 5-phosphatases: insights from the Lowe syndrome protein OCRL. *Trends Biochem Sci* **37**, 134-143
- 171. Balla, T. (2013) Phosphoinositides: tiny lipids with giant impact on cell regulation. *Physiol Rev* **93**, 1019-1137
- 172. Faucherre, A., Desbois, P., Nagano, F., Satre, V., Lunardi, J., Gacon, G., and Dorseuil, O. (2005) Lowe syndrome protein Ocrl1 is translocated to membrane ruffles upon Rac GTPase activation: a new perspective on Lowe syndrome pathophysiology. *Hum Mol Genet* **14**, 1441-1448
- 173. Mao, Y., Balkin, D. M., Zoncu, R., Erdmann, K. S., Tomasini, L., Hu, F., Jin, M. M., Hodsdon, M. E., and De Camilli, P. (2009) A PH domain within OCRL bridges clathrin-mediated membrane trafficking to phosphoinositide metabolism. *EMBO J* **28**, 1831-1842
- 174. McCrea, H. J., Paradise, S., Tomasini, L., Addis, M., Melis, M. A., De Matteis, M. A., and De Camilli, P. (2008) All known patient mutations in the ASH-RhoGAP domains of OCRL affect targeting and APPL1 binding. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **369**, 493-499
- 175. Kurooka, T., Yamamoto, Y., Takai, Y., and Sakisaka, T. (2011) Dual regulation of RA-RhoGAP activity by phosphatidic acid and Rap1 during neurite outgrowth. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 6832-6843
- 176. Krugmann, S., Anderson, K. E., Ridley, S. H., Risso, N., McGregor, A., Coadwell, J., Davidson, K., Eguinoa, A., Ellson, C. D., Lipp, P., Manifava, M., Ktistakis, N., Painter, G., Thuring, J. W., Cooper, M. A., Lim, Z. Y., Holmes, A. B., Dove, S. K., Michell, R. H., Grewal, A., Nazarian, A., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Stephens, L. R., and Hawkins, P. T. (2002) Identification of ARAP3, a novel PI3K effector regulating both Arf and Rho GTPases, by selective capture on phosphoinositide affinity matrices. *Mol Cell* **9**, 95-108

- 177. Miura, K., Jacques, K. M., Stauffer, S., Kubosaki, A., Zhu, K., Hirsch, D. S., Resau, J., Zheng, Y., and Randazzo, P. A. (2002) ARAP1: a point of convergence for Arf and Rho signaling. *Mol Cell* **9**, 109-119
- 178. Miyata, M., Rikitake, Y., Takahashi, M., Nagamatsu, Y., Yamauchi, Y., Ogita, H., Hirata, K., and Takai, Y. (2009) Regulation by afadin of cyclical activation and inactivation of Rap1, Rac1, and RhoA small G proteins at leading edges of moving NIH3T3 cells. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 24595-24609
- 179. Chen, P. W., Luo, R., Jian, X., and Randazzo, P. A. (2014) The Arf6 GTPase-activating proteins ARAP2 and ACAP1 define distinct endosomal compartments that regulate integrin alpha5beta1 traffic. *J Biol Chem* **289**, 30237-30248
- 180. Krugmann, S., Andrews, S., Stephens, L., and Hawkins, P. T. (2006) ARAP3 is essential for formation of lamellipodia after growth factor stimulation. *J Cell Sci* **119**, 425-432
- 181. Craig, H. E., Coadwell, J., Guillou, H., and Vermeren, S. (2010) ARAP3 binding to phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5)-trisphosphate depends on N-terminal tandem PH domains and adjacent sequences. *Cell Signal* **22**, 257-264
- 182. Campa, F., Yoon, H. Y., Ha, V. L., Szentpetery, Z., Balla, T., and Randazzo, P. A. (2009) A PH domain in the Arf GTPase-activating protein (GAP) ARAP1 binds phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate and regulates Arf GAP activity independently of recruitment to the plasma membranes. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 28069-28083
- Peter, B. J., Kent, H. M., Mills, I. G., Vallis, Y., Butler, P. J., Evans, P. R., and McMahon, H. T.
   (2004) BAR domains as sensors of membrane curvature: the amphiphysin BAR structure. *Science* 303, 495-499
- 184. Itoh, T., and De Camilli, P. (2006) BAR, F-BAR (EFC) and ENTH/ANTH domains in the regulation of membrane-cytosol interfaces and membrane curvature. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1761**, 897-912
- 185. Dharmalingam, E., Haeckel, A., Pinyol, R., Schwintzer, L., Koch, D., Kessels, M. M., and Qualmann, B. (2009) F-BAR proteins of the syndapin family shape the plasma membrane and are crucial for neuromorphogenesis. *J Neurosci* **29**, 13315-13327
- 186. Frost, A., Unger, V. M., and De Camilli, P. (2009) The BAR domain superfamily: membranemolding macromolecules. *Cell* **137**, 191-196
- 187. de Kreuk, B. J., and Hordijk, P. L. (2012) Control of Rho GTPase function by BAR-domains. *Small GTPases* **3**, 45-52
- 188. Cicchetti, P., Ridley, A. J., Zheng, Y., Cerione, R. A., and Baltimore, D. (1995) 3BP-1, an SH3 domain binding protein, has GAP activity for Rac and inhibits growth factor-induced membrane ruffling in fibroblasts. *EMBO J* **14**, 3127-3135
- 189. Elbediwy, A., Zihni, C., Terry, S. J., Clark, P., Matter, K., and Balda, M. S. (2012) Epithelial junction formation requires confinement of Cdc42 activity by a novel SH3BP1 complex. *J Cell Biol* **198**, 677-693
- 190. Wells, C. D., Fawcett, J. P., Traweger, A., Yamanaka, Y., Goudreault, M., Elder, K., Kulkarni, S., Gish, G., Virag, C., Lim, C., Colwill, K., Starostine, A., Metalnikov, P., and Pawson, T. (2006) A Rich1/Amot complex regulates the Cdc42 GTPase and apical-polarity proteins in epithelial cells. *Cell* 125, 535-548
- 191. Hirling, H. (2009) Endosomal trafficking of AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *Neuroscience* **158**, 36-44
- 192. Blood, P. D., and Voth, G. A. (2006) Direct observation of Bin/amphiphysin/Rvs (BAR) domaininduced membrane curvature by means of molecular dynamics simulations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 15068-15072

- 193. Raynaud, F., Janossy, A., Dahl, J., Bertaso, F., Perroy, J., Varrault, A., Vidal, M., Worley, P. F., Boeckers, T. M., Bockaert, J., Marin, P., Fagni, L., and Homburger, V. (2013) Shank3-Rich2 interaction regulates AMPA receptor recycling and synaptic long-term potentiation. *J Neurosci* 33, 9699-9715
- 194. Raynaud, F., Moutin, E., Schmidt, S., Dahl, J., Bertaso, F., Boeckers, T. M., Homburger, V., and Fagni, L. (2014) Rho-GTPase-activating protein interacting with Cdc-42-interacting protein 4 homolog 2 (Rich2): a new Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1) GTPase-activating protein that controls dendritic spine morphogenesis. *J Biol Chem* **289**, 2600-2609
- 195. Rollason, R., Korolchuk, V., Hamilton, C., Jepson, M., and Banting, G. (2009) A CD317/tetherin-RICH2 complex plays a critical role in the organization of the subapical actin cytoskeleton in polarized epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol* **184**, 721-736
- 196. Yao, Q., Jin, W. L., Wang, Y., and Ju, G. (2008) Regulated shuttling of Slit-Robo-GTPase activating proteins between nucleus and cytoplasm during brain development. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* **28**, 205-221
- 197. Carlson, B. R., Lloyd, K. E., Kruszewski, A., Kim, I. H., Rodriguiz, R. M., Heindel, C., Faytell, M., Dudek, S. M., Wetsel, W. C., and Soderling, S. H. (2011) WRP/srGAP3 facilitates the initiation of spine development by an inverse F-BAR domain, and its loss impairs long-term memory. J Neurosci **31**, 2447-2460
- 198. Guerrier, S., Coutinho-Budd, J., Sassa, T., Gresset, A., Jordan, N. V., Chen, K., Jin, W. L., Frost, A., and Polleux, F. (2009) The F-BAR domain of srGAP2 induces membrane protrusions required for neuronal migration and morphogenesis. *Cell* **138**, 990-1004
- Soderling, S. H., Binns, K. L., Wayman, G. A., Davee, S. M., Ong, S. H., Pawson, T., and Scott, J. D. (2002) The WRP component of the WAVE-1 complex attenuates Rac-mediated signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* 4, 970-975
- 200. Vogt, D. L., Gray, C. D., Young, W. S., 3rd, Orellana, S. A., and Malouf, A. T. (2007) ARHGAP4 is a novel RhoGAP that mediates inhibition of cell motility and axon outgrowth. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 36, 332-342
- 201. Coutinho-Budd, J., Ghukasyan, V., Zylka, M. J., and Polleux, F. (2012) The F-BAR domains from srGAP1, srGAP2 and srGAP3 regulate membrane deformation differently. *J Cell Sci* **125**, 3390-3401
- 202. Endris, V., Haussmann, L., Buss, E., Bacon, C., Bartsch, D., and Rappold, G. (2011) SrGAP3 interacts with lamellipodin at the cell membrane and regulates Rac-dependent cellular protrusions. *J Cell Sci* **124**, 3941-3955
- 203. Takai, Y., Kishimoto, A., Iwasa, Y., Kawahara, Y., Mori, T., and Nishizuka, Y. (1979) Calciumdependent activation of a multifunctional protein kinase by membrane phospholipids. *J Biol Chem* **254**, 3692-3695
- 204. Zhang, G., Kazanietz, M. G., Blumberg, P. M., and Hurley, J. H. (1995) Crystal structure of the cys2 activator-binding domain of protein kinase C delta in complex with phorbol ester. *Cell* **81**, 917-924
- 205. Sutton, R. B., Davletov, B. A., Berghuis, A. M., Sudhof, T. C., and Sprang, S. R. (1995) Structure of the first C2 domain of synaptotagmin I: a novel Ca2+/phospholipid-binding fold. *Cell* **80**, 929-938
- Blumberg, P. M., Kedei, N., Lewin, N. E., Yang, D., Czifra, G., Pu, Y., Peach, M. L., and Marquez, V. E. (2008) Wealth of opportunity the C1 domain as a target for drug development. *Curr Drug Targets* 9, 641-652
- 207. Stahelin, R. V. (2009) Lipid binding domains: more than simple lipid effectors. *J Lipid Res* **50 Suppl**, S299-304

- 208. Casado-Medrano, V., Barrio-Real, L., Garcia-Rostan, G., Baumann, M., Rocks, O., and Caloca, M.
   J. (2016) A new role of the Rac-GAP beta2-chimaerin in cell adhesion reveals opposite functions in breast cancer initiation and tumor progression. *Oncotarget*
- 209. Yang, C., Liu, Y., Leskow, F. C., Weaver, V. M., and Kazanietz, M. G. (2005) Rac-GAP-dependent inhibition of breast cancer cell proliferation by {beta}2-chimerin. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 24363-24370
- 210. Hall, C., Michael, G. J., Cann, N., Ferrari, G., Teo, M., Jacobs, T., Monfries, C., and Lim, L. (2001) alpha2-chimaerin, a Cdc42/Rac1 regulator, is selectively expressed in the rat embryonic nervous system and is involved in neuritogenesis in N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells. *J Neurosci* **21**, 5191-5202
- 211. Kato, T., Konishi, Y., Shimohama, S., Beach, T. G., Akatsu, H., and Tooyama, I. (2015) Alpha1chimaerin, a Rac1 GTPase-activating protein, is expressed at reduced mRNA levels in the brain of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Neurosci Lett* **591**, 19-24
- 212. Zubeldia-Brenner, L., Gutierrez-Uzquiza, A., Barrio-Real, L., Wang, H., Kazanietz, M. G., and Leskow, F. C. (2014) beta3-chimaerin, a novel member of the chimaerin Rac-GAP family. *Mol Biol Rep* **41**, 2067-2076
- 213. Colon-Gonzalez, F., Leskow, F. C., and Kazanietz, M. G. (2008) Identification of an autoinhibitory mechanism that restricts C1 domain-mediated activation of the Rac-GAP alpha2-chimaerin. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 35247-35257
- 214. Sosa, M. S., Lewin, N. E., Choi, S. H., Blumberg, P. M., and Kazanietz, M. G. (2009) Biochemical characterization of hyperactive beta2-chimaerin mutants revealed an enhanced exposure of C1 and Rac-GAP domains. *Biochemistry* **48**, 8171-8178
- 215. Gutierrez-Uzquiza, A., Colon-Gonzalez, F., Leonard, T. A., Canagarajah, B. J., Wang, H., Mayer, B. J., Hurley, J. H., and Kazanietz, M. G. (2013) Coordinated activation of the Rac-GAP beta2chimaerin by an atypical proline-rich domain and diacylglycerol. *Nat Commun* **4**, 1849
- 216. Wang, H., and Kazanietz, M. G. (2010) p23/Tmp21 differentially targets the Rac-GAP beta2chimaerin and protein kinase C via their C1 domains. *Mol Biol Cell* **21**, 1398-1408
- 217. Zhao, W. M., and Fang, G. (2005) MgcRacGAP controls the assembly of the contractile ring and the initiation of cytokinesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 13158-13163
- 218. Aresta, S., de Tand-Heim, M. F., Beranger, F., and de Gunzburg, J. (2002) A novel Rho GTPaseactivating-protein interacts with Gem, a member of the Ras superfamily of GTPases. *Biochem J* **367**, 57-65
- 219. Saras, J., Franzen, P., Aspenstrom, P., Hellman, U., Gonez, L. J., and Heldin, C. H. (1997) A novel GTPase-activating protein for Rho interacts with a PDZ domain of the protein-tyrosine phosphatase PTPL1. *J Biol Chem* **272**, 24333-24338
- 220. Post, A., Pannekoek, W. J., Ponsioen, B., Vliem, M. J., and Bos, J. L. (2015) Rap1 Spatially Controls ArhGAP29 To Inhibit Rho Signaling during Endothelial Barrier Regulation. *Mol Cell Biol* **35**, 2495-2502
- 221. Post, A., Pannekoek, W. J., Ross, S. H., Verlaan, I., Brouwer, P. M., and Bos, J. L. (2013) Rasip1 mediates Rap1 regulation of Rho in endothelial barrier function through ArhGAP29. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, 11427-11432
- 222. Tadokoro, K., Hashimoto, R., Tatsumi, M., Kosuga, A., Kamijima, K., and Kunugi, H. (2005) The Gem interacting protein (GMIP) gene is associated with major depressive disorder. *Neurogenetics* **6**, 127-133
- 223. Ota, H., Hikita, T., Sawada, M., Nishioka, T., Matsumoto, M., Komura, M., Ohno, A., Kamiya, Y., Miyamoto, T., Asai, N., Enomoto, A., Takahashi, M., Kaibuchi, K., Sobue, K., and Sawamoto, K.

(2014) Speed control for neuronal migration in the postnatal brain by Gmip-mediated local inactivation of RhoA. *Nat Commun* **5**, 4532

- 224. Hatzoglou, A., Ader, I., Splingard, A., Flanders, J., Saade, E., Leroy, I., Traver, S., Aresta, S., and de Gunzburg, J. (2007) Gem associates with Ezrin and acts via the Rho-GAP protein Gmip to down-regulate the Rho pathway. *Mol Biol Cell* **18**, 1242-1252
- 225. Syamaladevi, D. P., Spudich, J. A., and Sowdhamini, R. (2012) Structural and functional insights on the Myosin superfamily. *Bioinform Biol Insights* **6**, 11-21
- 226. Omelchenko, T. (2012) Regulation of collective cell migration by RhoGAP myosin IXA. *Small GTPases* **3**, 213-218
- 227. van den Boom, F., Dussmann, H., Uhlenbrock, K., Abouhamed, M., and Bahler, M. (2007) The Myosin IXb motor activity targets the myosin IXb RhoGAP domain as cargo to sites of actin polymerization. *Mol Biol Cell* **18**, 1507-1518
- 228. Sha, B., Phillips, S. E., Bankaitis, V. A., and Luo, M. (1998) Crystal structure of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae phosphatidylinositol-transfer protein. *Nature* **391**, 506-510
- 229. Kostenko, E. V., Mahon, G. M., Cheng, L., and Whitehead, I. P. (2005) The Sec14 homology domain regulates the cellular distribution and transforming activity of the Rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor Dbs. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 2807-2817
- 230. Shang, X., Zhou, Y. T., and Low, B. C. (2003) Concerted regulation of cell dynamics by BNIP-2 and Cdc42GAP homology/Sec14p-like, proline-rich, and GTPase-activating protein domains of a novel Rho GTPase-activating protein, BPGAP1. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 45903-45914
- 231. Pan, C. Q., Liou, Y. C., and Low, B. C. (2010) Active Mek2 as a regulatory scaffold that promotes Pin1 binding to BPGAP1 to suppress BPGAP1-induced acute Erk activation and cell migration. *J Cell Sci* **123**, 903-916
- 232. Zhou, Y. T., Chew, L. L., Lin, S. C., and Low, B. C. (2010) The BNIP-2 and Cdc42GAP homology (BCH) domain of p50RhoGAP/Cdc42GAP sequesters RhoA from inactivation by the adjacent GTPase-activating protein domain. *Mol Biol Cell* **21**, 3232-3246
- 233. Lua, B. L., and Low, B. C. (2004) Filling the GAPs in cell dynamics control: BPGAP1 promotes cortactin translocation to the cell periphery for enhanced cell migration. *Biochem Soc Trans* **32**, 1110-1112
- 234. Lorincz, A. M., Szarvas, G., Smith, S. M., and Ligeti, E. (2014) Role of Rac GTPase activating proteins in regulation of NADPH oxidase in human neutrophils. *Free Radic Biol Med* **68**, 65-71
- 235. Molnar, G., Dagher, M. C., Geiszt, M., Settleman, J., and Ligeti, E. (2001) Role of prenylation in the interaction of Rho-family small GTPases with GTPase activating proteins. *Biochemistry* **40**, 10542-10549
- 236. Moskwa, P., Paclet, M. H., Dagher, M. C., and Ligeti, E. (2005) Autoinhibition of p50 Rho GTPaseactivating protein (GAP) is released by prenylated small GTPases. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 6716-6720
- 237. Sirokmany, G., Szidonya, L., Kaldi, K., Gaborik, Z., Ligeti, E., and Geiszt, M. (2006) Sec14 homology domain targets p50RhoGAP to endosomes and provides a link between Rab and Rho GTPases. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 6096-6105
- 238. Lua, B. L., and Low, B. C. (2004) BPGAP1 interacts with cortactin and facilitates its translocation to cell periphery for enhanced cell migration. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**, 2873-2883
- 239. Ravichandran, A., and Low, B. C. (2013) SmgGDS antagonizes BPGAP1-induced Ras/ERK activation and neuritogenesis in PC12 cell differentiation. *Mol Biol Cell* **24**, 145-156
- 240. Ponting, C. P., and Aravind, L. (1999) START: a lipid-binding domain in StAR, HD-ZIP and signalling proteins. *Trends Biochem Sci* **24**, 130-132

- 241. Iyer, L. M., Koonin, E. V., and Aravind, L. (2001) Adaptations of the helix-grip fold for ligand binding and catalysis in the START domain superfamily. *Proteins* **43**, 134-144
- Zhong, D., Zhang, J., Yang, S., Soh, U. J., Buschdorf, J. P., Zhou, Y. T., Yang, D., and Low, B. C. (2009) The SAM domain of the RhoGAP DLC1 binds EF1A1 to regulate cell migration. *J Cell Sci* 122, 414-424
- 243. Kawai, K., Seike, J., Iino, T., Kiyota, M., Iwamae, Y., Nishitani, H., and Yagisawa, H. (2009) START-GAP2/DLC2 is localized in focal adhesions via its N-terminal region. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **380**, 736-741
- 244. Wirtz, K. W. (2006) Phospholipid transfer proteins in perspective. FEBS Lett 580, 5436-5441
- 245. Eberth, A., Lundmark, R., Gremer, L., Dvorsky, R., Koessmeier, K. T., McMahon, H. T., and Ahmadian, M. R. (2009) A BAR domain-mediated autoinhibitory mechanism for RhoGAPs of the GRAF family. *Biochem J* **417**, 371-377
- 246. Doherty, J. T., Lenhart, K. C., Cameron, M. V., Mack, C. P., Conlon, F. L., and Taylor, J. M. (2011) Skeletal muscle differentiation and fusion are regulated by the BAR-containing Rho-GTPaseactivating protein (Rho-GAP), GRAF1. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 25903-25921
- 247. Lenhart, K. C., Becherer, A. L., Li, J., Xiao, X., McNally, E. M., Mack, C. P., and Taylor, J. M. (2014) GRAF1 promotes ferlin-dependent myoblast fusion. *Dev Biol* **393**, 298-311
- Lenhart, K. C., O'Neill, T. J. t., Cheng, Z., Dee, R., Demonbreun, A. R., Li, J., Xiao, X., McNally, E. M., Mack, C. P., and Taylor, J. M. (2015) GRAF1 deficiency blunts sarcolemmal injury repair and exacerbates cardiac and skeletal muscle pathology in dystrophin-deficient mice. *Skelet Muscle* 5, 27
- 249. Santos-Reboucas, C. B., Belet, S., Guedes de Almeida, L., Ribeiro, M. G., Medina-Acosta, E., Bahia, P. R., Alves da Silva, A. F., Lima dos Santos, F., Borges de Lacerda, G. C., Pimentel, M. M., and Froyen, G. (2014) A novel in-frame deletion affecting the BAR domain of OPHN1 in a family with intellectual disability and hippocampal alterations. *Eur J Hum Genet* **22**, 644-651
- 250. Pirozzi, F., Di Raimo, F. R., Zanni, G., Bertini, E., Billuart, P., Tartaglione, T., Tabolacci, E., Brancaccio, A., Neri, G., and Chiurazzi, P. (2011) Insertion of 16 amino acids in the BAR domain of the oligophrenin 1 protein causes mental retardation and cerebellar hypoplasia in an Italian family. *Hum Mutat* **32**, E2294-2307
- 251. Groffen, J., and Heisterkamp, N. (1997) The chimeric BCR-ABL gene. *Baillieres Clin Haematol* **10**, 187-201
- 252. Vaughan, E. M., Miller, A. L., Yu, H. Y., and Bement, W. M. (2011) Control of local Rho GTPase crosstalk by Abr. *Curr Biol* **21**, 270-277
- 253. Narayanan, A. S., Reyes, S. B., Um, K., McCarty, J. H., and Tolias, K. F. (2013) The Rac-GAP Bcr is a novel regulator of the Par complex that controls cell polarity. *Mol Biol Cell* **24**, 3857-3868
- 254. Basseres, D. S., Tizzei, E. V., Duarte, A. A., Costa, F. F., and Saad, S. T. (2002) ARHGAP10, a novel human gene coding for a potentially cytoskeletal Rho-GTPase activating protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **294**, 579-585
- 255. Katoh, M., and Katoh, M. (2004) Identification and characterization of human ARHGAP23 gene in silico. *Int J Oncol* **25**, 535-540
- 256. Luo, N., Guo, J., Chen, L., Yang, W., Qu, X., and Cheng, Z. (2016) ARHGAP10, downregulated in ovarian cancer, suppresses tumorigenicity of ovarian cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis* **7**, e2157
- Bigarella, C. L., Ferro, K. P., Barcellos, K. S., Martins-de-Souza, D., Traina, F., Novello, J. C., Saad, S. T., and Archangelo, L. F. (2012) Post-translational modification of the RhoGTPase activating protein 21, ARHGAP21, by SUMO2/3. *FEBS Lett* 586, 3522-3528

- 258. Menetrey, J., Perderiset, M., Cicolari, J., Dubois, T., Elkhatib, N., El Khadali, F., Franco, M., Chavrier, P., and Houdusse, A. (2007) Structural basis for ARF1-mediated recruitment of ARHGAP21 to Golgi membranes. *EMBO J* **26**, 1953-1962
- 259. Goulmy, E., Gratama, J. W., Blokland, E., Zwaan, F. E., and van Rood, J. J. (1983) A minor transplantation antigen detected by MHC-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes during graft-versus-host disease. *Nature* **302**, 159-161
- 260. Klein, C. A., Wilke, M., Pool, J., Vermeulen, C., Blokland, E., Burghart, E., Krostina, S., Wendler, N., Passlick, B., Riethmueller, G., and Goulmy, E. (2002) The hematopoietic system-specific minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 shows aberrant expression in epithelial cancer cells. *J Exp Med* 196, 359-368
- 261. Spierings, E., Wieles, B., and Goulmy, E. (2004) Minor histocompatibility antigens--big in tumour therapy. *Trends Immunol* **25**, 56-60
- 262. de Kreuk, B. J., Schaefer, A., Anthony, E. C., Tol, S., Fernandez-Borja, M., Geerts, D., Pool, J., Hambach, L., Goulmy, E., and Hordijk, P. L. (2013) The human minor histocompatibility antigen 1 is a RhoGAP. *PLoS One* **8**, e73962
- 263. Wentzel, C., Sommer, J. E., Nair, R., Stiefvater, A., Sibarita, J. B., and Scheiffele, P. (2013) mSYD1A, a mammalian synapse-defective-1 protein, regulates synaptogenic signaling and vesicle docking. *Neuron* **78**, 1012-1023
- 264. Owald, D., Khorramshahi, O., Gupta, V. K., Banovic, D., Depner, H., Fouquet, W., Wichmann, C., Mertel, S., Eimer, S., Reynolds, E., Holt, M., Aberle, H., and Sigrist, S. J. (2012) Cooperation of Syd-1 with Neurexin synchronizes pre- with postsynaptic assembly. *Nat Neurosci* **15**, 1219-1226
- 265. Li, L., Tian, X., Zhu, M., Bulgari, D., Bohme, M. A., Goettfert, F., Wichmann, C., Sigrist, S. J., Levitan, E. S., and Wu, C. (2014) Drosophila Syd-1, liprin-alpha, and protein phosphatase 2A B' subunit Wrd function in a linear pathway to prevent ectopic accumulation of synaptic materials in distal axons. *J Neurosci* **34**, 8474-8487
- 266. Hallam, S. J., Goncharov, A., McEwen, J., Baran, R., and Jin, Y. (2002) SYD-1, a presynaptic protein with PDZ, C2 and rhoGAP-like domains, specifies axon identity in C. elegans. *Nat Neurosci* **5**, 1137-1146
- 267. Xu, Y., Taru, H., Jin, Y., and Quinn, C. C. (2015) SYD-1C, UNC-40 (DCC) and SAX-3 (Robo) function interdependently to promote axon guidance by regulating the MIG-2 GTPase. *PLoS Genet* **11**, e1005185
- Florio, M., Albert, M., Taverna, E., Namba, T., Brandl, H., Lewitus, E., Haffner, C., Sykes, A.,
  Wong, F. K., Peters, J., Guhr, E., Klemroth, S., Prufer, K., Kelso, J., Naumann, R., Nusslein, I., Dahl,
  A., Lachmann, R., Paabo, S., and Huttner, W. B. (2015) Human-specific gene ARHGAP11B
  promotes basal progenitor amplification and neocortex expansion. *Science* 347, 1465-1470
- Zanin, E., Desai, A., Poser, I., Toyoda, Y., Andree, C., Moebius, C., Bickle, M., Conradt, B., Piekny, A., and Oegema, K. (2013) A conserved RhoGAP limits M phase contractility and coordinates with microtubule asters to confine RhoA during cytokinesis. *Dev Cell* 26, 496-510
- 270. David, M. D., Petit, D., and Bertoglio, J. (2014) The RhoGAP ARHGAP19 controls cytokinesis and chromosome segregation in T lymphocytes. *J Cell Sci* **127**, 400-410
- 271. Jullien-Flores, V., Dorseuil, O., Romero, F., Letourneur, F., Saragosti, S., Berger, R., Tavitian, A., Gacon, G., and Camonis, J. H. (1995) Bridging Ral GTPase to Rho pathways. RLIP76, a Ral effector with CDC42/Rac GTPase-activating protein activity. *J Biol Chem* **270**, 22473-22477
- 272. Prakash, S. K., Paylor, R., Jenna, S., Lamarche-Vane, N., Armstrong, D. L., Xu, B., Mancini, M. A., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (2000) Functional analysis of ARHGAP6, a novel GTPase-activating protein for RhoA. *Hum Mol Genet* **9**, 477-488

- 273. Li, J., Liu, Y., and Yin, Y. (2016) Inhibitory effects of Arhgap6 on cervical carcinoma cells. *Tumour Biol* **37**, 1411-1425
- 274. Li, X., Liu, Q., Liu, S., Zhang, J., and Zhang, Y. (2008) New member of the guanosine triphosphatase activating protein family in the human epididymis. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin* (*Shanghai*) **40**, 855-863
- 275. Maeda, M., Hasegawa, H., Hyodo, T., Ito, S., Asano, E., Yuang, H., Funasaka, K., Shimokata, K., Hasegawa, Y., Hamaguchi, M., and Senga, T. (2011) ARHGAP18, a GTPase-activating protein for RhoA, controls cell shape, spreading, and motility. *Mol Biol Cell* **22**, 3840-3852
- 276. Yeung, C. Y., Taylor, S. H., Garva, R., Holmes, D. F., Zeef, L. A., Soininen, R., Boot-Handford, R. P., and Kadler, K. E. (2014) Arhgap28 is a RhoGAP that inactivates RhoA and downregulates stress fibers. *PLoS One* **9**, e107036
- 277. Lundstrom, A., Gallio, M., Englund, C., Steneberg, P., Hemphala, J., Aspenstrom, P., Keleman, K., Falileeva, L., Dickson, B. J., and Samakovlis, C. (2004) Vilse, a conserved Rac/Cdc42 GAP mediating Robo repulsion in tracheal cells and axons. *Genes Dev* **18**, 2161-2171
- 278. Hu, H., Li, M., Labrador, J. P., McEwen, J., Lai, E. C., Goodman, C. S., and Bashaw, G. J. (2005) Cross GTPase-activating protein (CrossGAP)/Vilse links the Roundabout receptor to Rac to regulate midline repulsion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 4613-4618
- 279. Bauer, H., Willert, J., Koschorz, B., and Herrmann, B. G. (2005) The t complex-encoded GTPaseactivating protein Tagap1 acts as a transmission ratio distorter in mice. *Nat Genet* **37**, 969-973
- 280. Chang, J. H., Gill, S., Settleman, J., and Parsons, S. J. (1995) c-Src regulates the simultaneous rearrangement of actin cytoskeleton, p190RhoGAP, and p120RasGAP following epidermal growth factor stimulation. *J Cell Biol* **130**, 355-368
- 281. Arthur, W. T., and Burridge, K. (2001) RhoA inactivation by p190RhoGAP regulates cell spreading and migration by promoting membrane protrusion and polarity. *Mol Biol Cell* **12**, 2711-2720
- 282. Settleman, J., Narasimhan, V., Foster, L. C., and Weinberg, R. A. (1992) Molecular cloning of cDNAs encoding the GAP-associated protein p190: implications for a signaling pathway from ras to the nucleus. *Cell* **69**, 539-549
- 283. Jiang, W., Sordella, R., Chen, G. C., Hakre, S., Roy, A. L., and Settleman, J. (2005) An FF domaindependent protein interaction mediates a signaling pathway for growth factor-induced gene expression. *Mol Cell* **17**, 23-35
- 284. Foster, R., Hu, K. Q., Shaywitz, D. A., and Settleman, J. (1994) p190 RhoGAP, the major RasGAPassociated protein, binds GTP directly. *Mol Cell Biol* **14**, 7173-7181
- 285. Bustos, R. I., Forget, M. A., Settleman, J. E., and Hansen, S. H. (2008) Coordination of Rho and Rac GTPase function via p190B RhoGAP. *Curr Biol* **18**, 1606-1611
- 286. Levay, M., Bartos, B., and Ligeti, E. (2013) p190RhoGAP has cellular RacGAP activity regulated by a polybasic region. *Cell Signal* **25**, 1388-1394
- 287. Naji, L., Pacholsky, D., and Aspenstrom, P. (2011) ARHGAP30 is a Wrch-1-interacting protein involved in actin dynamics and cell adhesion. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **409**, 96-102
- 288. Lamarche-Vane, N., and Hall, A. (1998) CdGAP, a novel proline-rich GTPase-activating protein for Cdc42 and Rac. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 29172-29177
- 289. Kagawa, Y., Matsumoto, S., Kamioka, Y., Mimori, K., Naito, Y., Ishii, T., Okuzaki, D., Nishida, N., Maeda, S., Naito, A., Kikuta, J., Nishikawa, K., Nishimura, J., Haraguchi, N., Takemasa, I., Mizushima, T., Ikeda, M., Yamamoto, H., Sekimoto, M., Ishii, H., Doki, Y., Matsuda, M., Kikuchi, A., Mori, M., and Ishii, M. (2013) Cell cycle-dependent Rho GTPase activity dynamically regulates cancer cell motility and invasion in vivo. *PLoS One* **8**, e83629

- 290. Fu, A., Jacobs, D. I., Hoffman, A. E., Zheng, T., and Zhu, Y. (2015) PIWI-interacting RNA 021285 is involved in breast tumorigenesis possibly by remodeling the cancer epigenome. *Carcinogenesis* **36**, 1094-1102
- 291. Xu, J., Zhou, X., Wang, J., Li, Z., Kong, X., Qian, J., Hu, Y., and Fang, J. Y. (2013) RhoGAPs attenuate cell proliferation by direct interaction with p53 tetramerization domain. *Cell Rep* **3**, 1526-1538
- 292. Rack, P. G., Ni, J., Payumo, A. Y., Nguyen, V., Crapster, J. A., Hovestadt, V., Kool, M., Jones, D. T., Mich, J. K., Firestone, A. J., Pfister, S. M., Cho, Y. J., and Chen, J. K. (2014) Arhgap36-dependent activation of Gli transcription factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **111**, 11061-11066
- 293. Awasthi, S., Singhal, S. S., Sharma, R., Zimniak, P., and Awasthi, Y. C. (2003) Transport of glutathione conjugates and chemotherapeutic drugs by RLIP76 (RALBP1): a novel link between G-protein and tyrosine kinase signaling and drug resistance. *Int J Cancer* **106**, 635-646
- 294. Ikeda, M., Ishida, O., Hinoi, T., Kishida, S., and Kikuchi, A. (1998) Identification and characterization of a novel protein interacting with Ral-binding protein 1, a putative effector protein of Ral. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 814-821
- 295. Awasthi, S., Cheng, J., Singhal, S. S., Saini, M. K., Pandya, U., Pikula, S., Bandorowicz-Pikula, J., Singh, S. V., Zimniak, P., and Awasthi, Y. C. (2000) Novel function of human RLIP76: ATPdependent transport of glutathione conjugates and doxorubicin. *Biochemistry* **39**, 9327-9334
- 296. Awasthi, S., Cheng, J. Z., Singhal, S. S., Pandya, U., Sharma, R., Singh, S. V., Zimniak, P., and Awasthi, Y. C. (2001) Functional reassembly of ATP-dependent xenobiotic transport by the Nand C-terminal domains of RLIP76 and identification of ATP binding sequences. *Biochemistry* 40, 4159-4168
- 297. Mott, H. R., and Owen, D. (2014) Structure and function of RLIP76 (RalBP1): an intersection point between Ras and Rho signalling. *Biochem Soc Trans* **42**, 52-58
- 298. Goldfinger, L. E., Ptak, C., Jeffery, E. D., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D. F., and Ginsberg, M. H. (2006) RLIP76 (RalBP1) is an R-Ras effector that mediates adhesion-dependent Rac activation and cell migration. *J Cell Biol* **174**, 877-888
- 299. Wu, Z., Owens, C., Chandra, N., Popovic, K., Conaway, M., and Theodorescu, D. (2010) RalBP1 is necessary for metastasis of human cancer cell lines. *Neoplasia* **12**, 1003-1012
- 300. Matsubara, K., Hinoi, T., Koyama, S., and Kikuchi, A. (1997) The post-translational modifications of Ral and Rac1 are important for the action of Ral-binding protein 1, a putative effector protein of Ral. *FEBS Lett* **410**, 169-174
- Yadav, S., Singhal, S. S., Singhal, J., Wickramarachchi, D., Knutson, E., Albrecht, T. B., Awasthi, Y.
   C., and Awasthi, S. (2004) Identification of membrane-anchoring domains of RLIP76 using deletion mutant analyses. *Biochemistry* 43, 16243-16253
- 302. Skolnik, E. Y., Margolis, B., Mohammadi, M., Lowenstein, E., Fischer, R., Drepps, A., Ullrich, A., and Schlessinger, J. (1991) Cloning of PI3 kinase-associated p85 utilizing a novel method for expression/cloning of target proteins for receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell* **65**, 83-90
- 303. Hu, P., Margolis, B., Skolnik, E. Y., Lammers, R., Ullrich, A., and Schlessinger, J. (1992) Interaction of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-associated p85 with epidermal growth factor and plateletderived growth factor receptors. *Mol Cell Biol* **12**, 981-990
- 304. Fidyk, N. J., and Cerione, R. A. (2002) Understanding the catalytic mechanism of GTPaseactivating proteins: demonstration of the importance of switch domain stabilization in the stimulation of GTP hydrolysis. *Biochemistry* **41**, 15644-15653
- 305. Zheng, Y., Bagrodia, S., and Cerione, R. A. (1994) Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity by Cdc42Hs binding to p85. *J Biol Chem* **269**, 18727-18730

- 306. Schaefer, L., Prakash, S., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (1997) Cloning and characterization of a novel rhotype GTPase-activating protein gene (ARHGAP6) from the critical region for microphthalmia with linear skin defects. *Genomics* **46**, 268-277
- 307. Ochocka, A. M., Grden, M., Sakowicz-Burkiewicz, M., Szutowicz, A., and Pawelczyk, T. (2008) Regulation of phospholipase C-delta1 by ARGHAP6, a GTPase-activating protein for RhoA: possible role for enhanced activity of phospholipase C in hypertension. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 40, 2264-2273
- Chang, G. H., Lay, A. J., Ting, K. K., Zhao, Y., Coleman, P. R., Powter, E. E., Formaz-Preston, A., Jolly, C. J., Bower, N. I., Hogan, B. M., Rinkwitz, S., Becker, T. S., Vadas, M. A., and Gamble, J. R. (2014) ARHGAP18: an endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis, limiting tip formation and stabilizing junctions. *Small GTPases* 5, 1-15
- 309. Fevre-Montange, M., Champier, J., Durand, A., Wierinckx, A., Honnorat, J., Guyotat, J., and Jouvet, A. (2009) Microarray gene expression profiling in meningiomas: differential expression according to grade or histopathological subtype. *Int J Oncol* **35**, 1395-1407
- Kasuya, K., Nagakawa, Y., Hosokawa, Y., Sahara, Y., Takishita, C., Nakajima, T., Hijikata, Y., Soya,
   R., Katsumata, K., and Tsuchida, A. (2016) RhoA activity increases due to hypermethylation of in
   a highly liver-metastatic colon cancer cell line. *Biomed Rep* 4, 335-339
- 311. Lim, J., Ritt, D. A., Zhou, M., and Morrison, D. K. (2014) The CNK2 scaffold interacts with vilse and modulates Rac cycling during spine morphogenesis in hippocampal neurons. *Curr Biol* **24**, 786-792
- 312. Chen, R., Stahl, E. A., Kurreeman, F. A., Gregersen, P. K., Siminovitch, K. A., Worthington, J., Padyukov, L., Raychaudhuri, S., and Plenge, R. M. (2011) Fine mapping the TAGAP risk locus in rheumatoid arthritis. *Genes Immun* **12**, 314-318
- 313. Festen, E. A., Goyette, P., Green, T., Boucher, G., Beauchamp, C., Trynka, G., Dubois, P. C., Lagace, C., Stokkers, P. C., Hommes, D. W., Barisani, D., Palmieri, O., Annese, V., van Heel, D. A., Weersma, R. K., Daly, M. J., Wijmenga, C., and Rioux, J. D. (2011) A meta-analysis of genomewide association scans identifies IL18RAP, PTPN2, TAGAP, and PUS10 as shared risk loci for Crohn's disease and celiac disease. *PLoS Genet* **7**, e1001283
- 314. Connelly, T. M., Sehgal, R., Berg, A. S., Hegarty, J. P., Deiling, S., Stewart, D. B., Poritz, L. S., and Koltun, W. A. (2012) Mutation in TAGAP is protective of anal sepsis in ileocolic Crohn's disease. *Dis Colon Rectum* **55**, 1145-1152
- 315. Perkins, E. A., Landis, D., Causey, Z. L., Edberg, Y., Reynolds, R. J., Hughes, L. B., Gregersen, P. K., Kimberly, R. P., Edberg, J. C., Bridges, S. L., Jr., and Consortium for the Longitudinal Evaluation of African Americans with Early Rheumatoid Arthritis, I. (2012) Association of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in CCR6, TAGAP, and TNFAIP3 with rheumatoid arthritis in African Americans. *Arthritis Rheum* **64**, 1355-1358
- 316. Chatzikyriakidou, A., Voulgari, P. V., Lambropoulos, A., Georgiou, I., and Drosos, A. A. (2013) Validation of the TAGAP rs212389 polymorphism in rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility. *Joint Bone Spine* **80**, 543-544
- 317. Berge, T., Leikfoss, I. S., Brorson, I. S., Bos, S. D., Page, C. M., Gustavsen, M. W., Bjolgerud, A., Holmoy, T., Celius, E. G., Damoiseaux, J., Smolders, J., Harbo, H. F., and Spurkland, A. (2016) The multiple sclerosis susceptibility genes TAGAP and IL2RA are regulated by vitamin D in CD4+ T cells. *Genes Immun* **17**, 118-127
- 318. Continolo, S., Baruzzi, A., Majeed, M., Caveggion, E., Fumagalli, L., Lowell, C. A., and Berton, G. (2005) The proto-oncogene Fgr regulates cell migration and this requires its plasma membrane localization. *Exp Cell Res* **302**, 253-269

- 319. Zebda, N., Tian, Y., Tian, X., Gawlak, G., Higginbotham, K., Reynolds, A. B., Birukova, A. A., and Birukov, K. G. (2013) Interaction of p190RhoGAP with C-terminal domain of p120-catenin modulates endothelial cytoskeleton and permeability. *J Biol Chem* **288**, 18290-18299
- 320. Bradley, W. D., Hernandez, S. E., Settleman, J., and Koleske, A. J. (2006) Integrin signaling through Arg activates p190RhoGAP by promoting its binding to p120RasGAP and recruitment to the membrane. *Mol Biol Cell* **17**, 4827-4836
- 321. Sharma, S. V. (1998) Rapid recruitment of p120RasGAP and its associated protein, p190RhoGAP, to the cytoskeleton during integrin mediated cell-substrate interaction. *Oncogene* **17**, 271-281
- 322. Guegan, F., Tatin, F., Leste-Lasserre, T., Drutel, G., Genot, E., and Moreau, V. (2008) p190B RhoGAP regulates endothelial-cell-associated proteolysis through MT1-MMP and MMP2. *J Cell Sci* **121**, 2054-2061
- 323. Tcherkezian, J., Triki, I., Stenne, R., Danek, E. I., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2006) The human orthologue of CdGAP is a phosphoprotein and a GTPase-activating protein for Cdc42 and Rac1 but not RhoA. *Biol Cell* **98**, 445-456
- 324. Akshoomoff, N., Mattson, S. N., and Grossfeld, P. D. (2015) Evidence for autism spectrum disorder in Jacobsen syndrome: identification of a candidate gene in distal 11q. *Genet Med* **17**, 143-148
- 325. Hayashi, T., Okabe, T., Nasu-Nishimura, Y., Sakaue, F., Ohwada, S., Matsuura, K., Akiyama, T., and Nakamura, T. (2007) PX-RICS, a novel splicing variant of RICS, is a main isoform expressed during neural development. *Genes Cells* **12**, 929-939
- 326. Nakamura, T., Komiya, M., Sone, K., Hirose, E., Gotoh, N., Morii, H., Ohta, Y., and Mori, N. (2002) Grit, a GTPase-activating protein for the Rho family, regulates neurite extension through association with the TrkA receptor and N-Shc and CrkL/Crk adapter molecules. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 8721-8734
- 327. Kannan, M., Lee, S. J., Schwedhelm-Domeyer, N., Nakazawa, T., and Stegmuller, J. (2012) p250GAP is a novel player in the Cdh1-APC/Smurf1 pathway of axon growth regulation. *PLoS One* **7**, e50735
- 328. Shang, X., Moon, S. Y., and Zheng, Y. (2007) p200 RhoGAP promotes cell proliferation by mediating cross-talk between Ras and Rho signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 8801-8811
- Schuster, S., Rivalan, M., Strauss, U., Stoenica, L., Trimbuch, T., Rademacher, N., Parthasarathy, S., Lajko, D., Rosenmund, C., Shoichet, S. A., Winter, Y., Tarabykin, V., and Rosario, M. (2015)
   NOMA-GAP/ARHGAP33 regulates synapse development and autistic-like behavior in the mouse. *Mol Psychiatry* 20, 1120-1131
- 330. Shen, P. C., Xu, D. F., Liu, J. W., Li, K., Lin, M., Wang, H. T., Wang, R., and Zheng, J. (2011) TC10beta/CDC42 GTPase activating protein is required for the growth of cortical neuron dendrites. *Neuroscience* 199, 589-597
- 331. Rosario, M., Schuster, S., Juttner, R., Parthasarathy, S., Tarabykin, V., and Birchmeier, W. (2012) Neocortical dendritic complexity is controlled during development by NOMA-GAP-dependent inhibition of Cdc42 and activation of cofilin. *Genes Dev* **26**, 1743-1757
- 332. Wang, J., Qian, J., Hu, Y., Kong, X., Chen, H., Shi, Q., Jiang, L., Wu, C., Zou, W., Chen, Y., Xu, J., and Fang, J. Y. (2014) ArhGAP30 promotes p53 acetylation and function in colorectal cancer. *Nat Commun* **5**, 4735
- 333. Primeau, M., Ben Djoudi Ouadda, A., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2011) Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP) interacts with the SH3D domain of intersectin through a novel basic-rich motif. *FEBS Lett* **585**, 847-853

- 334. Tcherkezian, J., Danek, E. I., Jenna, S., Triki, I., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2005) Extracellular signalregulated kinase 1 interacts with and phosphorylates CdGAP at an important regulatory site. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**, 6314-6329
- 335. Sagnier, T., Grienenberger, A., Mariol, M., Berenger, H., Pradel, J., and Graba, Y. (2000) Dynamic expression of d-CdGAPr, a novel Drosophila melanogaster gene encoding a GTPase activating protein. *Mech Dev* **94**, 267-270
- 336. Southgate, L., Machado, R. D., Snape, K. M., Primeau, M., Dafou, D., Ruddy, D. M., Branney, P. A., Fisher, M., Lee, G. J., Simpson, M. A., He, Y., Bradshaw, T. Y., Blaumeiser, B., Winship, W. S., Reardon, W., Maher, E. R., FitzPatrick, D. R., Wuyts, W., Zenker, M., Lamarche-Vane, N., and Trembath, R. C. (2011) Gain-of-function mutations of ARHGAP31, a Cdc42/Rac1 GTPase regulator, cause syndromic cutis aplasia and limb anomalies. *Am J Hum Genet* 88, 574-585
- 337. Lamarche-Vane, N., and Hall, A. (1998) CdGAP, a novel proline-rich GTPase-activating protein for Cdc42 and Rac. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 29172-29177
- 338. Tcherkezian, J., Triki, I., Stenne, R., Danek, E. I., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2006) The human orthologue of CdGAP is a phosphoprotein and a GTPase-activating protein for Cdc42 and Rac1 but not RhoA. *Biol Cell* **98**, 445-456
- 339. Caron, C., DeGeer, J., Fournier, P., Duquette, P. M., Luangrath, V., Ishii, H., Karimzadeh, F., Lamarche-Vane, N., and Royal, I. (2016) CdGAP/ARHGAP31, a Cdc42/Rac1 GTPase regulator, is critical for vascular development and VEGF-mediated angiogenesis. *Sci Rep* **6**, 27485
- 340. Southgate, L., Machado, R. D., Snape, K. M., Primeau, M., Dafou, D., Ruddy, D. M., Branney, P. A., Fisher, M., Lee, G. J., Simpson, M. A., He, Y., Bradshaw, T. Y., Blaumeiser, B., Winship, W. S., Reardon, W., Maher, E. R., FitzPatrick, D. R., Wuyts, W., Zenker, M., Lamarche-Vane, N., and Trembath, R. C. (2011) Gain-of-function mutations of ARHGAP31, a Cdc42/Rac1 GTPase regulator, cause syndromic cutis aplasia and limb anomalies. *Am J Hum Genet* **88**, 574-585
- LaLonde, D. P., Grubinger, M., Lamarche-Vane, N., and Turner, C. E. (2006) CdGAP associates with actopaxin to regulate integrin-dependent changes in cell morphology and motility. *Curr Biol* 16, 1375-1385
- 342. Primeau, M., Ben Djoudi Ouadda, A., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2011) Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP) interacts with the SH3D domain of Intersectin through a novel basic-rich motif. *FEBS Lett* **585**, 847-853
- 343. Jenna, S., Hussain, N. K., Danek, E. I., Triki, I., Wasiak, S., McPherson, P. S., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2002) The activity of the GTPase-activating protein CdGAP is regulated by the endocytic protein intersectin. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 6366-6373
- 344. Danek, E. I., Tcherkezian, J., Triki, I., Meriane, M., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2007) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 phosphorylates CdGAP at a consensus ERK 1 regulatory site. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 3624-3631
- 345. Jenna, S., Hussain, N. K., Danek, E. I., Triki, I., Wasiak, S., McPherson, P. S., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2002) The activity of the GTPase-activating protein CdGAP is regulated by the endocytic protein intersectin. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 6366-6373
- 346. Primeau, M., Ben Djoudi Ouadda, A., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2011) Cdc42 GTPase-activating protein (CdGAP) interacts with the SH3D domain of Intersectin through a novel basic-rich motif. *FEBS Lett* **585**, 847-853
- 347. Wilson-Grady, J. T., Haas, W., and Gygi, S. P. (2013) Quantitative comparison of the fasted and re-fed mouse liver phosphoproteomes using lower pH reductive dimethylation. *Methods* **61**, 277-286

- 348. Villen, J., Beausoleil, S. A., Gerber, S. A., and Gygi, S. P. (2007) Large-scale phosphorylation analysis of mouse liver. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 1488-1493
- 349. Chidiac, R., Zhang, Y., Tessier, S., Faubert, D., Delisle, C., and Gratton, J. P. (2016) Comparative Phosphoproteomics Analysis of VEGF and Angiopoietin-1 Signaling Reveals ZO-1 as a Critical Regulator of Endothelial Cell Proliferation. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **15**, 1511-1525
- 350. Mertins, P., Yang, F., Liu, T., Mani, D. R., Petyuk, V. A., Gillette, M. A., Clauser, K. R., Qiao, J. W., Gritsenko, M. A., Moore, R. J., Levine, D. A., Townsend, R., Erdmann-Gilmore, P., Snider, J. E., Davies, S. R., Ruggles, K. V., Fenyo, D., Kitchens, R. T., Li, S., Olvera, N., Dao, F., Rodriguez, H., Chan, D. W., Liebler, D., White, F., Rodland, K. D., Mills, G. B., Smith, R. D., Paulovich, A. G., Ellis, M., and Carr, S. A. (2014) Ischemia in tumors induces early and sustained phosphorylation changes in stress kinase pathways but does not affect global protein levels. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 13, 1690-1704
- 351. Yi, T., Zhai, B., Yu, Y., Kiyotsugu, Y., Raschle, T., Etzkorn, M., Seo, H. C., Nagiec, M., Luna, R. E., Reinherz, E. L., Blenis, J., Gygi, S. P., and Wagner, G. (2014) Quantitative phosphoproteomic analysis reveals system-wide signaling pathways downstream of SDF-1/CXCR4 in breast cancer stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **111**, E2182-2190
- 352. Bian, Y., Song, C., Cheng, K., Dong, M., Wang, F., Huang, J., Sun, D., Wang, L., Ye, M., and Zou, H. (2014) An enzyme assisted RP-RPLC approach for in-depth analysis of human liver phosphoproteome. *J Proteomics* **96**, 253-262
- 353. Schweppe, D. K., Rigas, J. R., and Gerber, S. A. (2013) Quantitative phosphoproteomic profiling of human non-small cell lung cancer tumors. *J Proteomics* **91**, 286-296
- Humphrey, S. J., Yang, G., Yang, P., Fazakerley, D. J., Stockli, J., Yang, J. Y., and James, D. E. (2013)
   Dynamic adipocyte phosphoproteome reveals that Akt directly regulates mTORC2. *Cell Metab* 17, 1009-1020
- 355. LaLonde, D. P., Grubinger, M., Lamarche-Vane, N., and Turner, C. E. (2006) CdGAP associates with actopaxin to regulate integrin-dependent changes in cell morphology and motility. *Curr Biol* **16**, 1375-1385
- 356. Wormer, D., Deakin, N. O., and Turner, C. E. (2012) CdGAP regulates cell migration and adhesion dynamics in two-and three-dimensional matrix environments. *Cytoskeleton (Hoboken)* **69**, 644-658
- 357. Wormer, D. B., Davis, K. A., Henderson, J. H., and Turner, C. E. (2014) The focal adhesionlocalized CdGAP regulates matrix rigidity sensing and durotaxis. *PLoS One* **9**, e91815
- 358. Meester, J. A., Southgate, L., Stittrich, A. B., Venselaar, H., Beekmans, S. J., den Hollander, N., Bijlsma, E. K., Helderman-van den Enden, A., Verheij, J. B., Glusman, G., Roach, J. C., Lehman, A., Patel, M. S., de Vries, B. B., Ruivenkamp, C., Itin, P., Prescott, K., Clarke, S., Trembath, R., Zenker, M., Sukalo, M., Van Laer, L., Loeys, B., and Wuyts, W. (2015) Heterozygous Loss-of-Function Mutations in DLL4 Cause Adams-Oliver Syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet* **97**, 475-482
- Lehman, A., Wuyts, W., and Patel, M. S. (1993) Adams-Oliver Syndrome. in *GeneReviews(R)* (Pagon, R. A., Adam, M. P., Ardinger, H. H., Wallace, S. E., Amemiya, A., Bean, L. J. H., Bird, T. D., Fong, C. T., Mefford, H. C., Smith, R. J. H., and Stephens, K. eds.), Seattle (WA). pp
- 360. Snape, K. M., Ruddy, D., Zenker, M., Wuyts, W., Whiteford, M., Johnson, D., Lam, W., and Trembath, R. C. (2009) The spectra of clinical phenotypes in aplasia cutis congenita and terminal transverse limb defects. *Am J Med Genet A* **149A**, 1860-1881
- 361. van Buul, J. D., Geerts, D., and Huveneers, S. (2014) Rho GAPs and GEFs: controling switches in endothelial cell adhesion. *Cell Adh Migr* **8**, 108-124

- 362. Randi, A. M., Sperone, A., Dryden, N. H., and Birdsey, G. M. (2009) Regulation of angiogenesis by ETS transcription factors. *Biochem Soc Trans* **37**, 1248-1253
- 363. He, Y., Northey, JJ., Pelletier, A., Kos, Z., Meunier, L., Haibe-Kains, B, Mes-Masson, AM, Côté, JF., Siegel, PM., and Lamarche-Vane, N. . (2016) CdGAP functions as a transcriptional co-repressor of E-cadherin expression to promote breast cancer in a GAP-independent manner. *Oncogene*
- 364. Laurin, M., Huber, J., Pelletier, A., Houalla, T., Park, M., Fukui, Y., Haibe-Kains, B., Muller, W. J., and Cote, J. F. (2013) Rac-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor DOCK1 is a critical regulator of HER2-mediated breast cancer metastasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, 7434-7439
- 365. Siegel, P., Shu, W., Cardiff, RD., Muller, MJ, Massague, J. (2003) Transforming growth factor beta signaling impairs Neu-induced mammary tumorigenesis while promoting pulmonary metastasis. *PNAS* **100**, 8430-8435
- 366. Northey, J., Chmielecki, J., Ngan, E., Russo, C., Annis, MG., Muller, WJ., and Siegel, PM. (2008) Signaling through ShcA is required for Transforming Growth Factor B and Neu/Erb2-induced breast cancer cell motility and invasion. *Mol. Cell Biol.* **28**, 3162-3176
- Muraoka, R., Koh, Y., Roebuck, LR., Sanders, ME, et al. (2003) Increased malignancy of Neuinduced mammary tumors overexpressing active transforming growth factor beta1. *Mol Cell Biol* 23, 8691-8703
- 368. Sanchez-Tillo, E., Siles, L., de Barrios, O., Cuatrecasas, M., Vaquero, E. C., Castells, A., and Postigo, A. (2011) Expanding roles of ZEB factors in tumorigenesis and tumor progression. *Am J Cancer Res* **1**, 897-912
- 369. Ichimura, T., Isobe, T., Okuyama, T., Takahashi, N., Araki, K., Kuwano, R., and Takahashi, Y.
   (1988) Molecular cloning of cDNA coding for brain-specific 14-3-3 protein, a protein kinasedependent activator of tyrosine and tryptophan hydroxylases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85, 7084-7088
- 370. Toker, A., Ellis, C. A., Sellers, L. A., and Aitken, A. (1990) Protein kinase C inhibitor proteins. Purification from sheep brain and sequence similarity to lipocortins and 14-3-3 protein. *Eur J Biochem* **191**, 421-429
- 371. Aitken, A. (2011) Post-translational modification of 14-3-3 isoforms and regulation of cellular function. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **22**, 673-680
- 372. Morrison, D. K. (2009) The 14-3-3 proteins: integrators of diverse signaling cues that impact cell fate and cancer development. *Trends Cell Biol* **19**, 16-23
- 373. Rittinger, K., Budman, J., Xu, J., Volinia, S., Cantley, L. C., Smerdon, S. J., Gamblin, S. J., and Yaffe, M. B. (1999) Structural analysis of 14-3-3 phosphopeptide complexes identifies a dual role for the nuclear export signal of 14-3-3 in ligand binding. *Mol Cell* 4, 153-166
- Yaffe, M. B., Rittinger, K., Volinia, S., Caron, P. R., Aitken, A., Leffers, H., Gamblin, S. J., Smerdon, S. J., and Cantley, L. C. (1997) The structural basis for 14-3-3:phosphopeptide binding specificity. *Cell* 91, 961-971
- 375. Chaudhri, M., Scarabel, M., and Aitken, A. (2003) Mammalian and yeast 14-3-3 isoforms form distinct patterns of dimers in vivo. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **300**, 679-685
- Fischer, A., Baljuls, A., Reinders, J., Nekhoroshkova, E., Sibilski, C., Metz, R., Albert, S.,
   Rajalingam, K., Hekman, M., and Rapp, U. R. (2009) Regulation of RAF activity by 14-3-3 proteins:
   RAF kinases associate functionally with both homo- and heterodimeric forms of 14-3-3 proteins.
   J Biol Chem 284, 3183-3194
- 377. Yaffe, M. B. (2002) How do 14-3-3 proteins work?-- Gatekeeper phosphorylation and the molecular anvil hypothesis. *FEBS Lett* **513**, 53-57

- 378. Lalle, M., Camerini, S., Cecchetti, S., Blasetti Fantauzzi, C., Crescenzi, M., and Pozio, E. (2011) Giardia duodenalis 14-3-3 protein is polyglycylated by a tubulin tyrosine ligase-like member and deglycylated by two metallocarboxypeptidases. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 4471-4484
- 379. Choudhary, C., Kumar, C., Gnad, F., Nielsen, M. L., Rehman, M., Walther, T. C., Olsen, J. V., and Mann, M. (2009) Lysine acetylation targets protein complexes and co-regulates major cellular functions. *Science* **325**, 834-840
- 380. Giacometti, S., Camoni, L., Albumi, C., Visconti, S., De Michelis, M. I., and Aducci, P. (2004) Tyrosine phosphorylation inhibits the interaction of 14-3-3 proteins with the plant plasma membrane H+-ATPase. *Plant Biol (Stuttg)* **6**, 422-431
- Barry, E. F., Felquer, F. A., Powell, J. A., Biggs, L., Stomski, F. C., Urbani, A., Ramshaw, H.,
  Hoffmann, P., Wilce, M. C., Grimbaldeston, M. A., Lopez, A. F., and Guthridge, M. A. (2009) 14-33:Shc scaffolds integrate phosphoserine and phosphotyrosine signaling to regulate
  phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation and cell survival. *J Biol Chem* 284, 12080-12090
- 382. Dubois, T., Rommel, C., Howell, S., Steinhussen, U., Soneji, Y., Morrice, N., Moelling, K., and Aitken, A. (1997) 14-3-3 is phosphorylated by casein kinase I on residue 233. Phosphorylation at this site in vivo regulates Raf/14-3-3 interaction. *J Biol Chem* **272**, 28882-28888
- 383. Aitken, A., Howell, S., Jones, D., Madrazo, J., and Patel, Y. (1995) 14-3-3 alpha and delta are the phosphorylated forms of raf-activating 14-3-3 beta and zeta. In vivo stoichiometric phosphorylation in brain at a Ser-Pro-Glu-Lys MOTIF. *J Biol Chem* **270**, 5706-5709
- Kim, Y. S., Choi, M. Y., Kim, Y. H., Jeon, B. T., Lee, D. H., Roh, G. S., Kang, S. S., Kim, H. J., Cho, G. J., and Choi, W. S. (2010) Protein kinase Cdelta is associated with 14-3-3 phosphorylation in seizure-induced neuronal death. *Epilepsy Res* 92, 30-40
- 385. Tsuruta, F., Sunayama, J., Mori, Y., Hattori, S., Shimizu, S., Tsujimoto, Y., Yoshioka, K., Masuyama, N., and Gotoh, Y. (2004) JNK promotes Bax translocation to mitochondria through phosphorylation of 14-3-3 proteins. *EMBO J* **23**, 1889-1899
- 386. Hamaguchi, A., Suzuki, E., Murayama, K., Fujimura, T., Hikita, T., Iwabuchi, K., Handa, K., Withers, D. A., Masters, S. C., Fu, H., and Hakomori, S. (2003) Sphingosine-dependent protein kinase-1, directed to 14-3-3, is identified as the kinase domain of protein kinase C delta. *J Biol Chem* 278, 41557-41565
- 387. Ma, Y., Pitson, S., Hercus, T., Murphy, J., Lopez, A., and Woodcock, J. (2005) Sphingosine activates protein kinase A type II by a novel cAMP-independent mechanism. *J Biol Chem* 280, 26011-26017
- 388. Powell, D. W., Rane, M. J., Chen, Q., Singh, S., and McLeish, K. R. (2002) Identification of 14-3-3zeta as a protein kinase B/Akt substrate. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 21639-21642
- 389. Kanno, T., and Nishizaki, T. (2011) Sphingosine induces apoptosis in hippocampal neurons and astrocytes by activating caspase-3/-9 via a mitochondrial pathway linked to SDK/14-3-3 protein/Bax/cytochrome c. *J Cell Physiol* **226**, 2329-2337
- 390. Jones, D. H., Martin, H., Madrazo, J., Robinson, K. A., Nielsen, P., Roseboom, P. H., Patel, Y., Howell, S. A., and Aitken, A. (1995) Expression and structural analysis of 14-3-3 proteins. J Mol Biol 245, 375-384
- 391. Woodcock, J. M., Ma, Y., Coolen, C., Pham, D., Jones, C., Lopez, A. F., and Pitson, S. M. (2010) Sphingosine and FTY720 directly bind pro-survival 14-3-3 proteins to regulate their function. *Cell Signal* 22, 1291-1299
- Yang, X., Lee, W. H., Sobott, F., Papagrigoriou, E., Robinson, C. V., Grossmann, J. G., Sundstrom, M., Doyle, D. A., and Elkins, J. M. (2006) Structural basis for protein-protein interactions in the 14-3-3 protein family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 17237-17242

- 393. Ganguly, S., Weller, J. L., Ho, A., Chemineau, P., Malpaux, B., and Klein, D. C. (2005) Melatonin synthesis: 14-3-3-dependent activation and inhibition of arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase mediated by phosphoserine-205. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 1222-1227
- 394. Johnson, C., Crowther, S., Stafford, M. J., Campbell, D. G., Toth, R., and MacKintosh, C. (2010) Bioinformatic and experimental survey of 14-3-3-binding sites. *Biochem J* **427**, 69-78
- 395. Miller, M. L., Jensen, L. J., Diella, F., Jorgensen, C., Tinti, M., Li, L., Hsiung, M., Parker, S. A., Bordeaux, J., Sicheritz-Ponten, T., Olhovsky, M., Pasculescu, A., Alexander, J., Knapp, S., Blom, N., Bork, P., Li, S., Cesareni, G., Pawson, T., Turk, B. E., Yaffe, M. B., Brunak, S., and Linding, R. (2008) Linear motif atlas for phosphorylation-dependent signaling. *Sci Signal* 1, ra2
- Ottmann, C., Yasmin, L., Weyand, M., Veesenmeyer, J. L., Diaz, M. H., Palmer, R. H., Francis, M. S., Hauser, A. R., Wittinghofer, A., and Hallberg, B. (2007) Phosphorylation-independent interaction between 14-3-3 and exoenzyme S: from structure to pathogenesis. *EMBO J* 26, 902-913
- 397. Wang, B., Yang, H., Liu, Y. C., Jelinek, T., Zhang, L., Ruoslahti, E., and Fu, H. (1999) Isolation of high-affinity peptide antagonists of 14-3-3 proteins by phage display. *Biochemistry* **38**, 12499-12504
- 398. Wu, Y. J., Jan, Y. J., Ko, B. S., Liang, S. M., and Liou, J. Y. (2015) Involvement of 14-3-3 Proteins in Regulating Tumor Progression of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel)* **7**, 1022-1036
- 399. Ko, B. S., Lai, I. R., Chang, T. C., Liu, T. A., Chen, S. C., Wang, J., Jan, Y. J., and Liou, J. Y. (2011) Involvement of 14-3-3gamma overexpression in extrahepatic metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hum Pathol* **42**, 129-135
- 400. Liu, T. A., Jan, Y. J., Ko, B. S., Chen, S. C., Liang, S. M., Hung, Y. L., Hsu, C., Shen, T. L., Lee, Y. M., Chen, P. F., Wang, J., Shyue, S. K., and Liou, J. Y. (2011) Increased expression of 14-3-3beta promotes tumor progression and predicts extrahepatic metastasis and worse survival in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Am J Pathol* **179**, 2698-2708
- 401. Zhang, W., Shen, Q., Chen, M., Wang, Y., Zhou, Q., Tao, X., and Zhu, X. (2015) The role of 14-3-3 proteins in gynecological tumors. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)* **20**, 934-945
- 402. Freeman, A. K., and Morrison, D. K. (2011) 14-3-3 Proteins: diverse functions in cell proliferation and cancer progression. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **22**, 681-687
- 403. Tzivion, G., Gupta, V. S., Kaplun, L., and Balan, V. (2006) 14-3-3 proteins as potential oncogenes. Semin Cancer Biol **16**, 203-213
- 404. Li, Z., Liu, J. Y., and Zhang, J. T. (2009) 14-3-3sigma, the double-edged sword of human cancers. *Am J Transl Res* **1**, 326-340
- 405. Syrjanen, S., Naud, P., Sarian, L., Derchain, S., Roteli-Martins, C., Longatto-Filho, A., Tatti, S., Branca, M., Erzen, M., Hammes, L. S., Costa, S., and Syrjanen, K. (2010) Up-regulation of 14-3-3sigma (Stratifin) is associated with high-grade CIN and high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV) at baseline but does not predict outcomes of HR-HPV infections or incident CIN in the LAMS study. *Am J Clin Pathol* **133**, 232-240
- 406. Nakayama, H., Sano, T., Motegi, A., Oyama, T., and Nakajima, T. (2005) Increasing 14-3-3 sigma expression with declining estrogen receptor alpha and estrogen-responsive finger protein expression defines malignant progression of endometrial carcinoma. *Pathol Int* **55**, 707-715
- 407. Sun, N., Wu, Y., Huang, B., Liu, Q., Dong, Y., Ding, J., and Liu, Y. (2015) Decreased expression of 14-3-3 sigma, an early event of malignant transformation of respiratory epithelium, also facilitates progression of squamous cell lung cancer. *Thorac Cancer* **6**, 715-721

- 408. Gheibi, A., Kazemi, M., Baradaran, A., Akbari, M., and Salehi, M. (2012) Study of promoter methylation pattern of 14-3-3 sigma gene in normal and cancerous tissue of breast: A potential biomarker for detection of breast cancer in patients. *Adv Biomed Res* **1**, 80
- 409. Umbricht, C. B., Evron, E., Gabrielson, E., Ferguson, A., Marks, J., and Sukumar, S. (2001) Hypermethylation of 14-3-3 sigma (stratifin) is an early event in breast cancer. *Oncogene* **20**, 3348-3353
- 410. Heasman, S. J., and Ridley, A. J. (2008) Mammalian Rho GTPases: new insights into their functions from in vivo studies. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **9**, 690-701
- 411. Pechstein, A., Shupliakov, O., and Haucke, V. (2010) Intersectin 1: a versatile actor in the synaptic vesicle cycle. *Biochem Soc Trans* **38**, 181-186
- 412. Hussain, N. K., Jenna, S., Glogauer, M., Quinn, C. C., Wasiak, S., Guipponi, M., Antonarakis, S. E., Kay, B. K., Stossel, T. P., Lamarche-Vane, N., and McPherson, P. S. (2001) Endocytic protein intersectin-I regulates actin assembly via Cdc42 and N-WASP. *Nat Cell Biol* **3**, 927-932
- 413. Yamabhai, M., Hoffman, N. G., Hardison, N. L., McPherson, P. S., Castagnoli, L., Cesareni, G., and Kay, B. K. (1998) Intersectin, a novel adaptor protein with two Eps15 homology and five Src homology 3 domains. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 31401-31407
- 414. Roos, J., and Kelly, R. B. (1998) Dap160, a neural-specific Eps15 homology and multiple SH3 domain-containing protein that interacts with Drosophila dynamin. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 19108-19119
- Simpson, F., Hussain, N. K., Qualmann, B., Kelly, R. B., Kay, B. K., McPherson, P. S., and Schmid, S. L. (1999) SH3-domain-containing proteins function at distinct steps in clathrin-coated vesicle formation. *Nat Cell Biol* 1, 119-124
- 416. Nishimura, T., Yamaguchi, T., Tokunaga, A., Hara, A., Hamaguchi, T., Kato, K., Iwamatsu, A., Okano, H., and Kaibuchi, K. (2006) Role of numb in dendritic spine development with a Cdc42 GEF intersectin and EphB2. *Mol Biol Cell* **17**, 1273-1285
- 417. Tong, X. K., Hussain, N. K., Adams, A. G., O'Bryan, J. P., and McPherson, P. S. (2000) Intersectin can regulate the Ras/MAP kinase pathway independent of its role in endocytosis. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 29894-29899
- 418. Mayer, B. J. (2001) SH3 domains: complexity in moderation. J Cell Sci 114, 1253-1263
- 419. Kaneko, T., Li, L., and Li, S. S. (2008) The SH3 domain--a family of versatile peptide- and proteinrecognition module. *Front Biosci* **13**, 4938-4952
- Kowanetz, K., Husnjak, K., Holler, D., Kowanetz, M., Soubeyran, P., Hirsch, D., Schmidt, M. H., Pavelic, K., De Camilli, P., Randazzo, P. A., and Dikic, I. (2004) CIN85 associates with multiple effectors controlling intracellular trafficking of epidermal growth factor receptors. *Mol Biol Cell* 15, 3155-3166
- 421. Mongiovi, A. M., Romano, P. R., Panni, S., Mendoza, M., Wong, W. T., Musacchio, A., Cesareni, G., and Di Fiore, P. P. (1999) A novel peptide-SH3 interaction. *Embo J* **18**, 5300-5309
- 422. Kang, H., Freund, C., Duke-Cohan, J. S., Musacchio, A., Wagner, G., and Rudd, C. E. (2000) SH3 domain recognition of a proline-independent tyrosine-based RKxxYxxY motif in immune cell adaptor SKAP55. *Embo J* **19**, 2889-2899
- 423. Liu, Q., Berry, D., Nash, P., Pawson, T., McGlade, C. J., and Li, S. S. (2003) Structural basis for specific binding of the Gads SH3 domain to an RxxK motif-containing SLP-76 peptide: a novel mode of peptide recognition. *Mol Cell* **11**, 471-481
- 424. Graham, F. L., and van der Eb, A. J. (1973) A new technique for the assay of infectivity of human adenovirus 5 DNA. *Virology* **52**, 456-467

- 425. Zamanian, J. L., and Kelly, R. B. (2003) Intersectin 1L guanine nucleotide exchange activity is regulated by adjacent src homology 3 domains that are also involved in endocytosis. *Mol Biol Cell* **14**, 1624-1637
- 426. Duquette, P. M., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2014) Rho GTPases in embryonic development. *Small GTPases* **5**, 8
- 427. Van Aelst, L., and D'Souza-Schorey, C. (1997) Rho GTPases and signaling networks. *Genes Dev* 11, 2295-2322
- 428. Hall, A. (1998) Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton. *Science* 279, 509-514
- 429. Kosugi, S., Hasebe, M., Tomita, M., and Yanagawa, H. (2009) Systematic identification of cell cycle-dependent yeast nucleocytoplasmic shuttling proteins by prediction of composite motifs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 10171-10176
- 430. Isrie, M., Wuyts, W., Van Esch, H., and Devriendt, K. (2014) Isolated terminal limb reduction defects: extending the clinical spectrum of Adams-Oliver syndrome and ARHGAP31 mutations. *Am J Med Genet A* **164A**, 1576-1579
- 431. Arencibia, J. M., Pastor-Flores, D., Bauer, A. F., Schulze, J. O., and Biondi, R. M. (2013) AGC protein kinases: from structural mechanism of regulation to allosteric drug development for the treatment of human diseases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1834**, 1302-1321
- 432. Moritz, A., Li, Y., Guo, A., Villen, J., Wang, Y., MacNeill, J., Kornhauser, J., Sprott, K., Zhou, J., Possemato, A., Ren, J. M., Hornbeck, P., Cantley, L. C., Gygi, S. P., Rush, J., and Comb, M. J. (2010) Akt-RSK-S6 kinase signaling networks activated by oncogenic receptor tyrosine kinases. *Sci Signal* **3**, ra64
- 433. Roux, P. P., Richards, S. A., and Blenis, J. (2003) Phosphorylation of p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK) regulates extracellular signal-regulated kinase docking and RSK activity. *Mol Cell Biol* **23**, 4796-4804
- 434. Sapkota, G. P., Cummings, L., Newell, F. S., Armstrong, C., Bain, J., Frodin, M., Grauert, M., Hoffmann, M., Schnapp, G., Steegmaier, M., Cohen, P., and Alessi, D. R. (2007) BI-D1870 is a specific inhibitor of the p90 RSK (ribosomal S6 kinase) isoforms in vitro and in vivo. *Biochem J* 401, 29-38
- 435. Galan, J. A., Geraghty, K. M., Lavoie, G., Kanshin, E., Tcherkezian, J., Calabrese, V., Jeschke, G. R., Turk, B. E., Ballif, B. A., Blenis, J., Thibault, P., and Roux, P. P. (2014) Phosphoproteomic analysis identifies the tumor suppressor PDCD4 as a RSK substrate negatively regulated by 14-3-3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **111**, E2918-2927
- 436. Anjum, R., and Blenis, J. (2008) The RSK family of kinases: emerging roles in cellular signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **9**, 747-758
- 437. Aghazadeh, Y., and Papadopoulos, V. (2016) The role of the 14-3-3 protein family in health, disease, and drug development. *Drug Discov Today* **21**, 278-287
- 438. Fu, H., Subramanian, R. R., and Masters, S. C. (2000) 14-3-3 proteins: structure, function, and regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**, 617-647
- 439. Madeira, F., Tinti, M., Murugesan, G., Berrett, E., Stafford, M., Toth, R., Cole, C., MacKintosh, C., and Barton, G. J. (2015) 14-3-3-Pred: improved methods to predict 14-3-3-binding phosphopeptides. *Bioinformatics* **31**, 2276-2283
- 440. Scholz, R. P., Regner, J., Theil, A., Erlmann, P., Holeiter, G., Jahne, R., Schmid, S., Hausser, A., and Olayioye, M. A. (2009) DLC1 interacts with 14-3-3 proteins to inhibit RhoGAP activity and block nucleocytoplasmic shuttling. *J Cell Sci* **122**, 92-102
- 441. Jin, J., Smith, F. D., Stark, C., Wells, C. D., Fawcett, J. P., Kulkarni, S., Metalnikov, P., O'Donnell, P., Taylor, P., Taylor, L., Zougman, A., Woodgett, J. R., Langeberg, L. K., Scott, J. D., and Pawson, T.

(2004) Proteomic, functional, and domain-based analysis of in vivo 14-3-3 binding proteins involved in cytoskeletal regulation and cellular organization. *Curr Biol* **14**, 1436-1450

- Hu, S. H., Whitten, A. E., King, G. J., Jones, A., Rowland, A. F., James, D. E., and Martin, J. L.
  (2012) The weak complex between RhoGAP protein ARHGAP22 and signal regulatory protein 14-3-3 has 1:2 stoichiometry and a single peptide binding mode. *PLoS One* 7, e41731
- 443. Wang, D., Qian, X., Rajaram, M., Durkin, M. E., and Lowy, D. R. (2016) DLC1 is the principal biologically-relevant down-regulated DLC family member in several cancers. *Oncotarget*
- 444. Richards, S. A., Dreisbach, V. C., Murphy, L. O., and Blenis, J. (2001) Characterization of regulatory events associated with membrane targeting of p90 ribosomal S6 kinase 1. *Mol Cell Biol* **21**, 7470-7480
- Saha, M., Carriere, A., Cheerathodi, M., Zhang, X., Lavoie, G., Rush, J., Roux, P. P., and Ballif, B. A.
  (2012) RSK phosphorylates SOS1 creating 14-3-3-docking sites and negatively regulating MAPK activation. *Biochem J* 447, 159-166
- 446. Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., and Eliceiri, K. W. (2012) NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat Methods* **9**, 671-675
- 447. Li, X., Saint-Cyr-Proulx, E., Aktories, K., and Lamarche-Vane, N. (2002) Rac1 and Cdc42 but not RhoA or Rho kinase activities are required for neurite outgrowth induced by the Netrin-1 receptor DCC (deleted in colorectal cancer) in N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 15207-15214
- 448. Humphries, A. C., Donnelly, S. K., and Way, M. (2014) Cdc42 and the Rho GEF intersectin-1 collaborate with Nck to promote N-WASP-dependent actin polymerisation. *J Cell Sci* **127**, 673-685
- 449. Predescu, S., Bardita, C., and Predescu, D. (2015) New insights into the functions of intersectin-1s. *Commun Integr Biol* **8**, e1034400
- 450. Friesland, A., Zhao, Y., Chen, Y. H., Wang, L., Zhou, H., and Lu, Q. (2013) Small molecule targeting Cdc42-intersectin interaction disrupts Golgi organization and suppresses cell motility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, 1261-1266
- 451. Gardino, A. K., Smerdon, S. J., and Yaffe, M. B. (2006) Structural determinants of 14-3-3 binding specificities and regulation of subcellular localization of 14-3-3-ligand complexes: a comparison of the X-ray crystal structures of all human 14-3-3 isoforms. *Semin Cancer Biol* **16**, 173-182
- 452. Kosugi, S., Hasebe, M., Matsumura, N., Takashima, H., Miyamoto-Sato, E., Tomita, M., and Yanagawa, H. (2009) Six classes of nuclear localization signals specific to different binding grooves of importin alpha. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 478-485
- 453. Ramakrishnan, G., Davaakhuu, G., Chung, W. C., Zhu, H., Rana, A., Filipovic, A., Green, A. R., Atfi, A., Pannuti, A., Miele, L., and Tzivion, G. (2015) AKT and 14-3-3 regulate Notch4 nuclear localization. *Sci Rep* **5**, 8782
- 454. Yang, H., Zhang, Y., Zhao, R., Wen, Y. Y., Fournier, K., Wu, H. B., Yang, H. Y., Diaz, J., Laronga, C., and Lee, M. H. (2006) Negative cell cycle regulator 14-3-3sigma stabilizes p27 Kip1 by inhibiting the activity of PKB/Akt. *Oncogene* **25**, 4585-4594
- 455. Subramanian, R. R., Masters, S. C., Zhang, H., and Fu, H. (2001) Functional conservation of 14-3-3 isoforms in inhibiting bad-induced apoptosis. *Exp Cell Res* **271**, 142-151
- 456. Laronga, C., Yang, H. Y., Neal, C., and Lee, M. H. (2000) Association of the cyclin-dependent kinases and 14-3-3 sigma negatively regulates cell cycle progression. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 23106-23112
- 457. Zurita, M., Lara, P. C., del Moral, R., Torres, B., Linares-Fernandez, J. L., Arrabal, S. R., Martinez-Galan, J., Oliver, F. J., and Ruiz de Almodovar, J. M. (2010) Hypermethylated 14-3-3-sigma and

ESR1 gene promoters in serum as candidate biomarkers for the diagnosis and treatment efficacy of breast cancer metastasis. *BMC Cancer* **10**, 217

458. Urano, T., Saito, T., Tsukui, T., Fujita, M., Hosoi, T., Muramatsu, M., Ouchi, Y., and Inoue, S. (2002) Efp targets 14-3-3 sigma for proteolysis and promotes breast tumour growth. *Nature* 417, 871-875